Public Document Pack
BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear Member
A meeting of the STANDARDS COMMITTEE will be held in THE CHAIRMAN’S
ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON ON THURSDAY,
7TH MAY, 2015 AT 10.30 AM when your attendance is requested.

Yours sincerely

John Cook

Chief Executive

Fire Evacuation Advice
In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,
and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1

CORRESPONDENCE (Pages 1 - 2)
To receive and consider the attached schedule of correspondence and to make
any recommendations thereon. (Below).

1. To note that a letter has been sent to Mr Bracey confirming his
reappointment to the Standards Committee.
2. Letter from Welsh Government regarding dispensations issued to
Authority members by the Standards Committee on 9 March 2015.
2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Standards Committee - 7 May 2015

1

To receive any declarations of interest from members regarding items to be
considered on the agenda.
3

MINUTES (Pages 3 - 6)
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 9th March 2015 and to
authorise the Chairman to sign them as a true record.

4

PUBLIC SPEAKING
To give opportunity for members of the public to address the Committee in
accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

5

CONSULTATION ON EXTENSION OF POWERS OF THE
OMBUDSMAN (Pages 7 - 28)

6

CONSULTATION ON REDRAFTING OF PRINCIPLES OF GOOD
ADMINISTRATION (Pages 29 - 80)

7

LOCAL GOVERNMENT BYELAWS (WALES) ACT 2012 (Pages 81 108)

8

PSOW REVISED GUIDANCE ON MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT
(Pages 109 - 156)

9

QUICK GUIDE TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT (Pages 157 - 162)
To consider updating the text of the existing Quick Guide to the Code of
Conduct.

10

REVIEW OF REGULATORY DOCUMENTS (Pages 163 - 222)
To consider changes to the following regulatory documents and make any
recommendations to the Authority:






Standing Orders
Planning Protocol
Member Officer Protocol
Members Dispensation Policy

Standards Committee - 7 May 2015

2

11

STANDARDS CONFERENCE CARDIFF 2015 (Pages 223 - 224)
To make a recommendation to the National Park Authority on members
attending the annual Standards Conference (draft programme attached).

12

CONSIDERATION OF PSOW ANNUAL REPORT 2013-14 (Pages 225
- 296)

13

CAP ON MEMBERS INDEMNITY INSURANCE
To consider recommending that the Authority puts a cap on the amount of
indemnity insurance for members.

14

OTHER BUSINESS
To consider any other item of business which is, in the opinion of the
Chairman, of such urgency as to warrant consideration.

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1.

To receive apologies for absence

2.

To receive the following correspondence:

a) To note that a letter of appointment has been sent to Mr A
Bracey
b) Letter from Welsh Government in respect of dispensations
granted to National Park Authority members on 9 March 2015.

Standards Committee - 7 May 2015

3

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad
Hawkes on 01874 624437

Standards Committee - 7 May 2015

4

Agenda Item 1

Page 1

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY STANDARDS
COMMITTEE HELD AT PLAS Y FFYNNON, CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON ON
MONDAY, 9TH MARCH, 2015

PRESENT:
Independent Members
Mr A Bracey (Chairman), Mr I Raynes (Vice-Chair), Dr R Morgan,
Monmouthshire
Cllr A Webb
Rhondda Cynon Taff
Cllr J Ward
Apologies
Mrs M Underwood
In Attendance
Mr J Parsons (Monitoring Officer)
Mrs J Gruffydd (Democratic Services Manager)
115

Correspondence
There was no correspondence to report.

215

Declarations of Interest
No declarations of interest were made.

315

Minutes of last meeting
Members received the minutes of the meeting held on 3 June 2014.
A member asked the Monitoring Officer about future training, and he advised that he
would be delivering training on a day when Authority members were in the building. The
format varied according to the subject matter, but he anticipated scheduling this for the
Spring.
He also referred to a social media policy which would be forwarded to members of the
committee.
Brecon Beacons National Park
Standards Committee

1

Page 3

9 March 2015

A member asked about the quorum for the Standards Committee and referred to the
Authority’s Standing Orders which referred to the need to have at least one local
authority and one Welsh Government appointed member present in a quorum situation.
The Monitoring Officer advised that the Standards Committee Regulations
(Wales)(Amendment) 2006 provided the statutory guidance on a quorum for Standards
Committees and that this outweighed the Authority’s Standing Orders. It was noted that
a reference to this in the Standing Orders might avoid any confusion.
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Standards
Committee held on 3 June 2014 be approved and the
Chairman authorised to sign them as a correct record.
415

Dispensation to speak on 14/11208/FUL and 14/11209/LBC
A member sought clarification on whether a member could remain in the meeting to give
their views despite having a personal and prejudicial interest, as this was her
understanding of the Code of Conduct and the quick guide produced by the Authority in
2008. Officers advised that this was not the case and that the quick guide needed to be
updated to reflect this. A member declaring a personal and prejudicial interest was
required to leave the room and take no part in the discussion or the vote. The
Ombudsman’s recommendation to local authorities to adopt a dispensation policy had
resulted in this Authority’s Dispensation Policy which was being used effectively in this
and previous instances. If a member wished to exercise their right as a member of the
public to make their views heard they were able to apply under the Authority’s Public
Speaking Scheme.
Members considered three applications for dispensation to speak on a planning matter at
the Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee to be held on 10 March 2015. The
Monitoring Officer was pleased to see the dispensation policy being used effectively to
encourage members to seek the opportunity to be involved in the decision making
process. It was noted that all the Powys members had been advised that they could also
have applied to speak under the Public Speaking Scheme as members of the public which
could provide a further opportunity even if they had declared a personal and prejudicial
interest. No member had taken advantage of this option.
Cllr Paul Ashton
Members welcomed the expertise that Cllr Ashton could bring to the application as the
local member who had been involved in the Cultural Hub discussions from the outset.
The Chairman expressed some concern that his role might be perceived as a conflict of
interest and that given his prejudicial interest he should speak under the Public Speaking
Scheme.
RESOLVED:
That Cllr Paul Ashton be granted
dispensation to participate in the discussion and vote on
planning and listed building applications 14/11208/FUL and
14/11209/LBC (Brecon Cultural Hub) for a period of 12
months from the date of this meeting.
Brecon Beacons National Park
Standards Committee

2

Page 4

9 March 2015

Cllr David Meredith
Members noted that Cllr Meredith wished to present the views of his constituents,
although members were reminded that the role of the Authority member was to
represent the Park rather than individual wards.
RESOLVED: That Cllr David Meredith be granted
dispensation to participate in the discussion and vote on
planning and listed building applications 14/11208/FUL and
14/11209/LBC (Brecon Cultural Hub) for a period of 12
months from the date of this meeting.
Cllr Evan Morgan
Members noted that Cllr Morgan had not been directly involved in the Cultural Hub issue.
RESOLVED:
That Cllr Evan Morgan be granted
dispensation to participate in the discussion and vote on
planning and listed building applications 14/11208/FUL and
14/11209/LBC (Brecon Cultural Hub) for a period of 12
months from the date of this meeting.
The Monitoring Officer advised that the nature of Cllr Ashton’s and Cllr Meredith’s
applications required notice to be given to the National Assembly for Wales.
515

Date of Next Meeting
A date would be found for the next meeting of the Committee.

615

Other Business
a)

Standards Conference 2015

The Monitoring Officer advised that Cardiff would be hosting the Standards Conference
this year and that he would forward more details when he received them. He
recommended the event as a useful learning opportunity for members of Standards
Committees.
b)

Training

The Monitoring Officer would deliver some training to Authority members to highlight
the opportunities for making their views known when they had a prejudicial interest. He
would include the independent members of Standards in this training and use this as an
opportunity to go through various Authority protocols to increase member
understanding.
A member felt that it had not been helpful to know that none of the Powys members had
applied to speak under the Public Speaking Scheme. The Chairman stated that it was
important for all members to understand how the scheme could be applied.
Brecon Beacons National Park
Standards Committee

3

Page 5

9 March 2015

The Chairman thanked all members for attending at short notice to consider the
applications for dispensation.

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the Standards Committee

Brecon Beacons National Park
Standards Committee

4

Page 6

9 March 2015

Agenda Item 5
Report to Standards Committee – 7 May 2015

Consultation on Extension of Powers of Ombudsman
A rather unusual form of consultation was undertaken at short notice by the Assembly
Finance Committee. The initial correspondence and the response from the PSOW are
attached.
I submitted a response which is set out below. I have not heard any more except for an
acknowledgement from the Finance Committee.
Please see the following joint response of the Brecon Beacons and Pembrokeshire Coast
National Park Authorities to the consultation on an inquiry into the consideration of
powers of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales.
Consultation Questions
1. What are your views on the effectiveness of the current Public Services
Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005?
Reply
1.1
In general terms, the Act works well, but I do have concerns that the increase in the
extent and workload of the Ombudsman has not been met with a commensurate increase
in funding and that in order to ensure that the very high quality work that is currently
undertaken in such a broad jurisdiction can be maintained in the future
Own initiative investigations
2.
Currently, the Ombudsman may only investigate a matter that is the
subject of a complaint made to him/her. What are your views on „own
initiative‟ investigations powers, which would enable the Ombudsman to
initiate his/her own investigations without having first received a complaint
about an issue. Please explain your answer.
2.1
As was set out in the Ombudsman’s evidence to the Finance Committee there is a
case made out for this. I considered it to be appropriate, as it is clearly accepted practice in
many countries in Europe and beyond and so I support the view of the Ombudsman being
able to extend the area of his investigations into associated or related bodies, as these
emerge during the course of an investigation. There will need to be serious thought given to
the drafting of appropriate safeguards and caution will need to be exercised to avoid the
potential for duplication of work by other statutory bodies such as the Wales Audit Office.

Page 7

3.
Do you have any concerns that own-initiative investigation powers could
result in the Ombudsman’s responsibilities overlapping with the responsibilities
of other bodies? How could this be managed?

Reply
3.1

Yes, please see below. There needs to be clear safeguards to avoid duplication.

4.
Do you have a view on the likely financial costs and benefits of the
Ombudsman having own-initiative powers?

Reply
4.1
In dealing firstly with the proposed financial costs I do not consider these to be
excessive when bearing in mind the nature of the investigations that are likely to be
undertaken. As I have already referred to in the reply above, there will need to be clear
safeguards and caution exercised with regard to potential duplication. I believe these can be
overcome with clear protocols and guidance given both to the Ombudsman and other
relevant public bodies. This should be a matter of concise, drafting and clear boundaries
being established and agreed. This should not be insurmountable.
Oral Complaints
5.
At present, the Ombudsman can only accept complaints in writing. What
are your views on the Ombudsman being able to accept complaints made
orally? Please explain your answer.
Reply
5.1
There is a difference between complaints from those who are unable to read and
write in either English or Welsh, where the Ombudsman should be able to accept
complaints orally, in contrast to those who can but simply do not choose to put their
complaint to the Ombudsman in writing. It should not be too difficult to establish a
procedure whereby any oral complaint , which is made by a person who may have literacy
challenges ,is properly and accurately set out.
5.2
A simple template could be used and complaints could
electronic form quite easily.

also be received in

5.3
I believe it is important that the body that is the subject of the complaint should
know exactly what the complaint is about so it can deal with it in an appropriate fashion as

Page 8

promptly as possible. The danger with all complaints being made orally, is that there can be
confusion at the outset as to what exactly the complaint is about.
Provided that the oral complaints and the electronic recording of the complaints received
can be managed effectively, I do not see any reason why the current system should not be
adapted to the receipt of oral and other forms of electronic media l complaints. What is the
important issue, is that the complaint is clear so all parties concerned know what it is.
6.
What other type/form of submission should be acceptable (e.g. email,
website form, text messages)
Reply
6.1

Email, text messages and website form should all be acceptable.

7.

Do you have a view on the financial costs and benefits of this provision?

Reply
7.1

As it is envisaged that there will be no cost implications. I have no comment.

Complaints handling across public services
8.
At present there is no consistency in the way public bodies deal with
complaints. Adoption of the model complaints policy issued by the Welsh
government is voluntary. What are your views on the Ombudsman preparing a
model complaints policy which public bodies would be obliged to adopt. Please
explain your answer.
Reply
8.1
As is clear from the evidence from the Ombudsman, considerable progress has been
made with regard to establishing a consistent standard for public service providers across
Wales with regard to complaints. I agree with his analysis that the problem lies with the
enforcement and that is why the Scottish Ombudsman’s arrangement which is tried and
tested, should be adopted in Wales.
9.

Do you have a view on the financial costs and benefits of this provision?

Reply
9.1
The financial costs seem relatively modest to ensure that all the citizens across
Wales receive the same sort of treatment when making complaints and public bodies. There
is clearly both an educational role and the regulatory role which has been recognised the
fact that into the costs. This is to be supported.
Ombudsman’s jurisdiction

Page 9

10. What are your general views on the Ombudsman’s current jurisdiction?
Reply
10.1 Clearly, after 10 years, it is appropriate for a review to taken place and some current
anomalies and “wrinkles” ironed out. In the current jurisdiction, it has become apparent that
there are one or two gaps which need to be plugged. But in the widest analysis the current
jurisdiction appears to be covering most the relevant areas, that can be covered within the
limited budget available. Health and housing are key components , when looked at from a
Welsh demographic.
11.
At present the Ombudsman can investigate private health care that has
been commissioned by the NHS. The Ombudsman would like the jurisdiction to
be extended to enable him/her to investigate when a patient has received
private healthcare (self-funded not commissioned by the NHS) in conjunction
with public healthcare. This would enable the complaints process to follow the
citizen rather than the sector. What are your views on extending the
Ombudsman’s jurisdiction in this way?
Reply
11.1 This is beyond the remit of the National Park Authorities at present, so any
comment is passed in relation to the general concept of “Well-being “ which is in its widest
sense, part of the remit for the inhabitants, and users of the National Parks. This extension
is to be welcomed and should be supported for the reasons given by the Ombudsman in his
evidence to the Committee.
12. How do you think the investigation of private health care complaints should be funded?
(Possibilities include a levy, charging on a case by case basis or no charge.)
Reply
12.1 I do not think it should be the subject of a levy or a charge upon any individual who
makes a complaint. If it transpires that the complaint is well founded then consideration may
be given to how the costs of the enquiry can be recovered from the private healthcare
company or provider concerned. This is a principle that is often adopted in the case of the
enforcement of environmental breaches by regulatory authorities against organisations and
individuals whose conduct has led to a significant investigation having to be undertaken by a
public body, when it is established that they have been at fault. Much more thought will need
to be given as to the detail of this however, the principle should be supported.
13.

Do you have a view on the financial costs and benefits of this provision?

Reply
13.1 The financial provisions for this somewhat sparse and again will require much greater
thought has been provided at the moment.

Page 10

Links with the courts
14.
What are your views on the removal of the statutory bar to allow the
Ombudsman to consider a case which has or had the possibility of recourse to a
court, tribunal or other mechanism for review? (i.e this would give complainants
the opportunity to decide which route is most appropriate for them.)
Reply
14.1 Notwithstanding the views of the Law Commission, I believe there are significant
legal hurdles would have to be overcome for this to be effective.
14.2
I believe is a significant issue with regard to the Welsh Government’s own
competence in this area, which only need to be resolved before the matter can be taken any
further.
14.3
If it is decided to take this matter further, then again further consideration will need
to be given to this proposal, as there are quite clearly different procedures which are used
in courts from those used by the Ombudsman, specifically in relation to evidence, the right
to cross-examine witnesses and disclosure of relevant documents to all parties. This does
not appear to have been as well thought out on a practical level as other aspects of this
consultation.
14.4 As presently drafted the proposal does not seem to show any real evidence to
support it, other than a reliance on the Law Commission’s view. The adoption of such a
proposal would also need detailed rules, protocols and in all probability a Practice Direction
to be adopted by the Civil Procedure Rules Committee of the Ministry of Justice before any
implementation. There is no evidence that any consideration has been given to this. There is
also little evidence to support the view that there is an actual prejudice that has become
clear and obvious to parties, as things stand now.
14.5 There is no evidence the Courts would accept the premise that a shadow body will
be dealing with the same case, under different procedures.
15.
What are your views on the Ombudsman being able to refer cases to the
Courts for a determination on a point of law?
Reply
15.1 This may be useful in a limited number of cases and could be relatively easily
introduced. I believe. The number of cases is likely to be small and would not require a
major jurisdictional change , unlike the broader earlier proposal.
16.

Do you have a view on the financial costs and benefits of this provision?

Reply

Page 11

16.1 From drawing on my experience as a practising lawyer for 40 years, and sitting as a
part-time judge deals with legal costs cases ( amongst others), in my opinion this is likely to
be a significant underestimate and reflects probably the costs that would be incurred in
perhaps just one case per year. The scheme should be very carefully costed out, based upon
analysis from the Supreme Court, Costs Office as to the average running cost of cases
heard in the Administrative Court. No such evidence has been provided.
16.2 With regard to this particular proposal. I consider that much greater care, thought
and evidence is required before it is adopted.
Other issues
17.
Do you have any specific examples where the Ombudsman having the
additional powers proposed could have been useful in securing a successful
conclusion to an issue?
Reply
17.1

Not personally

18.
Schedule 3 of the current 2005 Act, provides a list of authorities that are
within the Ombudsman’s jurisdiction to investigate complaints. Please provide
details of any other bodies/organisations that should be included in this list?
Reply
18.1

None come readily to mind, who are not already on it.

19.
If extended powers were given to the Ombudsman in a new Bill/Act, at
what point should the impact of this legislation be evaluated?
Reply
19.1

Two years should be sufficient period

20.
What unintended consequences could arise as a result of these provisions
becoming legislation and what steps could be taken to deal with these
consequences?
Reply
20.1 The principal problem that I foresee is that the proposed removal of the statutory
bar which prevents the Ombudsman, from considering a complaint with the case could or
has been considered by the courts, needs far greater consideration. This will require far
more detailed evidence to be submitted, as to the need for a change in practical terms, the
cost and resolving what appears to be significant jurisdictional matters. This could ultimately
lead to expensive and somewhat pointless litigation , this could be avoided by not hastily
incorporating this provision into legislation.

Page 12

21.
What factors should be measured to determine the cost-benefit analysis
of this legislation being brought forward?
Reply
21.1 The number of complaints that have been resolved, the confidence of citizen’s in a
system that is integrated and able resolve complex interrelated complaint involving a
number of different public bodies. There is also a potential for cost saving in avoiding
duplicate enquiries and investigations, particularly in the health field.
22.

Do you have any comments on the following issues :

•
jurisdiction – changes to the devolution settlement have led to new areas
coming into jurisdiction over time, should consideration be given to other
bodies being included in the Ombudsman’s jurisdiction;
Reply
22.1 This will depend upon what changes are actually implemented. But in general, great
care should be avoided in proliferating organisations and bodies which may duplicate the
role of the Ombudsman.
•
recommendations and findings - should the recommendations of the Ombudsman to
public bodies be binding. This would mean that bodies cannot decide to reject the findings;
Reply
22.2 The public bodies concerned do need to have the right to challenge any
findings made by the Ombudsman, although in practice, there does seem any
appetite for this. Nevertheless, there may be such cases which do arise in the
future and that does need for there to be a safeguard or check and balance in
place, and so it should be retained .To remove this is effectively removing any
right of appeal and the perception of being both judge and jury. It should
nevertheless, be reviewed so that any challenge or decision to reject any findings
,by the public body concerned , has to be made on clearly set out guidelines,
which have been drafted after widespread consultation.
•
protecting the title - there has been a proliferation of schemes calling themselves
ombudsmen, often without satisfying the key criteria of the concept such as independence
from those in jurisdiction and being free to the complainant. Should anyone intending to use
the title ombudsman gain approval from the Ombudsman;
Reply
22.3 Yes. The reputation of the Ombudsman has been built up very carefully and appears
to generally enjoy weightlifting support from both complainants and public bodies. This

Page 13

should be no scope for confusion in the minds of citizens, and accordingly the protection of
the title is essential.
•
code of conduct complaints – the Ombudsman would prefer to focus on the
element of his work that deals with service users and service delivery, rather than local
authority and town and community councils‟ resolutions. Whilst a local resolution
procedure exists and has been adopted by 22 local authorities, variance exists in practice.
Reply
22.4 The retention by the Ombudsman of Code of Conduct complaints, in my experience
too, plays an important part in the credibility of the scheme.
I do recognise that it may be beneficial for the future to ensure that fewer complaints
remain actually with the Ombudsman and more can be referred back to the Monitoring
Officers for investigation and disposal through the relevant Standards Committees.
22.5 The introduction of the local resolution procedure in the two National Park
Authorities which I am concerned , has been a beneficial development, although neither
hast actually been called upon to do anything, I am satisfied that Members are aware now,
that the complaints of the type that used to be quite common will now be dealt with more
locally, more quickly and more robustly .I am satisfied that some in the past were politically
motivated and created a real danger of bringing the system into disrepute.
23.
Do you have any views on any aspects of future planned or proposed
public sector reforms that would impact on the role of the Ombudsman?
Reply
23.1

None at the moment

24.
Do you have any other issues or concerns about the current Act and are
there any other areas that need reform or updating?
Reply
24.1 I would like to see the rules for the Adjudication Panel revisited so that it can be
able to discharge its duties, without some of the limitations that exist upon it at the
moment. In particular, is a danger I believe that this body is being over used by lawyers in a
way that was not envisaged at its inception and that its original purposes have become
inextricably entwined with overly complicated legal submissions and disproportionate legal
costs causing a real prejudice to the Ombudsman in particular. The costs limitation is one
step towards restoring a level playing field but more needs to done.
John Parsons
Monitoring Officer (BBNPA/PCNPA)

Page 14

National Assembly for Wales – Finance Committee – 21 January 2015

Amendments to the
Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005

1.

Introduction

1.1

The legislation governing the Ombudsman’s office is the Public Services
Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005. At the time it was enacted, it was considered to be
at the cutting edge of ombudsman legislation and is still highly regarded in the UK
and internationally 1.

1.2

In 2015 the Act will be ten years old. New legislation has been introduced in the
Republic of Ireland and elsewhere since 2005, while new legislation, drawing on the
Welsh experience but designed to further develop it, is being introduced in Northern
Ireland.

1.3

In addition, the Law Commission reviewed the legislation governing public services
ombudsmen in England and Wales.2 It commented favourably on the existing Public
Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act but did make a number of recommendations for
change one of which is referred to in section 2.5.

1.4

I have been in post since August 2014; during that time I have now had the
opportunity to discuss legislative issues with my peers in all jurisdictions of the UK.

1.5

This paper sets out five key areas for change which have been informed from the
experience of the office, developments of best practice elsewhere as well as the
recommendations of the Law Commission.

1.6

The paper focuses on these five discrete parts in the hope that the suggested
changes will be uncontroversial and can enjoy broad support for review and
enactment by the Assembly in 2015. The suggested changes reflect four
underlying priorities:
•

1
2

Future proofing: the proposals are intended to ensure that the legislation
continues to be fit for purpose, but that it also addresses future challenges which
will affect service users in an ageing society where there are greater levels of
physical and emotional vulnerability.

Ombudsman Legislation – time for a review? Peter Tyndall March 2013
Law Com No 329 14 July 2011 http://lawcommission.justice.gov.uk/areas/public-services-ombudsmen.htm

Page 15

•

Social justice: the proposals ensure that citizens from more deprived
backgrounds, who may be more reliant on public services, will find it easier to
make a complaint.

•

Citizen Centred: proposals will strengthen the citizen’s voice and ensure that
wherever possible processes will follow the citizen rather than the sector or the
silo.

•

Drive complaint handling and public service improvement: these proposals
will make a real contribution to public service improvement and reform whilst
offering excellent value for money. The changes can be achieved whilst
maintaining the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) budget at no
more than 0.03% of the Welsh Budget block.

2.

Five Areas for Change

2.1

Own initiative investigations
(a)

Virtually without exception, public services ombudsmen throughout Europe,
and indeed, internationally, have the power to undertake investigations on
their own initiative. The Ombudsman in the Republic of Ireland already has
such a power and it will shortly be introduced in Northern Ireland also.
Outside of the UK, only five members of the Council of Europe have
ombudsmen who do not have own initiative powers: Belgium, Luxembourg,
Azerbaijan, Kyrgyzstan and Liechtenstein.

(b)

This is a power normally used sparingly to investigate where there is an
obvious problem but no complaint has come forward or, more usually, to
extend an investigation into a complaint to other bodies where it appears that
the maladministration or service failure identified is likely to be systemic and
affecting people other than the complainant.

(c)

The Ombudsman in the Republic of Ireland undertook five own initiative
reviews between 2001 and 2010 on issues ranging from subventions in
nursing home care, tax refunds to widows, refuse collection charges and the
rights to nursing home care for elderly people. 3

(d)

It would be important to frame any changes in such a way as to ensure that
the power would be used only where appropriate and cases could be referred
to regulators or commissioners where this was a more suitable alternative.

(e)

This power is likely to become more important as we see the impact of an
ageing society with citizens in vulnerable positions either unable or afraid to
complain.

3

A Paper Prepared by the Office of the Northern Ireland Ombudsman on a Power to Commence and Own Initiative
Investigation

Page 16

2.2

2.3

Access – oral complaints
(a)

The current legislation is generally helpful in providing access to the office.
The Ombudsman’s service is free of charge and the requirement for bodies in
jurisdiction to tell people about their right to complain has ensured that people
can access the office as they need to. There is a requirement that all
complaints should be in writing. Whilst the Ombudsman has discretion to
accept a complaint in another form if appropriate, this has to be considered on
a case by case basis.

(b)

However, in view of the changing nature of electronic communication, and the
considerable equalities issues about potentially excluding people who cannot
write, including, for example, people with learning disabilities, there is a case
to be made for modernising this area of the legislation so that it is explicit in
the legislation that complaints may be made orally with the Ombudsman being
obliged to justify to a body being investigated why he has decided to set aside
the requirement for a complaint to be made in writing in individual cases. At
UK level 94% of the population attain literacy level 1 or above, in Wales it is
only 87%. Access for people who cannot write should not be discretionary.
They should have the same access as any other service user in Wales. In
England legislation has recently been reformed for the Local Government
Ombudsman. There is a danger that in Wales we have a greater need but are
lagging behind in this regard.

Complaint Standards Authority
(a)

2.4

In Wales, we have developed the model complaints policy to help to achieve
consistency across public service providers. Take up has been patchy, but is
improving. Adoption is voluntary, but strongly encouraged. In theory, with the
recent changes to the social services statutory complaints procedure, all public
services devolved to Wales should be operating a streamline two stage
complaints procedure. However, the problem lies with enforcement.
I am
conscious of the arrangement in Scotland where a few years ago, the Scottish
Ombudsman was given the role of Complaints Standards Authority. I know
that the Scottish Ombudsman has found this arrangement to be particularly
effective in enabling him to tackle problems in the standards of complaint
handling within the bodies in his jurisdiction. I believe that there is a case for
adopting such an approach in Wales so that any guidance I give to bodies on
complaints handling has statutory force so that I can help support
improvement in public sector complaints handling.

Extension and reform of jurisdiction- Healthcare
(a)

With an ever ageing society the integration of health and social care is an
important part of public policy. Recently my jurisdiction was extended to
include self-funded social care and hospice care; however I cannot investigate
private healthcare, unless it was commissioned by the NHS.

Page 17

(b)

Recently there was a case that I could not resolve where a patient had been
treated by the NHS, then privately (self funded) and then again in the NHS.
The patient sadly died. I was unable to investigate the private funded
healthcare. Clearly there is a need to reform legislation where a patient
chooses to be treated in both public and private sectors that the complaints
process follows the citizen not the sector 4. It has been recommended that the
remit of the Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman should be extended to
cover the whole private healthcare sector. 5

(c) The inclusion of private sector providers raises issues around funding of
complaints handling and also compliance. Whilst the investigation of private
social care complaints is currently resourced from the public funding that I
receive through the National Assembly, there might be a view that a different
arrangement should be considered if private healthcare providers also came
into jurisdiction.
(d) Private sector ombudsman schemes are normally funded by the bodies in their
jurisdiction. This is usually underpinned by statute. The funding mechanism
may be an annual levy, or based on case by case charging, or often on a
combination of both.
(e) This has the dual function of ensuring that the cost does not fall to the public
purse while also engaging the “polluter pays” principle, giving providers an
incentive to avoid error and resolve complaints as a means of not incurring the
costs. There is again a strong case for ensuring this is the case for any
private provider in the office’s jurisdiction.
This hybrid funding model is
already in place at the New South Wales Ombudsman’s office, for example. 6
However, as Lesley Griffiths noted as Local Government Minister: “The
suggestion of a levy, for example, would be very challenging to put into
practice”. 7 The introduction of such a system is clearly a policy choice for the
Committee.
(f) Where the bodies in jurisdiction are public bodies, the existing powers of
recommendation work well and there is no evident need for change. Thus far,
no public service provider has refused to implement a recommendation.
However, where private bodies are in jurisdiction, as is now the case with
social care providers, the democratic process cannot be engaged in the same
way and compliance may be harder to secure. Private sector ombudsman
schemes normally have binding powers and it would be helpful to consider
including this provision in respect of private providers only in the future.

4

With the Wales Act 2014 having received Royal Assent I am also aware that an amendment may be required to
Schedule 3 of the PSOW (Wales) Act 2005 to give me jurisdiction to consider complaints against the new Welsh
Revenue Authority
5
DoH Review of the Regulation of Cosmetic Interventions

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/192028/Review_of_the_Regulation_of_Cosmetic
_Interventions.pdf
6

Ombudsman Legislation – time for a review? Peter Tyndall March 2013
Letter from Lesley Griffiths AM to Christine Chapman Chair of Communities, Equalities and Local Government
Committee

7

Page 18

(g)

2.5

There is also an anomaly in the existing legislation whereby individual family
health service providers (e.g. GPs or dentists, rather than surgeries or
practices) are in jurisdiction. This has the unfortunate effect of personalising
complaints in this sector whereas elsewhere, it is the public service provider,
rather than an individual, who is in jurisdiction. Any change would have the
effect of my naming the relevant practice or surgery in any report rather than
an individual practitioner. This may also be unfair if the practitioner
responsible for any service failure has since moved from the particular practice
or surgery. However, I already have the power to name any person (other
than the listed authority being investigated) if, having taken into account the
interests of person aggrieved in any complaint or any other person I think it is
appropriate and I consider it is in the public interest to do so.

Links with the courts
(a)

The Law Commission identified a number of areas where changes to
legislation would be desirable. There is currently a statutory bar which
prevents the PSOW from considering a complaint where the case could be
considered by the courts. However, there is discretion to set this requirement
aside. The Law Commission take the view that this bar should be set aside
entirely, so that complainants can choose which is the more appropriate route
for them.

(b)

In addition, there is currently no provision to allow the PSOW to consider a
complaint when a judge determines that it would be the better means of
resolution. Changing the law to allow the Administrative Court to “stay” cases
and to refer them to the Ombudsman would address this issue, but the Law
Commission recommend that the discretion as to whether to investigate or not
should remain with the Ombudsman as at present.

(c)

Finally, the Law Commission have suggested that the PSOW should be able
to refer a case to the court for determination of a point of law. They suggest
that this will enable the PSOW to seek clarity on a legal point which might
otherwise hinder or prevent an investigation as well as seeking clarity where
there is doubt as to whether a matter is in jurisdiction.

(d)

This latter point clearly impact on the English and Welsh court system and
advice is sought as to whether this latter change could fall within the purview
of an amended PSOW Act.

3.

The Cost of Change

3.1

Own initiative investigations
• Two full time investigation officers £80k-£100k, including on-costs.

3.2

Access – oral complaints
• No cost.

Page 19

3.3

Complaint Standards Authority
• Two full time investigation officers – £80k-£100k, including on-costs.

3.4

Extension and reform of Jurisdiction- Healthcare
• Dependent on public or private funding method – £0k-£40k-£50k provision
(dependent on policy choice re levy).

3.5

Links with the courts
• £20k Referrals from/to courts.

3.6

Total costs: £180k- £270k per annum.

4.

The Case for Change

4.1

In considering the case of change, I have been keen to focus on:
•
•
•
•
•

4.2

the need to future-proof the legislation and organisation
improving social justice and making sure that voices of complainants from more
disadvantaged backgrounds are heard
making sure the Ombudsman’s work is Citizen Centred, rather than constrained
to individual sectors or silos.
driving improvement in public services and in complaint handling
affordability and value for money.

I believe the suggested changes address these priorities, and hope that they will
enjoy broad support.

Nick Bennett
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
January 2015

*******************************************************************************************************

Page 20

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid
Finance Committee

Bae Caerdydd / Cardiff Bay
Caerdydd / Cardiff
CF99 1NA

26 January 2015
Dear Sir/Madam
Consultation on an inquiry into the consideration of powers of the Public Services
Ombudsman for Wales
The National Assembly for Wales‟ Finance Committee is undertaking an inquiry to
consider extending the powers of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (“the
Ombudsman”), should the evidence support the extension of the Ombudsman‟s
powers the Committee may consider the introduction of a Committee Bill. The
terms of reference for the inquiry are available on the Committee‟s webpage.
Background
The role of the Ombudsman was established by the Public Services Ombudsman

(Wales) Act 2005.
The current Ombudsman, Nick Bennett and his predecessor, Peter Tyndall have
both called for changes to the Act during their role. Five main areas have been
highlighted for potential legislative changes to strengthen the Ombudsman‟s role,
including:


own-initiative powers – this would enable the Ombudsman to initiate his
own investigations without having first received a complaint about an issue;

Page 21



oral complaints - at present, the Ombudsman can only accept complaints in
writing;



complaints handling across public services – this would enable the
Ombudsman to have a role in advising on complaints handling across
public services;



the Ombudsman‟s jurisdiction (to include private health services) –this
would extend the Ombudsman‟s jurisdiction to enable him/her to
investigate when a patient has received private healthcare (self-funded,
rather than being commissioned by the NHS) in conjunction with public
healthcare; and



links with the courts - the removal of the statutory bar to allow the
Ombudsman to consider a case that has or had the possibility of recourse
to a court, tribunal or other mechanism for review (this would give
complainants the opportunity to decide which route is most appropriate for
them).

The Ombudsman has submitted a paper to the Finance Committee which provides
further background information and details of these proposals. To assist with its
inquiry, the Committee would welcome your views on the questions attached at
Annexe A.
Invitation to contribute to the inquiry
The Committee welcomes responses in Welsh or English from both individuals and
organisations and will hold oral evidence sessions in due course.
Submissions should be no longer than five sides of A4, with numbered paragraphs,
and should focus on matters set out above. Please see guidance for those providing
evidence for committees.
If you wish to submit evidence, please send an electronic copy (preferably not in
PDF) of your submission to SeneddFinance@Assembly.Wales
Alternatively, you can write to:
Committee Clerk
Finance Committee
National Assembly for Wales
Cardiff Bay, CF99 1NA.

Page 22

Submissions should arrive by 20 March 2015. It may not be possible to take into
account responses received after this date.
The Committee would be grateful if you could forward a copy of this letter to any
individuals or organisations that might like to contribute to the review. A copy of
this letter will be placed on the National Assembly‟s website with an open invitation
to submit views.
Disclosure of Information
The Assembly‟s policy on disclosure of information is available, please ensure that
you have considered these details carefully before submitting information to the
Committee. Alternatively a hard copy of this policy can be requested by contacting
the Clerk (Leanne Hatcher 0300 200 6343).
Yours faithfully,

Jocelyn Davies AC / AM
Cadeirydd / Chair

Page 23

Annexe A
Consultation Questions
1. What are your views on the effectiveness of the current Public Services
Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005?
Own initiative investigations
2. Currently, the Ombudsman may only investigate a matter that is the subject of a
complaint made to him/her. What are your views on „own initiative‟ investigations
powers, which would enable the Ombudsman to initiate his/her own investigations
without having first received a complaint about an issue. Please explain your
answer.
3. Do you have any concerns that own-initiative investigation powers could result
in the Ombudsman‟s responsibilities overlapping with the responsibilities of other
bodies? How could this be managed?
4. Do you have a view on the likely financial costs and benefits of the Ombudsman
having own-initiative powers?
Oral Complaints
5. At present, the Ombudsman can only accept complaints in writing. What are your
views on the Ombudsman being able to accept complaints made orally? Please
explain your answer.
6. What other type/form of submission should be acceptable (e.g. email, website
form, text messages)
7. Do you have a view on the financial costs and benefits of this provision?
Complaints handling across public services
8. At present there is no consistency in the way public bodies deal with complaints.
Adoption of the model complaints policy issued by the Welsh government is

Page 24

voluntary. What are your views on the Ombudsman preparing a model complaints
policy which public bodies would be obliged to adopt. Please explain your answer.
9. Do you have a view on the financial costs and benefits of this provision?
Ombudsman‟s jurisdiction
10. What are your general views on the Ombudsman‟s current jurisdiction?
11. At present the Ombudsman can investigate private health care that has been
commissioned by the NHS. The Ombudsman would like the jurisdiction to be
extended to enable him/her to investigate when a patient has received private
healthcare (self-funded not commissioned by the NHS) in conjunction with public
healthcare. This would enable the complaints process to follow the citizen rather
than the sector. What are your views on extending the Ombudsman‟s jurisdiction in
this way?
12. How do you think the investigation of private health care complaints should be
funded? (Possibilities include a levy, charging on a case by case basis or no charge.)
13. Do you have a view on the financial costs and benefits of this provision?
Links with the courts
14. What are your views on the removal of the statutory bar to allow the
Ombudsman to consider a case which has or had the possibility of recourse to a
court, tribunal or other mechanism for review? (ie this would give complainants the
opportunity to decide which route is most appropriate for them.)
15. What are your views on the Ombudsman being able to refer cases to the Courts
for a determination on a point of law?
16. Do you have a view on the financial costs and benefits of this provision?

Page 25

Other issues
17. Do you have any specific examples where the Ombudsman having the
additional powers proposed could have been useful in securing a successful
conclusion to an issue?
18. Schedule 3 of the current 2005 Act, provides a list of authorities that are within
the Ombudsman‟s jurisdiction to investigate complaints. Please provide details of
any other bodies/organisations that should be included in this list?
19. If extended powers were given to the Ombudsman in a new Bill/Act, at what
point should the impact of this legislation be evaluated?
20. What unintended consequences could arise as a result of these provisions
becoming legislation and what steps could be taken to deal with these
consequences?
21. What factors should be measured to determine the cost-benefit analysis of this
legislation being brought forward?
22. Do you have any comments on the following issues:


jurisdiction – changes to the devolution settlement have led to new areas
coming into jurisdiction over time, should consideration be given to other
bodies being included in the Ombudsman‟s jurisdiction;



recommendations and findings - should the recommendations of the
Ombudsman to public bodies be binding. This would mean that bodies
cannot decide to reject the findings;



protecting the title - there has been a proliferation of schemes calling
themselves ombudsmen, often without satisfying the key criteria of the
concept such as independence from those in jurisdiction and being free to
the complainant. Should anyone intending to use the title ombudsman gain
approval from the Ombudsman;



code of conduct complaints – the Ombudsman would prefer to focus on the
element of his work that deals with service users and service delivery, rather
than local authority and town and community councils‟ resolutions. Whilst a

Page 26

local resolution procedures exists and has been adopted by 22 local
authorities, variance exists in practice.
23. Do you have any views on any aspects of future planned or proposed public
sector reforms that would impact on the role of the Ombudsman?
24. Do you have any other issues or concerns about the current Act and are there
any other areas that need reform or updating?

Page 27

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Consultation
Document:
Principles of Good
Administration
and Good Records
Management

Page 29

Contents

Introduction to the Consultation
Joint Introduction – The Principles

02

Principle 1: Getting it right

05

Principle 2: Being customer focused

08

Principle 3: Being open and accountable

11

Principle 4: Acting fairly and proportionately

13

Principle 5: Putting things right

16

Principle 6: Seeking continuous improvement

20

Principle 7: Creating good quality records

22

Principle 8: Managing records effectively

24

Page 30

Introduction to the Consultation
The Principles for Good Administration were originally published in 2008. This
document provides an opportunity for the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales and
the Information Commissioner to jointly communicate with bodies in the Ombudsman’s
jurisdiction and to reflect the evolution of the Principles over the past 7 years. Principle
5 recognises the progress made in relation to standardising the approach to complaints
handling processes in Wales since 2008.
The review of the original guidance has ensured that it remains fit for purpose and has
enabled further development in relation to good records management. As a result,
this revised draft document has introduced two new Principles in respect of good
record keeping. In addition, examples based on actual cases considered by either the
Ombudsman or the Information Commissioner have been introduced with the view of
illustrating the points being made at each of the Principles.
It is intended that the revised Principles be issued in accordance with Section 31 of the
PSOW Act. Accordingly, there is a requirement that the Ombudsman consults such bodies
as appear to him to be concerned with any Guidance that he issues.
How to Respond
Responses to this consultation are requested by 29 April 2015. Responses should be sent
by email to consultation@ombudsman-wales.org.uk or in writing to:
The Executive Team
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae
Pencoed
CF35 5LJ
Consultation Questions
1. Are these Principles written in a way that is relevant and helpful to your work?
2.	In your opinion, do the additional Principles included in this revised version of the
Guidance make clear to public service providers what the Information Commissioner
and the Ombudsman expect of them as regards good records management?
3.	Do you find the inclusion of examples (case studies) helpful to illustrate the behaviours
being addressed by the Principles?
4. Are there any words or terms that are unclear?
5. 	Are there any additional principles which may be beneficial for inclusion/should
anything else be included (for example, are there any other developments which
you think need to be reflected in the guidance)?

Page 31

Joint Introduction
– The Principles

As the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, I provide a service to the public by
undertaking independent investigations into complaints about almost all of the wide
range of public services for which the National Assembly for Wales has devolved
responsibility. I can look into the actions of councils and other local government bodies
(including community councils), NHS bodies (including GPs), the Welsh Government and
its sponsored bodies, and registered housing associations. The bodies that fall within
my jurisdiction under the Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005 (‘the PSOW
Act’) are referred to in this document as ‘public service providers’. I am responsible for
deciding whether the public service provider complained about has acted unfairly or
unreasonably, or has provided a poor service. The Ombudsman’s view is final, subject
only to judicial review by the courts. I apply a test of fairness and reasonableness, taking
into account the circumstances of each case; not a test of perfection. I draw attention
to any failures and suggest how things may be put right. I also aim to share the lessons
learned from complaints to help improve the way public services are provided.
The first six Principles in this document are those which were originally published in
the document ‘Principles of Good Administration’ published by the Public Services
Ombudsman for Wales in 2008. A key aim of that document remains, which is to be
open and clear with both complainants and the public service providers about the
sorts of behaviour expected in their service delivery and the tests I apply in deciding
whether maladministration and service failure have occurred. In particular, I want public
service providers to understand how I will approach complaints, and complainants to
understand how I will consider their case. Central to my assessment of the seriousness
of any complaint is the impact of the public service provider’s actions on the individuals
or organisations concerned. New to this edition of the Principles, is the introduction of
examples to illustrate and provide clarification on the behaviours I expect from public
service providers. Even though these case studies have been attributed to a particular
Principle, many of them have elements that are also applicable to other Principles in
this Guidance.

Page 32
02

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

In addition, my investigations have identified time and again occasions of poor records
management, which can sometimes have serious consequences. I am extremely pleased
therefore to have been able to work with the Information Commissioner during the
review of this Guidance document. I am particularly grateful for his contribution in
respect of the two new Principles which have been introduced and for the case studies,
which all relate to Welsh public bodies, that he has provided.
The Principles are not a checklist, nor the final or only means by which I will assess and
decide individual cases. They are broad statements of what I believe the bodies within
my jurisdiction should be doing to deliver good administration and customer service.
If I conclude that a public service provider has not followed the Principles, I will not
automatically find maladministration or service failure. I will apply the Principles fairly
and sensitively to individual complaints, which I will, as ever, decide on their merits and
the circumstances of the case.
I understand that there is often a balance between being sensitive to the needs of a
service user and yet acting proportionately to maximise the effective use of public
resources. The actions of public service providers are of course limited by their resources
and they have to weigh the highest standards of customer service against what is
affordable. All public bodies should spend public money with care. However, finite
resources should not be used as an excuse for poor service or administration.
I appreciate that the bodies within my jurisdiction are many and varied, have a wide
range of remits and statutory duties, and often have their own demanding standards.
Public service providers have to take reasonable decisions bearing in mind all the
circumstances; delivering good service often means taking a broad and balanced view
of all of the individuals or organisations that may be affected by decisions. Despite
their diversity, I believe that the Principles of Good Administration and Good Records
Management will provide a framework for all public service providers to follow in
fulfilling their duties.

Nick Bennett
Ombudsman

Page 33
03

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

Upholding information rights in the public interest is what the ICO exists to do. But that
involves much more than the traditional regulator’s enforcement role. An important
part of securing compliance with the Data Protection Act 1998 and the Freedom
of Information Act 2000 is our work with other regulatory authorities in educating
organisations about their responsibilities. We recognise the need for joined up
approaches in the joined up world of information handling.
Good administration and information handling are an essential part of delivering highquality public services. They are also vital to organisations being able to meet their
statutory obligations under data protection and freedom of information law. So it is
very appropriate that the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales and the Information
Commissioner have worked together to produce this publication for public bodies in
Wales.
As the Ombudsman points out, poor records management can have serious
consequences for service users where a record is incorrect or inaccessible, or where its
security is compromised. I have powers to issue substantial fines for such failures, and
have done so on a number of occasions both in Wales and across the rest of the UK.
Furthermore, for the individuals affected by these errors, timely provision of accurate
and relevant information relating to their cases can be crucial to their understanding of
what may have gone wrong and why. Consequently it is important that their own legal
rights of access to information are properly upheld.
Applying the Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management will
help organisations address the too numerous failures by public bodies which both the
Ombudsman and I have identified from complaints made to us by members of the
public. These failures are illustrated within the case studies, which all relate to Wales.
My office in Wales will now work with the Ombudsman’s office to promote the
adoption of the Principles by organisations and thus improve practice in record
handling across Wales.

Christopher Graham
Information Commissioner

Page 34
04

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

Principle 1:
Getting it right

This includes:
• acting in accordance with the law and with due regard for the rights of those concerned;
• acting in accordance with the listed authority’s policy and guidance (published or internal);
• taking proper account of established good practice;
• providing effective services, using appropriately trained and competent staff;
• taking reasonable decisions, based on all relevant considerations.
In seeking to achieve the above, public service providers:
•	Must comply with the law and have due regard for the rights of those concerned. They
should act according to their statutory powers and duties and any other rules governing the
service they provide. They should follow their own policy and procedural guidance, whether
published or internal.
•	Should act in accordance with recognised quality standards, established good practice or
both, for example about clinical care.
•	Should be alert to possibilities where a novel approach will bring a better result or service.
When they decide to depart from their own guidance, recognised quality standards or
established good practice, they should record why.
•	Should provide effective services with appropriately trained and competent staff. They
should plan carefully when introducing new policies and procedures. Where listed authorities
are subject to statutory duties, published service standards or both, they should plan and
prioritise their resources to meet them.
•	In their decision making, should have proper regard to the relevant legislation and guidance.
Proper decision making should give due weight to all relevant considerations, ignore irrelevant
ones and balance the evidence appropriately.
•	Assess risks as part of taking decisions. They should, of course, spend public money with care
and propriety. At the same time, when assessing risk, they should ensure that they operate
fairly and reasonably.

Page 35
05

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

EXAMPLE

A Care Provider
The Information Commissioner investigated a care provider when a member of the public
found ten care plans in the street. The plans related to elderly individuals and included
sensitive personal information such as care needs and medication as well as confidential
key safe numbers.
The Commissioner’s investigation revealed that whilst there was a basic data protection
policy in place requiring that care plans were not carried in cars, there was no clear
procedure, minimum security requirement or policy on the safe handling and storage of
sensitive personal information taken outside the office. The Commissioner also found
that the employee in question had been in possession of the files for up to 10 weeks
prior to the incident without the apparent knowledge of the organisation as there was no
system in place to log sensitive information being taken out of the office. The Director of
the organisation entered into a formal Undertaking with the Information Commissioner
to ensure proper systems, processes and staff training were put in place to protect the
security of personal information both on and off site.

EXAMPLE

A County Council
A profoundly disabled man lived with his parents until he moved to supported
accommodation. He had accessed the family home using a lift from street level to the
front of the house, which had been installed under a Disabled Facilities Grant. The lift
was ageing and after he moved out it broke down beyond repair. His visits since had been
very limited and he had to be carried into the home. The Ombudsman’s investigation
considered complaints that the Council did not properly advise and support the
gentleman in maintaining the lift; and that it failed to take proper account of his need to
maintain contact with his family in declining to repair/replace the lift.
Having taken account of professional advice, the Ombudsman did not uphold the
complaint about support to maintain the lift. However, he upheld the second complaint,
concluding that the Council needed to do more to enable the gentleman concerned to
be part of his family in the privacy and familiarity of the home environment. The Council
agreed to implement a number of recommendations, including:
•	provide an apology to the gentleman’s parents for the failings identified;
•	look for possible solutions to enable the gentleman to visit the family home; and,
•	re-consider an application for a replacement lift under the Council’s discretionary policy.
The Ombudsman also concluded that Article 8 of the Human Rights Act (the right to respect
for private and family life) had been engaged, and that the gentleman’s fundamental right to a
family life did not appear to have been fully taken account of by the Council.

Page 36
06

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

EXAMPLE

A County Council
A woman complained about the actions of the Social Services Department when
she asked for her daughter to be accommodated by the department. Although the
daughter was initially placed with a foster carer, after a short time the department
arranged for her to stay with her mother’s sister, despite the relationship between
the two women having broken down some time previously. The mother believed
that the Social Worker’s professional relationship with her sister had caused a
conflict of interest leading to a number of failings.
The investigation found that the mother only gave her consent for her daughter to
stay with the aunt reluctantly, and that it could not be considered an agreed family
placement. It was a placement arranged by the Council, and the aunt should have
been assessed in accordance with the Regulations. No assessment of the girl’s needs,
or the aunt’s suitability to care for her, was carried out and no other prospective
carers were considered for the girl. In the absence of any assessment of the aunt,
the placement was an irregular foster placement. There was minimal contact with
her mother after the girl went to stay with her aunt, and the Council failed to
provide assistance and services to enable the girl to return home successfully and
to help the family to rebuild their relationship. The Ombudsman concluded that
the lack of case recordings was reflective of a lack of action on the part of officers.
However, she could not conclude that professionals were influenced by their
relationship with the aunt.
Amongst the Ombudsman’s recommendations were that the Council should arrange
for all social workers in the Child and Family Assessment and Support Team to
receive refresher training on the law, regulations and guidance relating to looked
after children.

Page 37
07

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

Principle 2:
Being customer
focused

This includes:
• ensuring people can access services easily;
• informing customers what they can expect and what the listed authority expects of them;
•	the public service provider keeping to its commitments, including any published service
standards;
•	dealing with people helpfully, promptly and sensitively, bearing in mind their individual
circumstances;
•	responding to customers’ needs flexibly, including, where appropriate, co-ordinating a
response with other service providers.
In seeking to achieve the above, public service providers should:
•	Provide services that are easily accessible to their customers. Policies and procedures should
be clear and there must be accurate, complete and understandable information about the
service.
•	Aim to ensure that customers are clear about their entitlements; about what they can and
cannot expect from the listed authority; and about their own responsibilities.
•	Do what they say they are going to do. If they make a commitment to do something, they
should keep to it, or explain why they cannot. They should meet their published service
standards, or let customers know if they cannot.
•	Behave helpfully, dealing with people promptly, within reasonable timescales and within any
published time limits. They should tell people if things take longer than the listed authority
has stated, or than people can reasonably expect them to take.

Page 38
08

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

•	Communicate effectively, using clear language that people can understand and that is
appropriate to them and their circumstances.
•	Treat people with sensitivity, bearing in mind their individual needs, and respond
flexibly to the circumstances of the case. Where appropriate, they should deal with
customers in a co-ordinated way with other providers to ensure their needs are met;
and, if they are unable to help, refer them to any other sources of help.
EXAMPLE

A Housing Association
A couple complained that a housing association had failed to properly administer
their application for housing by incorrectly calculating their housing need points.
They also complained that one of their applications was suspended, other than
in accordance with the housing association’s own policy, and that the housing
association’s own complaints panel had concluded that this resulted in them
missing out on a property which they would otherwise have been allocated.
They complained that this resulted in a delay of a year in them being allocated a
property.
The Ombudsman found that elements of the housing association’s policies
and information leaflets were confusing and inconsistent. He also found that
the housing association had acted other than in accordance with its policies in
suspending the couple’s application. The Ombudsman concluded that, as a result
of these failings, the couple should indeed have been allocated a property a
year earlier. Amongst the Ombudsman’s recommendations were that the housing
association should make various amendments to policies and information leaflets
to address the failings identified.

Page 39
09

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

EXAMPLE

A General Practitioner (GP)
A woman complained about a GP, who she said had cancelled an appointment for her
son, about whom she was very worried, during a telephone conversation. She added
that he was rude. She stated that the GP acted unprofessionally and disrespectfully at
a subsequent local resolution meeting after she had complained.
The Ombudsman found that the GP breached two vital aspects of good medical practice.
Firstly, he did not properly record the telephone consultation with the complainant
about her son. Secondly, he failed to respond appropriately to a complaint by virtue of
being rude, dismissive and in error in various aspects. The Ombudsman made a number
of recommendations, including that the GP should agree to share his report with his
appraiser at the next annual meeting and consider how he can prevent a repeat.

EXAMPLE

A County Council
A gentleman complained about the Council’s response to allegations of abuse against
him, apparently made to care workers by his autistic daughter, who was removed from
his and his wife’s care and remained away for six months. During this time, a Protection
of Vulnerable Adults investigation and police enquiries took place. Neither investigation
substantiated the allegations. The complainant said that the Council should have allowed
his daughter to rejoin the family after a few weeks; had failed to communicate properly
with him; and did not liaise effectively with the police. He said that his daughter’s
allegations were made via Facilitated Communication (“FC”). FC was a technique that the
family used for day-to-day matters but was not reliable as a method of making allegations.
After six months, the Council established that the daughter did not have capacity to
decide where she lived. Given that it had been obvious for some months that there was
no evidence to support the allegations, the complainant’s daughter returned home.
The Ombudsman found that the Council was faced with a very difficult set of
circumstances and worked hard in what it believed to be the daughter’s best interests.
The Council initially determined that the complainant’s daughter had capacity to decide
where she resided and appeared to consistently state her preference not to return home.
However, the Ombudsman agreed with the complainant that FC was not reliable and
that the complainant had provided information to that end to the Council in support
of his contentions. The Ombudsman concluded that, if the Council had been more
flexible in its considerations and more pro-active, the daughter should have returned
home about two months earlier than she did. The Ombudsman also criticised aspects
of the Council’s communications and liaison with the police. Amongst the Ombudsman’s
recommendations were that relevant staff should reflect on their role.

Page 40
10

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

Principle 3:
Being open and
accountable

This includes:
•	being open and clear about policies and procedures and ensuring that information, and any
advice provided, is clear, accurate and complete;
• stating its criteria for decision making and giving reasons for decisions;
• handling information properly and appropriately;
• taking responsibility for its actions.

In seeking to achieve the above, public service providers should:
•	Handle information as transparently and as openly as the law allows. People should be 		
given information and, if appropriate, advice that is clear, accurate, complete, relevant and
timely.
•	Be open and truthful when accounting for their decisions and actions. They should state their
criteria for decision making and give reasons for their decisions.
•	Handle and process information properly and appropriately in line with the law. So while
policies and procedures should be transparent, public service providers should, as the law
requires, also respect the privacy of personal and confidential information.
•	Take responsibility for the actions of their staff and those of others who act as their agents.

Page 41
11

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

EXAMPLE

A County Council
A woman’s complaint centred on the Council’s handling of her housing application.
The Ombudsman’s investigation identified shortcomings in the Council’s administration
of Miss A’s housing application which led to periods when it was not dealt with as
efficiently or effectively as it should have been. Such administrative inadequacies
included documentation being mislaid, the complainant’s housing application not being
appropriately pointed, as well as instances of poor record keeping.
The Ombudsman’s investigation also found evidence that Miss A’s housing application
had, for a period of time, been erroneously cancelled and this was coupled with other
administrative failings. The investigation also found that there was a failure by the
Council to recognise when its statutory homelessness duties were engaged.
Finally, given the failings identified, the Ombudsman concluded that the Council’s
response to the complainant had not been as robust, transparent, or open as it could
have been in acknowledging failings in the administration of her housing application.
The Ombudsman made a number of recommendations, including that the Council:
•	develop relevant guidance on its housing allocation; and
• provide relevant training.

EXAMPLE

A Health Board
Whilst cycling home from work a medical consultant lost a bag containing sensitive
personal information including a patient’s mental health tribunal report, a solicitor’s letter
and CVs for a job vacancy. The documents were in a rucksack that the consultant had
believed to be securely fastened to a child seat, and were needed for the consultant to
work away from the office.
Investigation by the ICO established that the consultant had not received mandatory
data protection induction training at the time of the incident, and that there was no
relevant protective marking scheme in place at the time to guide staff on the appropriate
handling of documents. The investigation also established that whilst the Board provided
suitable alternative means of transporting or accessing the information, such as encrypted
portable devices and remote server access, these options were not communicated
clearly to staff or supported by clear procedures. The Medical Director entered into a
formal Undertaking with the Information Commissioner to ensure appropriate training
and policies were put in place to protect information security on and off site.

Page 42
12

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

Principle 4:
Acting fairly and
proportionately

This includes:
• treating people impartially, with respect and courtesy;
•	treating people without unlawful discrimination or prejudice, and ensuring no conflict 		
of interests;
•	dealing with people and issues objectively and consistently;
•	ensuring that decisions and actions are proportionate, appropriate and fair.
In seeking to achieve the above, public service providers should:
•	Always deal with people fairly and with respect. They should be prepared to listen to their
customers and avoid being defensive when things go wrong.
•	Treat people equally and impartially. They should understand and respect the diversity of
their customers and ensure fair access to services and treatment regardless of background or
circumstance.
•	Ensure that their actions and decisions are free from any personal bias or interests that could
prejudice those actions and decisions, and any conflict of interests should be declared. Public
service providers should not act in a way that unlawfully discriminates against or unjustifiably
favours particular individuals or interests.
•	Ensure that people are treated fairly and consistently, so that those in similar circumstances
are dealt with in a similar way. Any difference in treatment should be justified by the
objective features or the individual circumstances of the case.
•	When taking decisions, and particularly when imposing penalties, behave reasonably and
ensure that the measures taken are proportionate to the objectives pursued, appropriate in
the circumstances and fair to the individuals concerned.
•	Seek to address the unfairness if applying the law, regulations or procedures strictly would
lead to an unfair result for an individual. In doing so public service providers must, of course,
bear in mind the proper protection of public funds and ensure they do not exceed their legal
powers.

Page 43
13

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

EXAMPLE

A County Council
A Council undertook covert surveillance on an employee who was suspected of
fraudulently claiming sickness absence. The employee had been off work with a sick note
for four weeks at the time the surveillance was authorised. The Council believed she
would use the absence to avoid attending compulsory work meetings, but took no action
to clarify her ability to attend with her or medical advisors before resorting to the covert
surveillance. The employee attended one such meeting before she was aware that the
Council had already undertaken covert surveillance. The resulting surveillance report was
never used.
After investigating, the Information Commissioner deemed the surveillance to be unfair
and unlawful under the Data Protection Act as there were not sufficient grounds at
that early stage of the absence to justify covert surveillance. The Chief Executive of the
Council signed a formal Undertaking with the Information Commissioner to ensure legal
compliance and good practice in any future consideration of covert surveillance.

EXAMPLE

A Health Board
A woman complained about the treatment her late father had received during two
admissions at a hospital. Following investigation, the Ombudsman did not uphold the
complaint about the first admission. However, he found serious failings with regard to the
second admission. He found that there was no systematic approach to diagnosing the
patient’s condition, no plan about when clinical reviews should take place and no decision
made about the frequency that nursing staff should record observations for the patient. In
the event, a doctor did not review the patient the day before his death and observations
were not sufficient or carried out properly. Had those failings not occurred, the problem
with the patient’s undiagnosed gastric ulcer might have come to light. The Ombudsman
concluded that there was a chance that had that happened, the sad outcome might have
been different. The Ombudsman also found that the patient’s daughter was right about
the poor administration of a drug. Further, he concluded that the Chief Executive should
not have signed the complaint response without informing the family of the connection
between her and a clinician who had been involved in the patient’s care, even though that
clinician was not criticised in his report.
The Ombudsman made numerous recommendations to the LHB, which it accepted. These
included financial redress to the complainant as an acknowledgement of the uncertainty
she had to live with concerning whether her father might have survived the episode
with better care; providing evidence that effective systems are in place regarding nursing
observations; carrying out an audit to ensure that patients requiring daily clinical reviews
are receiving them; and introducing a written conflict of interest policy.

Page 44
14

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

EXAMPLE

A County Council
Two similar breaches occurred in the Council’s Social Services Department within a
year. In the first case a mother correctly received a report about her own child that
erroneously included a page of highly sensitive information about another child. The
mother was able to identify the other child and mother from the information breached.
It is not known precisely how the error happened, but it was clear to the Information
Commissioner that no checks were made of the report prior to its despatch. Following
this incident the Council advised the Information Commissioner that they would ensure
staff had appropriate training, guidance on checking any work before posting, and
improved access to secure printing facilities in the department. Within seven months
an almost identical breach occurred, with the same mother again being sent details of
another child and family that she could identify.
It was clear to the Information Commissioner that insufficient steps had been taken by
the Council following the first breach. Taking into account that the Council had failed to
take appropriate measures to prevent further breaches, that the contravention was likely
to cause significant distress, and that the Council knew – or ought to have known – that
there was a risk of further breach, the Information Commissioner served the Council with
a monetary penalty of £130,000.

EXAMPLE

A County Council
A gentleman complained about the Council’s decisions to grant consent for the extension
of a caravan site close to his home, There were a number of aspects to his complaint. One
of these was that he said that there was a conflict of interest because of the involvement
of a senior planning officer, who was a former consultant to the applicant. Amongst the
Ombudsman’s findings were that in terms of the alleged conflict of interest of a senior
planning officer, exchanges of e-mails on the file were inappropriate and gave a perception
of bias which could be damaging in the eyes of the public. Also the appropriate written
declarations within the planning department, or to the Monitoring Officer, as required
by the Council’s code of conduct for officers, had not been made. However, there was
no indication that the senior planning officer concerned had directly influenced the
outcome of the applications, which had been dealt with by the case officer and managed
by another more senior planning officer. On this aspect the Ombudsman recommended
that the Council should remind officers in the planning service of the need to make
declarations of interest in accordance with the code of conduct for officers, including
the more informal business of the Council e.g. when e-mailing, to avoid the perception of
undue influence and partiality.

Page 45
15

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

Principle 5:
Putting things
right

This includes:
• acknowledging mistakes and apologising where appropriate;
• putting mistakes right quickly and effectively;
•	providing clear and timely information on how and when to appeal or complain;
•	operating an effective complaints procedure, which includes offering a fair and appropriate
remedy when a complaint is upheld.
In seeking to achieve the above, public service providers should:
•	When mistakes happen, apologise, explain what went wrong and put things right quickly
and effectively.
•	Recognise that putting things right may include:
- reviewing any decisions found to be incorrect;
- reviewing and amending any policies and procedures found to be ineffective, 		
unworkable or unfair; and
- giving adequate notice before changing the rules.
•	The actions of a public service provider can sometimes bear more heavily on an individual
because of their particular circumstances, even though statutory duties, service standards or
both have been met. Public service providers should be alert to this and respond flexibly to
avoid or, where appropriate, put right any such undue effect.
•	Provide clear and timely information about methods by which people can appeal or
complain.
•	Provide information about appropriate organisational or independent ways of 		
resolving complaints.
•	Operate effective complaints procedures, which are:
- compliant with statutory requirements (for example, health and social services), if applicable, and
consistent with the principles for dealing with complaints, as set out in the Model Concerns and
Complaints Policy issued by the Welsh Government in July 2011 1 ;

Page 46
16

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

and include:
-	providing information about possible sources of help for the service user, particularly
for people who may find the complaints process daunting;
- investigating complaints thoroughly, quickly and impartially;
-	providing an appropriate range of remedies to the complainant and any others
similarly affected when a complaint is upheld. As a minimum, an appropriate range
of remedies should include an explanation and apology from the public service
provider to the complainant, remedial action, financial redress for the complainant
or a combination of these. The remedy offered should seek to put the complainant
back in the position they would have been in if nothing had gone wrong. Where this
is not possible - as will often be the case - the remedy offered should fairly reflect
the harm the complainant has suffered.

EXAMPLE

A County Council and a Housing Association
A gentleman, who uses a wheelchair, complained that the property he was initially
allocated by a housing association in order to discharge the duty he was owed by
the Council under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 was unsuitable. In particular, he
said that he was unable to adequately access the bathroom, which meant that he
had to use a commode, and wash, in the kitchen. He also said that the access to the
property was poor, and that the width of the internal doorways caused him to graze
his knuckles when moving from room to room. The complainant said that after he
requested a review, the property was deemed unsuitable and he was offered his
current property. He said that he incurred costs due to this second move, and he
felt that they should be reimbursed.
The Ombudsman found that the Council and the Housing Association had taken
appropriate professional advice before allocating the property. They had also made
the complainant aware that significant adaptations would be needed, and that they
would not be in place when he moved in. There was evidence that the complainant
and his partner had accepted this. It was very unfortunate that the property had
turned out to be unsuitable, but once they were made aware of this, the Housing
Association and the Council moved quickly to allocate the complainant a property
that could be more easily and suitably adapted to his needs. The Ombudsman did
not uphold the complaint.

1 
Model Concerns and Complaints Policy: http:
//wales.gov.uk/topics/improvingservices/publicationsevents/publications/public-service-complaint s-policy/?lang=en

Page 47
17

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

EXAMPLE

A County Council
A gentleman complained (with the help of an advocate) that the Council, under
pressure from an Inspectorate, had changed a policy to his and others’ detriment.
He explained that tenants living in supported accommodation could provide food
to Council-funded carers during visits. However, this policy was changed so that
carers were not allowed to accept food. The complainant stated that this restricted
the opportunity to share meals and refreshments with carers and enjoy the social
interaction that this allowed. He added that the decision was contrary, and made
without due regard to the Mental Capacity Act 2005, the Human Rights Act 1998
and the Equality Act 2010.
The Ombudsman recognised the difficulties authorities face when devising policies
that involved concerns about competing principles such as choice, equality and
protection. An investigation was commenced to ensure that these matters had been
fully considered; however, it became clear that the Council and the Inspectorate
were both content that a choice-based policy, with safeguards to protect against
possible exploitation of vulnerable adults, was feasible and appropriate. The
Ombudsman pointed out that miscommunication between the bodies might
have led to the change in policy. He invited the Council to reconsider the change
in policy in conjunction with the Inspectorate, and suggested that both parties
write to the complainant’s advocate to explain the situation. The Council and the
Inspectorate agreed to do so. The complaints were settled on that basis without
the need to prepare findings.

Page 48
18

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

EXAMPLE

A Health Board
A woman complained about the standard of care provided to her. She complained
that she had no care and treatment plan and was not made aware who her care
co-ordinator was. When she made a complaint, she did not feel that the Health
Board responded properly.
Amongst the Ombudsman’s findings was that the Health Board’s response to her
complaint was poor and did not comply with the NHS Redress ‘Putting Things Right’
measures, in that the investigating officer was someone who was named in the
complaint. The Ombudsman made a number of recommendations, including that
the Health Board should review how it investigates complaints to ensure that its
actions are compatible with ‘Putting Things Right’.

EXAMPLE

A Welsh Government body
The complainants expressed, amongst other points, dissatisfaction with the way
that a Welsh Government body had dealt with their complaint. The Ombudsman’s
investigation identified shortcomings, including in the area of complaints handling.
He was of the view that it would have been appropriate, given the Investigating
Officer’s previous dealings in the complainants’ case, for the Stage 1 investigation
to have been carried out by another officer. The Ombudsman noted that it was
unfortunate that the inference of bias had tainted the complaints process.
The Ombudsman made a number of recommendations including that, in terms
of complaints handling, the body concerned should take steps to ensure that its
complaints procedure was compatible with the aims and objectives of the Welsh
Government’s Model Concerns and Complaints Policy and Guidance.

Page 49
19

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

Principle 6:
Seeking
continuous
improvement

This includes:
• reviewing policies and procedures regularly to ensure they are effective;
• asking for feedback and using it to improve services and performance;
•	ensuring that the public service provider learns lessons from complaints and uses these to
improve services and performance.
In seeking to achieve this, public service providers should:
•	Put in place processes to ensure policies and procedures are regularly reviewed.
•	In the process of reviewing their policies and procedures, actively seek and welcome all
feedback, both compliments and complaints to improve their public service delivery and
performance.
•	Capture and review lessons learned from complaints so that they contribute to developing
and improving services.

Page 50
20

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

EXAMPLE

Health Board
A woman complained about the care her late husband – who was deaf – had
received in hospital during his final illness.
The Ombudsman’s investigation resulted in a number of findings, but included that
the Health Board had failed to make reasonable adjustments, as required by the
Equality Act 2010, to accommodate the gentleman’s deafness whilst treating him
for his medical condition. Amongst the Ombudsman’s recommendations in relation
to this case were that his report should be discussed at a meeting of the working
group responsible for the Health Board’s “Dignified Care?” action plan.

EXAMPLE

A County Council
A gentleman complained that he had a long-standing complaint with the Council
over his rubbish collection. He said that he had experienced repeated problems
with rubbish and recycling collections. He said that even though he contacted the
Council repeatedly the service did not improve.
Following contact from the Ombudsman’s office, the Council stated that it was
aware of previous issues but understood these had been resolved. The Council
advised that the complainant would be placed on the weekly monitoring list and
receive a weekly phone call to check that the rubbish and recycling had been
collected.

Page 51
21

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

Principle 7:
Creating good
quality records

This includes:
• keeping records which are accurate;
• keeping records which are comprehensive;
•	keeping records which are reliable;
•	keeping records containing personal information in accordance with the Data Protection Act.
In seeking to achieve the above, public service providers should:
•	Ensure that facts recorded are correct and are an accurate reflection of the transactions they
document. A good record will reflect the facts about the given activity. To be reliable, these
facts should be correct. Where necessary, they should also be kept up to date.
•	Ensure that records are supported by information about the circumstances in which they
were created and used. Records cannot be fully understood without adequate knowledge of
the activity that gave rise to them, the wider function of which that activity forms part, and
the administrative context, including the identities and roles of the various participants in
the activity.
•	Ensure that it is possible to prove that records created are what they purport to be. It goes
without saying that if a record is worth keeping it is worth keeping well, so that there can
be no doubt as to its reliability as evidence of the past and for use in the future. Where
information is later added to an existing document within a record, the added information
must be signed and dated. With electronic records, changes and additions must be
identifiable through audit trails.
•	Ensure that, as set out in the Data Protection Act, recorded personal information must be:
- adequate, relevant and not excessive
- accurate and up to date
- not kept longer than is necessary.
The importance of good record keeping in the health sector is also emphasised in the Good
Medical Practice guidance issued by the General Medical Council.2
2 
Available on their website: www.gmc-uk.org

22

Page 52

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

EXAMPLE

A Health Board
A gentleman complained about a number of matters, including delays by a hospital
in arranging a referral and the pain and distress his wife experienced during a
procedure. He also complained about later delays by the hospital’s radiology
department in forwarding copies of his wife’s scans to another hospital in England.
Amongst the Ombudsman’s findings were that there had been an unreasonable
delay on the part of the hospital in arranging the patient’s test and a failure by the
hospital to retain records documenting the manner in which the request had been
managed. Due to conflicting evidence, the Ombudsman was unable to arrive at a
finding about the level of distress experienced by the patient during the procedure.
The Ombudsman’s recommendations included that the Health Board should:
•	remind relevant staff who consider referrals for radiological investigations of
the need to appropriately document all clinical decisions relating to a patient’s
management;
•	ensure, if it had not done so already, that any referrals it receives for radiological
investigations are documented, preferably electronically, at all stages;
•	ensure that it has a robust process for recording and managing all requests for
investigation results such as images, and that all relevant staff receive sufficient
training in its implementation.

EXAMPLE

General Practitioners (GPs)
A woman complained about the diagnosis arrived at by two GPs, and their response
to her complaint, which contained inaccurate information, belittled her concerns
and did not acknowledge that both GPs had failed to diagnose her bowel cancer.
The complainant sadly passed away during the course of the investigation.
The Ombudsman found that the treatment the complainant received did not fall
within the bounds of acceptable clinical practice. He also found that the records
did not meet the standards expected by the GMC Guidance. Whilst the complaint
response from the Practice did not contain inaccurate information (although
there were concerns about the standard of record keeping, casting doubt on the
sufficiency of what was recorded), the lack of recognition that the complainant
should have been clinically examined, may have given the impression that her
concerns were belittled.
The Ombudsman made a number of recommendations, which the GPs agreed
to implement, including: reviewing the standard of record keeping to ensure
compliance with the GMC Guidance.

Page 53
23

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

Principle 8:
Managing records
effectively

This includes:
• ensuring that all staff are aware of what is expected of them in regards to records;
• managing records according to recognised standards, following a records 			
management programme;
• maintaining records in such a way that they are both retrievable and usable.
In seeking to achieve the above, public service providers should:
•	Ensure that staff at all levels are aware of:
- what records to keep
- where to keep them
- who should keep them
- when to keep them.
•	Identify what should be kept, according to statutory duty or business need. Decisions as to
what records are to be kept should be documented in a way that can be used by staff in their
daily work and can serve as evidence of the organisation’s intentions.
•	Never destroy a record without having the authority to do so. Good records management
aims to ensure that retention decisions are made rationally, and shows why any particular
records were destroyed. The existence of a structured retention system allows the
organisation to prove that any destruction took place as part of normal business practice.
•	Adhere to the Data Protection Act and the Code of Practice on the management of records
issued under Section 46 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.
•	Ensure that records are stored and managed in such a way that they can be discovered when
there is a need to consult them. There should be measures in place to ensure that retrieval is
efficient and that the records have been appropriately and securely stored.

Page 54
24

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

EXAMPLE

A Health Board
The Health Board arranged therapy sessions for the complainant in Bristol, and agreed
to fund them. However, they refused her requests to pay her travel expenses to attend
them. She attended the sessions, mostly weekly, during a period of five years.
The Ombudsman noted that non-emergency specialist transport may be provided
by a Health Board in case of clinical need, but that there had been no suggestion
that the complainant had needed or qualified for transport. A patient is entitled
to be reimbursed travel expenses if they are in receipt of one of a number of
benefits, or may qualify for help if he is otherwise on a low income. An independent
investigator who had considered the woman’s complaint at stage 2 of the Health
Board’s complaints procedure had recommended that the Health Board should
reconsider its decision not to pay her travel expenses.
The Ombudsman found that the Health Board’s panel, convened to consider this
recommendation, focussed on whether the woman qualified for specialist transport,
and thus had misinterpreted the panel’s recommendations.
The Ombudsman made a number of recommendations, which included an apology
and payment of redress in recognition of the time and trouble to which she had
been put in pursuing her complaint and that it should:
•	convene a panel to reconsider the recommendation, and the complainant’s
application for payment of her travel expenses. The panel should consist of
members who were not involved in the original consideration of the matter and
should consider all relevant information. A record should be kept of the matters
the panel considered, their deliberations and the outcome; and,
•	remind members of staff making administrative decisions of this nature of the
importance of keeping records of the decision-making process.

Page 55
25

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

EXAMPLE

A County Council
The Information Commissioner was asked to assess a Council’s handling of an
individual’s subject access request. (A subject access request is a request by an
individual under the Data Protection Act to an organisation to be informed of
and receive a copy of all information that organisation holds about them).
As a result of investigation the Commissioner found that the Council had failed to
respond to the request within the statutory 40 days, due primarily to systemic failures
in the Council’s storage of paper records and their approach to handling requests. The
Chief Executive signed a formal Undertaking with the Information Commissioner to
ensure implementation of proper policies, procedures and staff training to handle
requests, as well as improvements to records management systems and performance
reporting to ensure that requests are responded to in an appropriate and timely
manner in future.

EXAMPLE

General Practitioners (GPs)
A woman complained about the standard of care provided to her late daughter.
She stated that, despite numerous attendances at the GP practice, her daughter’s
diagnosis of cancer was missed. It was only when the family had subsequently
taken their daughter to A&E, as she appeared so ill, that her cancer was diagnosed.
The complainant said that a referral to hospital should have been made by the GPs
involved in her daughter’s care. She also raised a concern about the quality of the
computerised GP records.
Having investigated, the Ombudsman concluded that the daughter had not
presented with the typical symptoms of the disease and therefore the Ombudsman
did not criticise the fact that a hospital referral was not made. However, he
was critical of the poor quality of the record keeping, which lacked clarity and
appropriate detail of clinical assessment, physical signs and examination and made
the following recommendations:
•	the practice should review its standard of record keeping to ensure record
keeping by GPs comply with GMC guidelines;
•	that the GPs should specifically reflect on the adviser’s comments and the
findings of this report in relation to record keeping;
•	the practice should provide a full written apology to the complainant and her
family for the shortcomings in record keeping identified in this report and make
a financial redress payment in acknowledgement of the uncertainty and distress
that the poor recording had caused.

Page 56
26

Principles of Good Administration and Good Records Management

1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae
Pencoed
CF35 5LJ
Tel: 01656 641150
Fax: 01656 641199
E-mail: ask@ombudsman-wales.org.uk
Web: www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk
Twitter: @OmbudsmanWales

Page 57

This page is intentionally left blank

Consultation questions
1

Are these Principles written in a way that is relevant and
helpful to your work?
Response

2

In your opinion, to the additional Principles included in this
revised version of the Guidance make clear to public service
providers what the Information Commissioner and the
Ombudsman expect of them as regards good Records
Management?
Response

3

Do you find the inclusion of examples (case studies) helpful
to illustrate the behaviours being addressed by the
Principles?
Response

4

Are there any words or terms that are unclear?

Page 59

Response

5

Are there any additional principles which may be beneficial
for inclusion/should anything else be included (for example,
are there any other developments which you think needs to
be reflected in the guidance)?
Response

Page 60

Principles of Good
Administration

Page 61

Page 62

Principles of Good Administration

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae, Pencoed CF35 5LJ
Tel. 01656 641150 Fax: 01656 641199 E-mail: ask@ombudsman-wales.org.uk
Website: www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk

Page 63

Page 64

CONTENTS
Introduction

1

Principles of Good Administration

3

Getting it right

5

Being customer focused

6

Being open and accountable

7

Acting fairly and proportionately

8

Putting things right

9

Seeking continuous improvement

10

Page 65

PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES

Introduction
As the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, I provide a service to the public by undertaking
independent investigations into complaints about almost all of the wide range of public services
for which the National Assembly for Wales has devolved responsibility. I can look into the actions
of councils and other local government bodies (including community councils), NHS bodies
(including GPs), the Welsh Assembly Government and its sponsored bodies, and registered housing
associations. The bodies that fall within my jurisdiction under the Public Services Ombudsman
(Wales) Act 2005 (‘the PSOW Act’) are referred to as ‘listed authorities’.
I am responsible for deciding whether the listed authority complained about has acted unfairly or
unreasonably, or has provided a poor service. The Ombudsman’s view is final, subject only to
judicial review by the courts. I apply a test of fairness and reasonableness, taking into account the
circumstances of each case; not a test of perfection. I draw attention to any failures and suggest
how things may be put right. I also aim to share the lessons learned from complaints to help
improve the way public services are provided.
The Principles of Good Administration set out in this document are those that have been laid
down by the Parliamentary Ombudsman. I helped develop these principles and see them as valid
for all public services. I believe that the Principles are compatible with the Welsh Assembly
Government’s Making the Connections: Building Better Customer Service – Good Practice
Guidance for Public Services1. as well as the Seven Principles of Public Life as set out by the
Committee on Standards in Public Life. Following consultation I have accordingly decided to issue
them, under section 31 of the PSOW Act, as guidance to all listed authorities on good
administrative practice.
Like the Parliamentary Ombudsman, I want to be open and clear with both complainants and the
public bodies within my jurisdiction about the sorts of behaviour expected when those bodies
deliver public service, and the tests I apply in deciding whether maladministration and service
failure have occurred. In particular, I want listed authorities to understand how I will approach
complaints, and complainants to understand how I will consider their case. Central to my
assessment of the seriousness of any complaint is the impact of the listed authority’s actions on
the individuals or organisations concerned. The Principles of Good Administration reflect this.

1

Welsh Assembly Government published July 2006

Page 66
1

The Principles are not a checklist, nor the final or only means by which I will assess and decide
individual cases. They are broad statements of what I believe the bodies within my jurisdiction
should be doing to deliver good administration and customer service. If I conclude that a listed
authority has not followed the Principles, I will not automatically find maladministration or service
failure. I will apply the Principles fairly and sensitively to individual complaints, which I will, as ever,
decide on their merits and the circumstances of the case.
I understand that there is often a balance between being sensitive to the needs of a customer and
yet acting proportionately to maximise the effective use of public resources. The actions of listed
authorities are of course limited by their resources and they have to weigh the highest standards of
customer service against what is affordable. All public bodies should spend public money with
care. However, finite resources should not be used as an excuse for poor service or administration.
I appreciate that the bodies within my jurisdiction are many and varied, have a wide range of remits
and statutory duties, and often have their own demanding standards. Listed authorities have to
take reasonable decisions bearing in mind all the circumstances; delivering good service often
means taking a broad and balanced view of all of the individuals or organisations that may be
affected by decisions. Despite their diversity, I believe that the Principles of Good Administration
will provide a framework for all listed authorities to follow in fulfilling their duties.

Adam Peat
Ombudsman

Page 67

PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES

2

Principles of Good Administration
Good administration by a listed authority means:

1. Getting it right
• Acting in accordance with the law and with due regard for the rights of those concerned.
• Acting in accordance with the listed authority’s policy and guidance (published or internal).
• Taking proper account of established good practice.
• Providing effective services, using appropriately trained and competent staff.
• Taking reasonable decisions, based on all relevant considerations.

2. Being customer focused
• Ensuring people can access services easily.
• Informing customers what they can expect and what the listed authority expects of them.
• Keeping to its commitments, including any published service standards.
• Dealing with people helpfully, promptly and sensitively, bearing in mind their individual
circumstances.
• Responding to customers’ needs flexibly, including, where appropriate, co-ordinating a response
with other service providers.

3. Being open and accountable
• Being open and clear about policies and procedures and ensuring that information, and any
advice provided, is clear, accurate and complete.
• Stating its criteria for decision making and giving reasons for decisions.
• Handling information properly and appropriately.
• Keeping proper and appropriate records.
• Taking responsibility for its actions.

4. Acting fairly and proportionately
• Treating people impartially, with respect and courtesy.
• Treating people without unlawful discrimination or prejudice, and ensuring no conflict of
interests.
• Dealing with people and issues objectively and consistently.
• Ensuring that decisions and actions are proportionate, appropriate and fair.

Page 68
3

5. Putting things right
• Acknowledging mistakes and apologising where appropriate.
• Putting mistakes right quickly and effectively.
• Providing clear and timely information on how and when to appeal or complain.
• Operating an effective complaints procedure, which includes offering a fair and appropriate
remedy when a complaint is upheld.

6. Seeking continuous improvement
• Reviewing policies and procedures regularly to ensure they are effective.
• Asking for feedback and using it to improve services and performance.
• Ensuring that the listed authority learns lessons from complaints and uses these to improve
services and performance.
These Principles are not a checklist to be applied mechanically. Listed authorities should use their
judgment in applying the Principles to produce reasonable, fair and proportionate results in the
circumstances. The Ombudsman will adopt a similar approach in deciding whether
maladministration or service failure has occurred.
The supporting text for each Principle follows.

Page 69

PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES

4

1. Getting it right
All listed authorities must comply with the law and have due regard for the rights of those
concerned. They should act according to their statutory powers and duties and any other rules
governing the service they provide. They should follow their own policy and procedural guidance,
whether published or internal.
Listed authorities should act in accordance with recognised quality standards, established good
practice or both, for example about clinical care.
In some cases a novel approach will bring a better result or service, and listed authorities should
be alert to this possibility. When they decide to depart from their own guidance, recognised
quality standards or established good practice, they should record why.
Listed authorities should provide effective services with appropriately trained and competent staff.
They should plan carefully when introducing new policies and procedures. Where listed authorities
are subject to statutory duties, published service standards or both, they should plan and prioritise
their resources to meet them.
In their decision making, listed authorities should have proper regard to the relevant legislation and
guidance. Proper decision making should give due weight to all relevant considerations, ignore
irrelevant ones and balance the evidence appropriately.
Listed authorities necessarily assess risks as part of taking decisions. They should, of course, spend
public money with care and propriety. At the same time, when assessing risk, they should ensure
that they operate fairly and reasonably.

Page 70
5

2. Being customer focused
Listed authorities should provide services that are easily accessible to their customers. Policies and
procedures should be clear and there must be accurate, complete and understandable information
about the service.
Listed authorities should aim to ensure that customers are clear about their entitlements; about
what they can and cannot expect from the listed authority; and about their own responsibilities.
Listed authorities should do what they say they are going to do. If they make a commitment to do
something, they should keep to it, or explain why they cannot. They should meet their published
service standards, or let customers know if they cannot.
Listed authorities should behave helpfully, dealing with people promptly, within reasonable
timescales and within any published time limits. They should tell people if things take longer than
the listed authority has stated, or than people can reasonably expect them to take.
Listed authorities should communicate effectively, using clear language that people can
understand and that is appropriate to them and their circumstances.
Listed authorities should treat people with sensitivity, bearing in mind their individual needs, and
respond flexibly to the circumstances of the case. Where appropriate, they should deal with
customers in a co-ordinated way with other providers to ensure their needs are met; and, if they
are unable to help, refer them to any other sources of help.

Page 71

PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES

6

3. Being open and accountable
Public administration should be transparent and information should be handled as openly as the
law allows. Listed authorities should give people information, and, if appropriate, advice that is
clear, accurate, complete, relevant and timely.
Listed authorities should be open and truthful when accounting for their decisions and actions.
They should state their criteria for decision making and give reasons for their decisions.
Listed authorities should handle and process information properly and appropriately in line with
the law. So while their policies and procedures should be transparent, listed authorities should, as
the law requires, also respect the privacy of personal and confidential information.
Listed authorities should create and maintain reliable and usable records as evidence of their
activities. They should manage records in line with recognised standards to ensure that they can be
retrieved and that they are kept for as long as there is a statutory duty or business need.
Listed authorities should take responsibility for the actions of their staff and those of others who
act as their agents.

Page 72
7

4. Acting fairly and proportionately
Listed authorities should always deal with people fairly and with respect. They should be prepared
to listen to their customers and avoid being defensive when things go wrong.
Listed authorities should treat people equally and impartially. They should understand and respect
the diversity of their customers and ensure fair access to services and treatment regardless of
background or circumstance.
The actions and decisions of a listed authority should be free from any personal bias or interests
that could prejudice those actions and decisions, and any conflict of interests should be declared.
Listed authorities should not act in a way that unlawfully discriminates against or unjustifiably
favours particular individuals or interests.
People should be treated fairly and consistently, so that those in similar circumstances are dealt
with in a similar way. Any difference in treatment should be justified by the objective features or
the individual circumstances of the case.
When taking decisions, and particularly when imposing penalties, listed authorities should behave
reasonably and ensure that the measures taken are proportionate to the objectives pursued,
appropriate in the circumstances and fair to the individuals concerned.
If applying the law, regulations or procedures strictly would lead to an unfair result for an
individual, the listed authority should seek to address the unfairness. In doing so listed authorities
must, of course, bear in mind the proper protection of public funds and ensure they do not
exceed their legal powers.

Page 73

PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES

8

5. Putting things right
When mistakes happen, listed authorities should acknowledge them, apologise, explain what went
wrong and put things right quickly and effectively.
Putting things right may include reviewing any decisions found to be incorrect; and reviewing and
amending any policies and procedures found to be ineffective, unworkable or unfair, giving
adequate notice before changing the rules.
The actions of a well-run listed authority can sometimes bear more heavily on an individual
because of their particular circumstances, even though statutory duties, service standards or both
have been met. Listed authorities should be alert to this and respond flexibly to avoid or, where
appropriate, put right any such undue effect.
Listed authorities should provide clear and timely information about methods by which people
can appeal or complain. They should provide information about appropriate organisational or
independent ways of resolving complaints. They should also consider providing information about
possible sources of help for the customer, particularly for people who may find the complaints
process daunting.
Listed authorities should operate effective complaints procedures which investigate complaints
thoroughly, quickly and impartially; and which can provide an appropriate range of remedies to the
complainant and any others similarly affected when a complaint is upheld. As a minimum, an
appropriate range of remedies should include an explanation and apology from the listed authority
to the complainant, remedial action by the listed authority, financial compensation for the
complainant or a combination of these. The remedy offered should seek to put the complainant
back in the position they would have been in if nothing had gone wrong. Where this is not possible
- as will often be the case - the remedy offered should fairly reflect the harm the complainant has
suffered.

Page 74
9

6. Seeking continuous improvement
Listed authorities should review their policies and procedures regularly to ensure they are
effective; actively seek and welcome all feedback, both compliments and complaints; use
feedback to improve their public service delivery and performance; and capture and review lessons
learned from complaints so that they contribute to developing services.

Page 75

PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES

10

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
March 2008
1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae
Pencoed
CF35 5LJ
Tel: 01656 641150
Fax: 01656 641199
E-mail: ask@ombudsman-wales.org.uk
Web: www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk

Page 76
11

Consultation questions
1.

Are these Principles written in a way that is relevant and helpful to your work?
Response
They appear to be written in a jargon free manner, with due regard for the
reader. They are clear in their meaning and we cannot suggest any
amendment that would obviously improve the way in which they are written.

2.

In your opinion, do the additional Principles included in this revised version of
the Guidance make clear to public service providers what the Information
Commissioner and the Ombudsman expect of them as regards good records
management?
Response
Yes, we believe so in general. However we think that there should be an
addition to Principle 8:
A Records Management Programme (RMP) backed up with schedules for
retention, archiving and destruction for important types of record with clear
policies and processes covering such things as “what is a record?”; priorities on
what to keep and what not to keep, how long to keep them and how to provide
access and ensure records are maintained in a fit state for access as well as
who, where, when etc. This needs to take account of different paper and digital
media in use in the past, now and in the future.
Why? “What is a record?” is a perennial issue in public service, especially with
the use of so many types of digital record nowadays and social media. It is one
which complicates records management and retention as the record of a single
event may be multimedia with emails, documents, photos, computer
transactions, drawings and recordings. You therefore need a simple and
foolproof way to keep these separate components and reunite them should you
need to refer back in years to come. With IT devices and software regularly
being updated and replaced (or going obsolete) this does need to be thought
through and constantly reviewed.
Following on from this, prioritisation is also really crucial. Good records
management is not about keeping absolutely everything “just in case” – it is
about setting clear priorities for what to keep and manage and doing so whilst
at the same time disposing securely of the rest to get rid of the “clutter”.

1

Page 77

3.

Do you find the inclusion of examples (case studies) helpful to illustrate the
behaviours being addressed by the Principles?
Response
Generally it was felt that they were helpful in an illustrative way, although in
some cases it was not obvious, or readily apparent, why the case study had
been chosen to illustrate that particular principle (e.g. one of the record
management ones seemed to be more about lack of professional judgement
and several of the “Fairness” ones seemed to also relate more to poor quality
standards or, in one case, record management.
As a National Park Authority it was also felt that it would have been helpful to
see more examples about planning related matters and other matters that apply
to more than just Local Authorities. There are a wide ranging number of bodies
who are now subject to the jurisdiction and examples should have been
included in the document to reflect this.

4.

Are there any words or terms that are unclear?
Response
Not as such, it all seemed clear and well written and presented in an accessible
style. However ,in the first example of Principle 1,the reference to an
Undertaking, from the Information Commissioner does require the reader to
have a working knowledge of the ICO’s procedures and the significance of an
“Undertaking”.
This shows that care does need to be taken with the examples to ensure that
the points they are illustrating are easy to understand for the reader.

5.

Are there any additional principles which may be beneficial for inclusion/should
anything else be included (for example, are there any other developments
which you think need to be reflected in the guidance)?
Response
One area which underpins much of what is covered here is Quality
Management. This is implied in the Principles but not referred to directly and
this aspect of the guidance should, in our view, be strengthened in order
to reflect good management practice.
2

Page 78

There is a whole body of knowledge on how to create a virtuous circle by
establishing a quality culture and managing service quality:
•
Being clear about outcomes and quality standards relevant to different
customer sets;
•
Setting clear standards and measuring and reporting on results;
•
Making sure everyone is clear about their role and accountabilities in the
process;
•
Actively seeking feedback and listening to customers;
•
Encouraging staff to come forward with problems, mistakes, suggestions
and complaints – so that they are identified, acted on and learnt from as
quickly as possible;
•
Monitoring results, managing problems and looking all the time for
opportunities to improve;
•
Looking at what other people do to see if you can learn from their
experience as well as your own;
•
Checking that improvements are having the desired effect.
The elements that seem to us to most lack emphasis in this document are clear
outcomes, monitoring, being proactive and looking outwards.
Professionalism of staff
All of this hinges on professionalism in the various disciplines that Local
Authorities employ – Planning, Social Services, Education, Housing etc. The
document could make more of this. It should also refer to the need for
continuous development – which, of course is a professional requirement.
The document could perhaps make more reference to professional bodies and
the standards that they set. There is a reference to “best practice” but that is a
bit vague. Most of the work of Authorities is covered by professional institutes
and other standards bodies so it would be good to acknowledge them as a
source of good practice and continuous professional development and perhaps
reference them. For example the Information and Records Management
Society – http://www.irms.org.uk/ – has an illustrious history!
Comments on the specific Principles as drafted:
Principle 1 – Getting it right
This could perhaps be a place to introduce the notions of Quality Management,
Professionalism and Learning and Development.
Principle 2 – Being customer focused
It was felt that the top section of this Principle should be more proactive – there
should be greater emphasis about seeking out customer needs rather than just
simply responding to them, seeking and responding to feedback and following
up to check whether something has worked or not.
3

Page 79

It must also be made clear on how to access services, with access routes that
are appropriate for different types of customer – e.g. ensuring there is an easy
to use phone line for elderly people, availability of translation facilities, and
guidance for those citizens with literacy issues.
Also a requirement is needed that a person who has a clear “point of
ownership” for all enquiries with a duty to ensure a response in a reasonable
time could either be in here or Principle 3.
Principle 3 – Being open and accountable
A requirement to have clearly stated and published decision criteria – so that
people can see in advance how decisions are made. These should be
reviewed regularly and people informed when they are changed. This should
reinforce public confidence if it can be clearly demonstrated that the relevant
Authority is actually open and accountable.
Principle 4 – Acting fairly and proportionately
No specific comment beyond what has already been written.
Principle 5 – Putting things right
There should be a greater emphasis on learning from past mistakes. We have
to accept that sometimes mistakes happen. While there is a duty to seek to
minimise errors in decision making and service delivery, including early
detection, acknowledgement and regular review to systematically eliminate
causes of errors, this process should be built in to the Authority’s core
management functions.
Principle 6 – Seeking continuous improvement
This is really important – see Quality above – but it is drafted in a style which
might to some readers seem to reflect an approach that one member described
as “a bit tick boxy”.
We would like to see much more emphasis on an Authority’s obligation to have
a demonstrable system that includes proactively monitoring results, checking
impacts, seeking feedback, looking at others’ experience and seeking ways to
do things better and that this information on how this obligation is delivered is
readily accessible to any citizen.
John Parsons
Monitoring Officer on behalf of both:
Pembrokeshire Coast National Park Authority
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Dated 22nd April 2015
4

Page 80

Agenda Item 7
Standards Committee – 7 May 2015
Report on Byelaws Act 2012

This is an interesting piece of legislation in that it received the Royal assent on 29th
November 2012 and is only in force since the 31st March 2015. There had been
jurisdictional issues between London and Cardiff.
It is the first piece of pure Welsh legislation, which has resulted in litigation in the Supreme
Court over “competency”,which was ultimately resolved in favour of the Welsh
Government.
The Act is intended to simplify the passing and revocation of bye laws in Wales.
The effect of the Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 is that National Park
Authorities in Wales are to be able to make byelaws without the need for approval from
the Welsh Ministers or a Secretary of State.
The Act was not intended to be a controversial or seismic piece of legislation. However, the
challenge in the Supreme Court raised some fascinating questions of constitutional law. The
case is also an excellent test of how devolution is understood – it covers the devolution of
primary legislative powers to the National Assembly, it covers the transfer of secondary
legislative powers to the Welsh Ministers and then considers how those powers can filter
down to the level of county councils, county borough councils and community councils in
Wales.
And as a note of reassurance, if you sometimes get mixed up between the Welsh Ministers,
the Welsh Government and the National Assembly then you are in good company – some
of the Supreme Court judges fell into the same trap during the course of this hearing.
The National Park Authorities are “legislating Authorities for the purpose of the passing
and revocation of bye laws. So they can do it individually.
The A,ct lays down two broad categories of a statute and specifies who should approve the
byelaw then that specified person must approve the byelaw.
If the statute is silent as to who should approve the byelaw, then either the Welsh Ministers
or the Secretary of State may approve the byelaw.
The byelaws specified in the Act that are within category 1 posed no problem – the byelaws
had been carefully chosen so that the specified persons were the Welsh Ministers and the
main purpose of the Act is to remove the need for the approval of the Welsh Ministers.

Page 81

However, many byelaws specified in the Act are within category 2 which means that the
power of approval is exercised by the Welsh Ministers and the Secretary of State
concurrently – in other words it is open to either the Welsh Ministers or the Secretary of
State to exercise approval. It need not be both.
The primary purpose of the Act is to remove the need for the approval of Welsh Ministers
(achieved by section 6) as part of an overall streamlining and modernising of the way in
which byelaws are made in Wales. While there was no problem with removing the Welsh
Ministers’ powers of approval, where did this leave the Secretary of State’s concurrent
powers of approval? Could the National Assembly pass an Act which took away the
approval powers of both the Welsh Ministers and the Secretary of State. This was the
thorny problem for the Supreme Court. It was resolved in favour of the Welsh
Government.
Thus there are some byelaws which do not require Ministerial confirmation and still some
that do.
The Act also clearly sets out in section 8 the formalities to go through to enact successfully
byelaws.
I am attaching an Explanatory Note together with the text of the Act.

John Parsons
Monitoring Officer

Page 82

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act
2012
2012 anaw 2
CONTENTS
Introduction
1

Overview
Power to make byelaws

2

Byelaws for good rule and government and suppression of nuisances
Interpretation

3

Meaning of “legislating authority”
Revocation of byelaws

4
5

Revocation by a legislating authority
Revocation by the Welsh Ministers
Procedure for byelaws

6
7
8
9

Byelaws not requiring confirmation
Byelaws requiring confirmation
Formalities, commencement and publication of byelaws
Power to amend Part 1 of Schedule 1
Enforcement of byelaws

10
11

Offences against byelaws
Section 2 byelaws; powers of seizure etc
Fixed penalty notices

12
13
14
15
16

Power to offer fixed penalties for offences against certain byelaws
Amount of fixed penalty
Power to require name and address in connection with fixed penalty
Use of fixed penalty receipts
Power to amend Part 2 of Schedule 1

Page 83

i

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)
17

Community Support Officers etc
Miscellaneous and general

18
19
20
21
22
23

Guidance
Evidence of byelaws
Consequential amendments
Orders and regulations
Commencement
Short title

Schedule 1
Part 1
Part 2
Schedule 2

–
–
–
–

Lists of byelaw making powers
Byelaws not requiring confirmation
Byelaws in relation to which fixed penalties may be issued
Minor and consequential amendments

Page 84

ii

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

1

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act
2012
An Act of the National Assembly for Wales to make provision for the powers of county councils,
county borough councils, community councils and other public bodies to make byelaws; the
procedure for making byelaws; the enforcement of byelaws; and for connected purposes.
Having been passed by the National Assembly for Wales and having received the assent of
Her Majesty, it is enacted as follows:
Introduction
1

Overview

		 This Act –
(a)	
reforms procedures for making byelaws in Wales, including removing
arequirement for confirmation of byelaws by the Welsh Ministers;
(b) enables certain byelaws to be enforced by fixed penalty notices;
(c)	requires authorities that make byelaws to have regard to any guidance given
by the Welsh Ministers on procedure;
(d) restates for Wales a general power to make byelaws.
Power to make byelaws
2

Byelaws for good rule and government and suppression of nuisances
(1) A council for a county or county borough in Wales may make byelaws –
(a)	for the good rule and government of the whole or any part of its area;
(b)	for the prevention and suppression of nuisances in its area.
(2) But byelaws may not make provision which –
(a)	is made by an Act of Parliament, Assembly Measure or Act of the Assembly;

Page 85

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

2

(b)	is made, or could be made, by subordinate legislation (which means legislation
made by statutory instrument).
Interpretation
3

Meaning of “legislating authority”

		 Each of the following is a legislating authority for the purposes of this Act –
(a) a council for a county or county borough in Wales;
(b) a community council;
(c) a National Park authority in Wales;
(d) the Countryside Council for Wales.
Revocation of byelaws
4

Revocation by a legislating authority
(1)	A legislating authority may make a byelaw to revoke a byelaw previously made by
it.
(2) B
 ut this power may be exercised only where the authority has no other power to
revoke the byelaw.

5

Revocation by the Welsh Ministers
(1)	The Welsh Ministers may by order revoke any byelaw made by a legislating authority
which they conclude is obsolete.
(2)	Before making an order, the Welsh Ministers must consult any person (including a
community council) who they think is likely to be interested in, or affected by, the
revocation of the byelaw.
(3)	
An order may make different provision for different areas, including different
provision for different localities and for different authorities.
Procedure for byelaws

6

Byelaws not requiring confirmation
(1)	This section applies to byelaws made by a legislating authority under the enactments
listed in Part 1 of Schedule 1, including byelaws which amend or revoke byelaws
previously made by it.
(2)	Before it makes a byelaw, an authority must –
(a)	publish on the authority’s website an initial written statement which describes
the issue which the authority thinks may be addressed by making a byelaw;
(b)	consult any person (including, where applicable, a community council) who
the authority thinks is likely to be interested in, or affected by, the issue.
(3)	Following the consultation, the authority must consider the responses and decide
whether making a byelaw is the most appropriate way of addressing the issue.

Page 86

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

3

(4)	The authority must then publish on its website a second written statement which
contains –
(a) the initial written statement;
(b) a summary of the consultation and the responses;
(c) its decision;
(d) the reasons for that decision.
(5) A
 t least six weeks before the byelaw is made, notice of the intention to make the
byelaw must be published –
(a)	in one or more local newspapers circulating in the area to which the byelaw is
to apply;
(b) on the authority’s website.
(6) For at least six weeks before making the byelaw, the authority must ensure that –
(a) a draft of the byelaw is published on the authority’s website;
(b) a copy of the draft is deposited at a place in the authority’s area;
(c) a copy is open to public inspection at all reasonable hours without payment;
(d)	where applicable, a copy is sent to all community councils whose areas the
authority thinks are likely to be affected by the byelaw.
(7)	The authority must give a copy of the draft byelaw to any person who applies for it,
subject to that person paying such reasonable fee charged by the authority (if any).
(8) A
 n authority may not make a byelaw later than six months after the date of the notice
under subsection (5).
7

Byelaws requiring confirmation
(1)	This section applies to byelaws made by a legislating authority under any enactment
other than those listed in Part 1 of Schedule 1, including byelaws which amend or
revoke byelaws previously made by it.
(2) B
 ut this section does not apply to the extent that the enactment conferring the
power to make a byelaw makes different provision in relation to one or more of the
following –
(a) a requirement to submit byelaws for confirmation;
(b) publication of a notice of intent to make the byelaw;
(c) publication of the byelaw;
(d) making copies of the byelaw available.
(3)	Before it makes a byelaw to which this section applies, an authority must –
(a)	publish on the authority’s website an initial written statement which describes
the issue which the authority thinks may be addressed by making a byelaw;

Page 87

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

4

(b)	consult any person (including, where applicable, a community council) who
the authority thinks is likely to be interested in, or affected by, the issue.
(4)	Following the consultation, the authority must consider the responses and decide
whether making a byelaw is the most appropriate way of addressing the issue.
(5)	The authority must then publish on its website a second written statement which
contains –
(a) the initial written statement;
(b) a summary of the consultation and the responses;
(c) its decision;
(d) the reasons for that decision.
(6) B
 yelaws made by the legislating authority must be submitted to the confirming
authority and do not have effect unless and until they are confirmed by the confirming
authority.
(7) A
 t least six weeks before the byelaw is submitted for confirmation, notice of the
legislating authority’s intention to to do so must be published –
(a)	in one or more local newspapers circulating in the area to which the byelaw is
to apply;
(b) on the authority’s website.
(8) F
 or at least six weeks before the byelaw is submitted for confirmation, the legislating
authority must ensure that –
(a) the byelaw is published on the authority’s website;
(b)	a copy of the byelaw is deposited at a place in the authority’s area (and, in
the case of a byelaw made by the Countryside Council for Wales under the
National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949, at a place in the area of
each council of a county or county borough to whose area the byelaw applies);
(c)	where applicable, a copy is sent to all community councils whose area the
authority thinks is likely to be affected by the byelaw;
(d) a copy is open to public inspection at all reasonable hours without payment.
(9)	The legislating authority must give a copy of the byelaw to any person who applies
for it, subject to that person paying such reasonable fee charged by the authority (if
any).
(10) T
 he confirming authority may confirm, or refuse to confirm, any byelaw submitted
to it under this section.
(11) For the purposes of this Act, the confirming authority is –
(a) t he person specified in the enactment under which the byelaws are made as
the person who is to confirm the byelaws, or
(b) if no person is specified, the Welsh Ministers.

Page 88

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

5

(12) T
 he functions of the Welsh Ministers under subsection (11)(b) are exercisable
concurrently with the Secretary of State.
8

Formalities, commencement and publication of byelaws
(1)	This section applies to byelaws made by a legislating authority under any enactment.
(2) B
 ut this section does not apply to the extent that the enactment conferring the power
to make the byelaw makes different provision in relation to one or more of the
following –
(a) signature or sealing of the byelaw;
(b) publication of the byelaw;
(c) making copies of the byelaw available.
(3)	Byelaws made by a legislating authority must be made under the common seal of the
authority, or, in the case of byelaws made by a community council not having a seal,
signed by two members of the council.
(4) B
 yelaws come into effect on the date fixed by the legislating authority, or if they
require confirmation, by the confirming authority. If no date is fixed, they come
into effect at the end of one month from the date they are made (or confirmed, as
applicable).
(5)	The legislating authority which makes the byelaw must –
(a)	publish the byelaw on the authority’s website when made, or if it requires
confirmation, when confirmed;
(b) deposit a copy of the byelaw at a place in the authority’s area;
(c)	ensure that the copy is open to public inspection at all reasonable hours
without payment;
(d)	give a copy of the byelaw to a person who requests it, subject to that person
paying such reasonable fee charged by the authority (if any).
(6) T
 he proper officer of a county borough council or county council must send a copy of
a byelaw once made, or where required once confirmed, to the proper officer of the
council of every community to which the byelaw applies.
(7) I n the case of byelaws made by a National Park authority, the proper officer of the
authority must send a copy of a byelaw once made, or where required once confirmed,
to the proper officer of –
(a)	the council for every county borough or county whose area includes the whole
or part of the National Park;
(b)	the council of every community whose area includes the whole or part of the
National Park.
(8) I n the case of byelaws made by the Countryside Council for Wales under the National
Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949, the Council must ensure that it sends a
copy of a byelaw once made, or where required once confirmed, to the proper officer
of –

Page 89

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

6

(a)	the council of every county borough or county to whose area the byelaw
applies;
(b) the council of every community to whose area the byelaw applies.
(9) The proper officer of the community council must –
(a) a rrange for a copy of a byelaw sent to the officer to be deposited with the
public documents of the community;
(b)	ensure that the copy is open to public inspection at all reasonable hours
without payment.
(10) I n subsections (6) to (9) the “proper officer” is the officer duly authorised for that
purpose by that body.
9

Power to amend Part 1 of Schedule 1

		The Welsh Ministers may by order amend Part 1 of Schedule 1 (byelaws not requiring
confirmation) by adding to or subtracting from the list of enactments, or by amending
the type of authority that may make byelaws without confirmation.
Enforcement of byelaws
10

Offences against byelaws
(1)	Byelaws made by a legislating authority under any enactment may provide that
persons contravening the byelaws are liable on summary conviction to a fine.
(2) The fine must not exceed either –
(a) t he sum fixed by the enactment which confers the power to make the byelaws,
or
(b) if no sum is so fixed, level 2 on the standard scale.
(3) I n the case of a continuing offence, the byelaws may provide that the offender is
liable on summary conviction to a further fine.
(4) The further fine must not exceed either –
(a) t he sum fixed by the enactment which confers the power to make the byelaws,
or
(b) i f no sum is so fixed, the sum of £5 for each day during which the offence
continues after conviction for that offence.

11

Section 2 byelaws; powers of seizure etc

		 A byelaw made under section 2 may include provision for or in connection with –
(a)	the seizure and retention of any property in connection with any contravention
of the byelaw, and
(b)	the forfeiture of any such property on a person’s conviction of an offence of
contravention of the byelaw.

Page 90

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

7

Fixed penalty notices
12

Power to offer fixed penalties for offences against certain byelaws
(1)	This section applies to byelaws made by a legislating authority under the enactments
listed in Part 2 of Schedule 1 (byelaws in relation to which fixed penalties may be
issued).
(2) I f an authorised officer of a legislating authority has reason to believe that a person
has committed an offence against a byelaw made by that authority, the officer may
give a notice to the person offering the opportunity of discharging any liability to
conviction for the offence by payment of a fixed penalty.
(3) I f an authorised officer of a community council has reason to believe that a person has
committed an offence in its area against a byelaw made by a legislating authority other
than the community council, the officer may give that person a notice offering the
person the opportunity of discharging any liability to conviction for the offence by
payment of a fixed penalty.
(4) A
 fixed penalty under this section is payable to the authority whose officer gave the
notice.
(5)	Where a person is given a notice under this section in respect of an offence –
(a)	no proceedings may be instituted for the offence before the end of the period
of 14 days following the date of the notice, and
(b) t he person may not be convicted of the offence if the person pays the fixed
penalty before the end of that period.
(6)	A notice under this section must give such particulars of the circumstances alleged to
constitute the offence as are necessary to explain why an offence has occurred.
(7)	A notice under this section must also state –
(a)	the period under subsection (5) during which proceedings will not be taken
for the offence;
(b) the amount of the fixed penalty;
(c) the person to whom and the address at which the fixed penalty may be paid.
(8) W
 ithout prejudice to payment by any other method, payment of the fixed penalty
may be made by pre-paying and posting a letter containing the amount of the penalty
(in cash or otherwise) to the person referred to, at the address provided, in the notice.
(9) I f a letter is sent, payment is to be regarded as having been made at the time at which
that letter would be delivered in the ordinary course of post.
(10)	The Welsh Ministers may by regulations specify the form of a notice under this
section.
(11) In any proceedings a certificate which –
(a) purports to be signed on behalf of the chief finance officer of an authority, and

Page 91

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

8

(b) s tates that payment of a fixed penalty was or was not received by a date
specified in the certificate,
		 is evidence of the facts stated.
(12) In this section –
“authorised officer”, in relation to an authority, means –
(a)	an employee of the authority who is authorised in writing by the
authority for the purpose of giving notices under this section,
(b)	
any person who, in pursuance of arrangements made with the
authority, has the function of giving such notices and is authorised in
writing by the authority to perform the function, and
(c)	any employee of such a person who is authorised in writing by the
authority for the purpose of giving such notices;
“chief finance officer”, in relation to an authority, means the person having
responsibility for the financial affairs of the authority.
(13) T
 he Welsh Ministers may by regulations prescribe conditions to be satisfied by a
person before a community council may authorise the person in writing for the
purpose of giving notices under this section.
13

Amount of fixed penalty
(1) A legislating authority may –
(a) s pecify the amount of a fixed penalty payable in pursuance of a notice under
section 12;
(b) specify different amounts in relation to different byelaws.
(2) If no amount is so specified, the amount of the fixed penalty is £75.
(3)	The Welsh Ministers may by regulations make provision in connection with the
powers under subsection (1).
(4) Regulations under subsection (3) may, in particular –
(a) r equire an amount specified under subsection (1)(a) to fall within a range
prescribed in the regulations;
(b) r estrict the extent to which, and the circumstances in which, an authority can
make provision under subsection (1)(b).
(5)	The Welsh Ministers may by order substitute a different amount for the amount for
the time being specified in subsection (2).

14

Power to require name and address in connection with fixed penalty
(1) I f an authorised officer proposes to give a person a notice under section 12, the officer
may require the person to give his or her name and address.
(2)	A person commits an offence if that person –

Page 92

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

9

(a) w
 ithout reasonable excuse, fails to give his or her name and address when
required to do so, or
(b)	gives a false or inaccurate name or address in response to a requirement under
that subsection.
(3)	A person guilty of an offence under subsection (2) is liable on summary conviction to
a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.
(4) In this section, “authorised officer” has the same meaning as in section 12.
15

Use of fixed penalty receipts
(1) T
 he authority must have regard to the desirability of using its fixed penalty receipts
for the purpose of combating a nuisance for the prevention of which a byelaw was
made by the authority.
(2) “ Fixed penalty receipts” means amounts paid to an authority in pursuance of notices
under section 12.

16

Power to amend Part 2 of Schedule 1

		The Welsh Ministers may by order amend Part 2 of Schedule 1 (byelaws in relation
to which fixed penalty notices may be issued) by adding to or subtracting from the
list of enactments, or by amending the type of authority that may offer fixed penalty
notices.
17

Community Support Officers etc
(1)	The Police Reform Act 2002 is amended as follows.
(2) In Schedule 4 (powers exercised by police civilians) –
(a)	in paragraph 1ZA(3) after “1972” insert “or under section 12 of the Local
Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012”;
(b)	in paragraph 1ZA(5)(a) after “1972” insert “or to which section 12 of the Local
Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 applies”.
(3) In Schedule 5 (powers exercised by accredited persons) –
(a)	in paragraph 1A(3) after “1972” insert “or under section 12 of the Local
Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012”;
(b)	in paragraph 1A(5)(a) after “1972” insert “or to which section 12 of the Local
Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 applies”.
Miscellaneous and general

18

Guidance
(1)	The Welsh Ministers may give guidance to legislating authorities about –
(a) the making of byelaws to which section 6 or 7 applies;
(b) the procedure for making byelaws;
(c) the enforcement of byelaws;
(d) anything related to these matters including –

Page 93

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

10

(i) consultation and publication requirements;
(ii) the use of fixed penalties.
(2)	A legislating authority must have regard to the guidance when making or enforcing
byelaws.
19

Evidence of byelaws
(1) T
 he production of a certified copy of a byelaw purporting to be made by a legislating
authority is, until the contrary is proved, sufficient evidence of the facts stated in the
certificate.
(2) F
 or the purposes of this section, a certified copy of a byelaw is a printed copy of
the byelaw that is endorsed with a certificate purporting to be signed by the proper
officer of a legislating authority stating –
(a) that the byelaw was made by the authority;
(b) that the copy is a true copy of the byelaw;
(c) t hat on a specified date the byelaw was confirmed by the authority named in
the certificate or, as the case may be, was sent to the confirming authority and
has not been disallowed;
(d) t he date, if any, fixed by the confirming authority for the coming into effect of
the byelaw.
(3)	The requirements in paragraphs (c) and (d) of subsection (2) do not apply if the
byelaw was not subject to confirmation after it was made.

20

Consequential amendments

		 Schedule 2 (minor and consequential amendments) has effect.
21

Orders and regulations
(1)	A power to make an order or regulations under this Act (apart from an order under
section 22 (commencement)) includes power to make such incidental, consequential,
transitional or supplemental provision as the Welsh Ministers consider appropriate.
(2) I n the case of the power under sections 9 and 16, this provision includes provision
amending, repealing or revoking enactments.
(3)	Any power of the Welsh Ministers to make an order or regulations under this Act is
exercisable by statutory instrument.
(4)	A statutory instrument containing an order under section 9, 13(5) or 16 may not
be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before, and approved by a
resolution of, the National Assembly for Wales.
(5)	Any other statutory instrument containing an order or regulations under this Act,
apart from an instrument containing only an order under section 22 (commencement),
is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the National Assembly for
Wales.

Page 94

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)
22

11

Commencement
(1)	The following provisions come into force on the day after the day on which this Act
receives Royal Assent –
(a) section 18(1);
(b) section 21;
(c) this section;
(d) section 23.
(2)	The other provisions of this Act come into force on such day as the Welsh Ministers
may by order appoint.
(3) An order under subsection (2) –
(a) may appoint different days for different purposes;
(b) may include transitional, saving or transitory provision.

23

Short title

		 The short title of this Act is the Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012.

Page 95

12

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

SCHEDULE 1
(introduced by sections 6 and 12)

Lists of byelaw making powers
Part 1
Byelaws not requiring confirmation

1

Section 6 applies to byelaws made –
(a) under the enactments listed in the first column of table 1,
(b) in relation to the subject matter listed in the second column of table 1,
(c) by the type of authority listed in the third column of table 1.
TABLE 1

Enactment under which
byelaws are made

Subject-matter of byelaws

Type of authority by whom
the byelaws are made

Section 68 of the Town Police Regulation of hackney
Clauses Act 1847
carriages

County council and county
borough council

Section 164 of the Public
Health Act 1875

Public walks and pleasure
grounds

County council, county
borough council and
community council

Section 6 of the Town Police
Clauses Act 1889

Regulation of horse drawn
omnibuses

County council and county
borough council

Sections 12 and 15 of the
Open Spaces Act 1906

Open spaces and burial
grounds

County council, county
borough council and
community council

Section 82 of the Public
Sea-shore
Health Acts Amendment Act
1907

County council and county
borough council

Section 83 of the Public
Promenades
Health Acts Amendment Act
1907

County council and county
borough council

Section 81 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Prevention of certain
nuisances

County council and county
borough council

Section 82 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Removal through streets of
offensive matter or liquid

County council and county
borough council

Page 96

13

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)
Section 87 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Provision of public
conveniences

County council, county
borough council and
community council

Section 198 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Provision of mortuaries and
post-mortem rooms

County council, county
borough council and
community council

Section 223 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Regulation of baths,
County council, county
washhouses, swimming baths borough council and
etc
community council

Section 231 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Public bathing

County council, county
borough council and
community council

Section 233 of the Public
Health Act 1936

With respect to swimming
baths and bathing pools not
under the management of a
local authority

County council, county
borough council and
community council

Section 268 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Prevention of nuisances in
connection with the use of
tents, vans etc

County council and county
borough council

Section 270 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Accommodation of hoppickers and persons engaged
in similar work

County council and county
borough council

Section 75 of the Public
Health Act 1961

Pleasure fairs and roller
skating rinks

County council and county
borough council

Section 76 of the Public
Health Act 1961

Seaside pleasure boats

County council and county
borough council

Section 77 of the Public
Health Act 1961

Hairdressers and barbers

County council and county
borough council

Section 19 of the Public
Libraries and Museums Act
1964

Regulating the conduct of
County council and county
persons in libraries and
borough council
museums and the use of those
facilities

Section 35 of the Highways
Act 1980

Regulation of walkways

Section 114 of the Highways Conduct of persons using or
Act 1980
entering public conveniences
provided by highway
authorities

Page 97

County council and county
borough council
County council and county
borough council

14

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)
Section 14 of the Local
Acupuncture
Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1982

County council and county
borough council

Section 15 of the Local
Tattooing, semi-permanent
Government (Miscellaneous skin colouring, cosmetic
Provisions) Act 1982
piercing and electrolysis

County council and county
borough council

Section 60 of the Food Act
1984

Regulation and prevention of County council, county
nuisances in market places
borough council and
community council

Section 31 of the Road Traffic Use of a road as a playground County council and county
Regulation Act 1984
for children
borough council
Section 57(7) of the Road
Traffic Regulation Act 1984

Use of parking places

Community council

Section 23 of the Housing
Act 1985

Management, use and
regulation of local authority
houses, the use of land
provided in connection with
housing and as respects local
authority lodging houses

County council and county
borough council

Section 16 of the Cardiff Bay Good rule and government of County Council (Cardiff)
Barrage Act 1993
inland bay and harbour
Section 2 of this Act

Good rule and government

Section 4(1) of this Act in so Power to revoke byelaws
far as it applies to byelaws
made under any of the
enactments listed in Part 1 of
Schedule 1

Page 98

County council and county
borough council
Legislating authority

15

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)
Part 2
Byelaws in relation to which fixed penalties may be issued

2

Section 12 applies to byelaws made –
(a) under the enactments listed in the first column of table 2,
(b) in relation to the subject matter listed in the second column of table 2,
(c) by the type of authority listed in the third column of table 2.
TABLE 2

Enactment under which
byelaws are made

Subject-matter of byelaws

Type of authority by whom
the byelaws are made

Section 68 of the Town Police Regulation of hackney
Clauses Act 1847
carriages

County council and county
borough council

Section 164 of the Public
Health Act 1875

Public walks and pleasure
grounds

County council, county
borough council and
community council

Section 6 of the Town Police
Clauses Act 1889

Regulation of horse drawn
omnibuses

County council and county
borough council

Sections 12 and 15 of the
Open Spaces Act 1906

Open spaces and burial
grounds

County council, county
borough council and
community council

Section 82 of the Public
Sea-shore
Health Acts Amendment Act
1907

County council and county
borough council

Section 83 of the Public
Promenades
Health Acts Amendment Act
1907

County council and county
borough council

Section 18 of the Children
Restrictions on employment
and Young Persons Act 1933 of children

County council and county
borough council

Section 20 of the Children
Restrictions on the
and Young Persons Act 1933 engagement or employment
of children in street trading

County council and county
borough council

Section 81 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Prevention of certain
nuisances

County council and county
borough council

Section 82 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Removal through streets of
offensive matter or liquid

County council and county
borough council

Page 99

16

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)
Section 87 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Provision of public
conveniences

County council, county
borough council and
community council

Section 198 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Provision of mortuaries and
post-mortem rooms

County council, county
borough council and
community council

Section 223 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Regulation of baths,
County council, county
washhouses, swimming baths borough council and
etc
community council

Section 231 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Public bathing

County council, county
borough council and
community council

Section 233 of the Public
Health Act 1936

With respect to swimming
baths and bathing pools not
under the management of a
local authority

County council, county
borough council and
community council

Section 268 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Prevention of nuisances in
connection with the use of
tents, vans etc

County council and county
borough council

Section 270 of the Public
Health Act 1936

Accommodation of hoppickers and persons engaged
in similar work

County council and county
borough council

Section 75 of the Public
Health Act 1961

Pleasure fairs and roller
skating rinks

County council and county
borough council

Section 76 of the Public
Health Act 1961

Seaside pleasure boats

County council and county
borough council

Section 77 of the Public
Health Act 1961

Hairdressers and barbers

County council and county
borough council

Section 19 of the Public
Libraries and Museums Act
1964

Regulating the conduct of
County council and county
persons in libraries and
borough council
museums and the use of those
facilities

Section 35 of the Highways
Act 1980

Regulation of walkways

Section 114 of the Highways Conduct of persons using or
Act 1980
entering public conveniences
provided by highway
authorities

Page 100

County council and county
borough council
County council and county
borough council

17

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)
Section 14 of the Local
Acupuncture
Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1982

County council and county
borough council

Section 15 of the Local
Tattooing, semi-permanent
Government (Miscellaneous skin colouring, cosmetic
Provisions) Act 1982
piercing and electrolysis

County council and county
borough council

Section 60 of the Food Act
1984

Regulation and prevention of County council, county
nuisances in market places
borough council and
community council

Section 31 of the Road Traffic Use of a road as a playground County council and county
Regulation Act 1984
for children
borough council
Section 57(7) of the Road
Traffic Regulation Act 1984

Use of parking places

Community council

Section 23 of the Housing
Act 1985

Management, use and
regulation of local authority
houses, the use of land
provided in connection with
housing and as respects local
authority lodging houses

County council and county
borough council

Section 16 of the Cardiff Bay Good rule and government of County Council (Cardiff)
Barrage Act 1993
inland bay and harbour
Section 2 of this Act

Good rule and government

Page 101

County council and county
borough council

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

18

SCHEDULE 2
(introduced by section 20)

Minor and consequential amendments
Public Health Act 1875
1

In section 184 of the Public Health Act 1875 (confirmation of byelaws) after “local
authority” insert “in England”.

Commons Act 1899
2

(1)	Section 10 of the Commons Act 1899 (byelaws) (as amended by section 50(7) of the
Commons Act 2006 when brought into force) is amended as follows.
(2) I n subsection (2), after “apply” omit “all byelaws under this section” and insert
“byelaws under this section made by a council in England”.
(3) After subsection (2) insert –
“(3)	Sections 7, 8, 10 and 19 of the Local Government Byelaws (Wales)
Act 2012 (which relate to the procedure for making byelaws,
authorise byelaws to impose fines not exceeding level 2 on the
standard scale, and provide proof of byelaws in legal proceedings)
apply to byelaws under this section made by a council in Wales.”.

Open Spaces Act 1906
3

In section 15(2) of the Open Spaces Act 1906 (byelaws) after “any local authority”
insert “in England”.

Public Health Acts Amendment Act 1907
4

(1) The Public Health Acts Amendment Act 1907 is amended as follows.
(2) In section 9 (byelaws) after “byelaws made” insert “by a local authority in England”.
(3) I n section 82 (byelaws as to sea-shore), after the words “Provided that” insert “, in the
case of byelaws made by a local authority in England,”.

National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949
5

(1) The National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 is amended as follows.
(2) In section 106 (supplementary provisions as to byelaws) after subsection (4) insert –
“(5)	This section does not apply to byelaws made under this Act by
the Countryside Council for Wales.”.

Page 102

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

19

(3) After section 106 insert –
“106A	
Supplementary provisions as to byelaws made by the
Countryside Council for Wales
(1)	Sections 3 to 19 of the Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act
2012 shall apply to all byelaws made by the Countryside Council
for Wales under this Act.
(2) T
 he confirming authority for the purposes of section 7 of the 2012
Act is the Welsh Ministers.”.
Public Health Act 1961
6

(1) The Public Health Act 1961 is amended as follows.
(2) In section 75 (byelaws as to pleasure fairs and roller skating rinks) –
(a)	in subsection (8) after the words “as respects byelaws” insert “made by a local
authority in England”.
(b) after subsection (8) insert –
“(9)	A local authority in Wales which proposes to make a byelaw
under this section must consult the appropriate representative
bodies on the matters dealt with by the proposed byelaw.
(10)	For the purposes of subsection (9), “the appropriate representative
bodies” are those bodies which appear to the authority to be
representative of the interests of those who carry on pleasure fairs
and entertainments to which this section applies.
(11)	A local authority in Wales making a byelaw in pursuance of
subsection (1)(d) of this section must consult the relevant fire
and rescue authority on the matters dealt with by the proposed
byelaw.
(12) F
 or the purposes of subsection (11) “the relevant fire and rescue
authority” is the fire and rescue authority under the Fire and
Rescue Services Act 2004 for the area to which the byelaw
applies.”.
(3) I n section 76(2) (byelaws as to seaside pleasure boats) after the words “byelaws
made” insert “by a local authority in England”.
(4) I n section 77(3) (byelaws as to hairdressers and barbers) after “byelaws” insert “made
by a local authority in England”.

Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964
7

(1)	Section 19 of the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 (byelaws in relation to
libraries and museums) is amended as follows.
(2) In subsection (1) after the words “so made” insert “by a local authority in England”.
(3) I n subsection (2) after the words in brackets insert “and section 10 of the Local
Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012”.

Page 103

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

20

(4) I n subsection (3) after the words in brackets insert “and section 8(5) of the Local
Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (as applicable)”.
Countryside Act 1968
8

(1) The Countryside Act 1968 is amended as follows.
(2) In section 8 (country parks: sailing, boating, bathing and fishing) –
(a)	
in subsection (5), omit “Section 106 of the Act of 1949 (supplementary
provisions as to byelaws) shall have effect as if byelaws under this subsection
were byelaws under that Act.”,
(b)	after subsection (5), insert –
“(5A) I n the case of byelaws made by a local authority in England,
section 106 of the Act of 1949 (supplementary provisions as to
byelaws) shall have effect as if byelaws under subsection (5) were
byelaws under that Act.
(5B) In the case of byelaws made by a local authority in Wales –
(a)	sections 3 to 19 of the Local Government Byelaws (Wales)
Act 2012 apply, and
(b) t he confirming authority for the purposes of section 7 of
that Act is the Welsh Ministers.”.
(3) In section 12 (facilities in or near National Parks) –
(a)	
in subsection (5), omit “Section 106 of the Act of 1949 (supplementary
provisions as to byelaws) shall have effect as if byelaws under this subsection
were byelaws under that Act.”,
(b)	after subsection (5), insert –
“(5A) I n the case of byelaws made by a local planning authority in
England, section 106 of the Act of 1949 (supplementary provisions
as to byelaws) shall have effect as if byelaws under subsection (5)
were byelaws under that Act.
(5B) I n the case of byelaws made by a local planning authority in
Wales –
(a)	sections 3 to 19 of the Local Government Byelaws (Wales)
Act 2012 apply, and
(b) t he confirming authority for the purposes of section 7 of
that Act is the Welsh Ministers.”.
(4) In section 13 (lakes in National Parks: control of boats etc) –
(a) i n subsection (8), at the beginning, insert “In the case of byelaws made by a
local planning authority in England,”,
(b)	after subsection (8), insert –
“(8A) I n the case of byelaws made by a local planning authority in
Wales –

Page 104

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

21

(a)	sections 3 to 19 of the Local Government Byelaws (Wales)
Act 2012 apply, and
(b) t he confirming authority for the purposes of section 7 of
that Act is the Welsh Ministers.”.
(5) In section 41 (powers to make byelaws and related provisions about wardens) –
(a) i n subsection (7), at the beginning, insert “In the case of byelaws made by a
local planning authority in England, or by Natural England,”,
(b)	after subsection (7), insert –
“(7A) I n the case of byelaws made by a local planning authority in
Wales, or by the Council –
(a)	sections 3 to 19 of the Local Government Byelaws (Wales)
Act 2012 apply, and
(b) t he confirming authority for the purposes of section 7 of
that Act is the Welsh Ministers.”.
Local Government Act 1972
9

(1) The Local Government Act 1972 is amended as follows.
(2) I n section 235(1) (powers of councils to make byelaws for good rule and government
etc) –
(a) omit “the council of a principal area in Wales”;
(b) after the second “district” omit “principal area”.
(3) In section 236 (procedure etc for byelaws) –
(a) in subsection (1) after “local authority” in each case insert “in England”;
(b) in subsection (3), omit “or community”;
(c) in subsection (9) –
(i) omit “or in Wales of a principal council”;
(ii) omit the words “or community” in each case where they appear;
(d) omit subsection (10A).
(4) In section 236A (alternative procedure for certain byelaws) –
(a) in subsection (1)(a) after “local authority” insert “in England”;
(b) in subsection (4) –
(i) omit paragraph (a);
(ii) in paragraph (b), omit “in relation to any other byelaw,”;
(c) omit subsections (6), (10) and (11).
(5) In section 238 (evidence of byelaws) after “local authority” insert “in England”.

Page 105

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

22

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
10

(1) S
 ection 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (fixing fares
for hackney carriages) is amended as follows.
(2) In subsection (7) –
(a) after “this section” insert “by a district council in England”;
(b) after “district council” insert “in England”.
(3) After subsection (7) insert –
“(7A)	Section 8(5) and section 19 of the Local Government Byelaws
(Wales) Act 2012 shall extend and apply to a table of fares made
or varied under this section by a council for a county or county
borough in Wales as they apply to byelaws made by a council for
a county or county borough in Wales.”.

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
11

(1)	Section 37 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (byelaws for protection of marine
nature reserves) is amended as follows.
(2) I n subsection (5) after “byelaws under this section” insert “, other than byelaws made
by the Countryside Council for Wales”.
(3) After subsection (5) insert –
“(5A)	Sections 3 to 19 of the Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act
2012 apply to byelaws made by the Countryside Council for
Wales under this section, subject to such modifications (including
modifications increasing the maximum fines which the byelaws
may impose) as may be prescribed by regulations made by the
Welsh Ministers.
(5B)	Regulations under subsection (5A) shall be made by statutory
instrument which shall be subject to annulment in pursuance of a
resolution of the National Assembly for Wales.”

Food Act 1984
12

In section 121(1) of the Food Act 1984 (byelaws) after “Act” insert “by a local authority
in England”.

Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984
13

(1) The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 is amended as follows.
(2) I n section 31(2) (byelaws with respect to roads used as playgrounds) after “this
section” insert “made by a local traffic authority in England”.
(3) I n section 57(7) (byelaws with respect to the use of parking places) after “Secretary of
State” insert “, in the case of byelaws made by a parish council”.

Land Drainage Act 1991
14

(1)	Section 66 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 (powers to make byelaws) is amended as
follows.

Page 106

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (anaw 2)

23

(2) In subsection (5) omit paragraph (c).
(3) After subsection (5) insert –
“(5A) I n the case of byelaws made by a local authority in relation to any
area of Wales, byelaws under this section shall not be valid until
they are confirmed by the Welsh Ministers.
(5B)	Sections 7 and 8 of the Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act
2012 shall have effect in relation to byelaws under this section
made by a local authority in Wales.”.
Cardiff Bay Barrage Act 1993
15

In section 16 of the Cardiff Barrage Act 1993 (byelaws) omit subsections (8), (9) and
(10).

Environment Act 1995
16

(1)	Paragraph 17 of Schedule 7 to the Environment Act 1995 (documents, notices, records,
byelaws etc) is amended as follows.
(2) I n sub-paragraph 2(e) after “Act,” insert “in the case of National Park authorities in
England,”.
(3) In sub-paragraph (5) after “National Park authority” insert “in England”.

National Assembly for Wales (Transfer of Functions) Order 1999 (SI 1999/672)
17

(1) S
 chedule 1 to the National Assembly for Wales (Transfer of Functions) Order 1999 (SI
1999/672) (enactments conferring functions transferred by article 2) is amended as
follows.
(2) Under the heading “Local Government Act 1972” –
(a) o
 mit the words “It is directed that the functions of the Secretary of State under
section 236(11) and paragraph 25 of Schedule 14 shall be exercisable by the
Assembly concurrently with the Secretary of State”;
(b)	omit the words “Section 238 shall have effect as if after “the Secretary of
State” there were inserted “or, as the case may be, the National Assembly for
Wales””.

Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000
18

(1)	Section 17 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (byelaws) is amended as
follows.
(2) In subsection (5) after “this section” insert “made by an access authority in England”.
(3) After subsection (5) insert –
“(5A)	Sections 7, 8, 10 and 19 of the Local Government Byelaws (Wales)
Act 2012 apply to all byelaws under this section made by an access
authority in Wales.”.

© Crown copyright 2012
Printed and Published in the UK by the Stationery Office Limited under the authority and superintendence of Carol
Tullo, Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office and Queen’s Printer of Acts of Parliament.

Page 107

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

The Code of Conduct

for members of local authorities in Wales
Guidance from the
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
for members of county and county borough councils,
fire and rescue authorities, and
national park authorities

Page 109

Preface
This revised guide from me as Public Services Ombudsman for Wales provides an overview of the
Model Code of Conduct (“the Code”) introduced in 2008. It is intended to help you as a member
to understand your obligations under the Code. The Code applies to all members and co-opted
members of local authorities, community councils, fire and rescue authorities and national park
authorities in Wales. As a member, you are required to sign up to it as part of your declaration of
acceptance of office. The Code does not apply to the actions of authorities as a whole, or to the
conduct of their officers and employees. There is a separate code of conduct applying to officers of
local authorities in Wales.
This is the third version of this guidance and is my first as Public Services Ombudsman for Wales.
This version, for the first time, explains the revised two stage test that I will consider when deciding
whether to investigate or to continue with an investigation of a breach of the Code to the stage of
referring the matter to a standards committee or the Adjudication Panel for Wales. It also includes
further guidance on the use of social media and political expression, and aims to provide assistance
to members on the issue of interests which some members find challenging. As before, it excludes
guidance which only relates to town and community councillors. It contains examples drawn from
recent cases considered by my office, standards committees across Wales and the Adjudication
Panel for Wales.
The following pages aim to provide you with a general understanding of the Code and its
requirements. Section 1 provides an introduction, while Section 2 outlines your obligations under
the Code, referencing specific paragraphs for further information. Sections 3 and Section 4 deal with
general issues surrounding interests. You can obtain a copy of the Code by downloading it from your
authority’s website or contacting your Monitoring Officer.
The guide is intended to help you to understand the Code and how it applies, but it cannot hope
to cover every conceivable circumstance. Ultimately, it is your responsibility to take specific advice
from your Monitoring Officer and to make a decision as to the most suitable course of action.
I have used examples throughout to help to bring the guidance to life. These examples are drawn
from actual cases considered by my office and also include decisions reached by local standards
committees and the Adjudication Panel for Wales. Some of these decisions may have been taken
by my predecessor, but throughout, for ease of reference, I will refer to them as my own decisions.
Further examples of recent cases will be published quarterly in “The Code of Conduct Casebook”
which is on my website at www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk
As a member you will be offered training on the Code whether by a Monitoring Officer or from a
representative body. I expect all members to take advantage of such training, including refresher
courses, to ensure that they are fully aware of the provisions of the Code and the standards

Page 110
2

expected of them in public life. I would also urge members to continue to avail themselves of local
arrangements for dealing with member versus member complaints which have proved very effective
as a means of resolving many of these cases.
Since taking up my office I have become increasingly concerned about the number of low level
complaints that are being received. Whilst these complaints appear to have been generated by a
small number of members, in these challenging times of public austerity, it is increasingly important
to ensure the effective use of my office’s resources and that any investigation undertaken is
proportionate and required in the wider public interest.
We should continue to work collaboratively to drive up standards in public life and to create a
culture where members are respected for their selflessness, objectivity and respectful behaviour.
If we do so we can build public confidence in our democratic institutions and promote good
governance for the benefit of the people of all of our communities.

Nick Bennett
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
March 2015

Page 111
3

This statutory guidance is issued by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales under Section 68 of
the Local Government Act 2000 for elected, co-opted and appointed members of:
• county and county borough councils
• fire and rescue authorities, and
• national park authorities
in Wales.
Acknowledgement
This guidance draws on guidance prepared and issued by Standards for England on the former
English Code of Conduct. It has been extended and amended to refer to the Welsh Code and
to the Welsh context. I would like to thank the legal services department of Ceredigion County
Council for the use of its flowcharts on interests which are appended to this guidance.
Separate guidance is available for members of community councils.
First published April 2010.
This edition published March 2015.

Page 112
4

Content
		
Part 1 – Introduction
• The Principles
• Deciding when the Code applies to you

Page
6
9
11

Part 2 – General obligations under the Code
• Equality
• Treating others with respect and consideration
• Bullying and harassment
• Compromising the impartiality of officers of the authority
• Disclosing confidential information
• Preventing access to information
• Disrepute
• Reporting breaches of the Code
• Vexatious complaints
• Co-operating with investigations
• Using your position improperly
• The authority’s resources
• Using resources for proper purposes only
• Reaching decisions objectively
• Considering advice provided to you and giving reasons
• Expenses
• Gifts and hospitality

13
13
14
16
17
18
19
20
20
21
22
23
24
24
25
26
27
28

Part 3 – Personal and prejudicial interests
• Personal Interests
• What to do when you have a personal interest
• Prejudicial Interests
• Does the matter fall within one of the exemptions?
• Overview and Scrutiny Committees
• What to do when you have a prejudicial interest
• Executive or cabinet roles
• Dispensations

29
29
34
35
36
37
38
39
40

Part 4 – Registration of Interests
• Sensitive information
• Gifts and hospitality

42
43
44

Appendices – Flowcharts
• Appendix 1 Personal Interests
• Appendix 2 Prejudicial Interests

45
45
46

Page 113

5

1. Introduction
The Local Government Act 2000 created a new ethical framework for local government in Wales.
It created a power for the National Assembly for Wales to issue a model code of conduct to apply
to members and co-opted members of all relevant authorities in Wales. This power was transferred
to the Welsh Ministers by the Government of Wales Act 2006. In 2008, Welsh Ministers issued the
current Model Code of Conduct which all relevant authorities are required to adopt.
Authorities were required to adopt the Code in its model form in its entirety, but could make
additions to the Code, provided these were consistent with the Model. This was intended to
give certainty to members and the public as to what standards are expected. It helps to ensure
consistency throughout relevant authorities, avoiding confusion for members on more than one
authority and for the public.
Standards committees of principal councils are required to assist members and co-opted members
of their authorities, together with members of town and community councils in their area, to
observe the Code and to arrange for advice and training to be provided. I strongly recommend
that all members should attend training and take advice where it is offered. I support individual
authorities which require members to attend training on the Code before they can join certain
decision-making bodies such as planning committees.
As a member, when you sign your declaration of acceptance of office, you are confirming that
you will observe the Code. It is your personal responsibility to ensure that you understand your
obligations under the Code and act in a way which shows that you are committed to meeting the
high standards of conduct that are expected of you as a member.
Ultimately you are responsible for the decisions you take and can be held to account for them.
However, this does not imply that you can take decisions which breach the Code or contrary to
advice simply because the decision is yours to take. This guidance explains the constraints you
are expected to act within to ensure members of the public can be confident in the way in which
authorities in Wales reach their decisions.
It is my role as Public Services Ombudsman for Wales to independently investigate serious
complaints that members of local authorities in Wales have breached the Code. In determining
whether to investigate a complaint or whether to continue an investigation of a breach of the
Code I will use a two stage test. At the first stage, I will aim to establish whether there is direct
evidence that a breach actually took place. The level of proof that is required is on the balance
of probabilities. If that evidential test is met, at the second stage, I will consider whether an
investigation or a referral to a standards committee or the Adjudication Panel for Wales is required
in the public interest. Some of the public interest factors that I will consider are set out below.
These factors are not exhaustive and the weight to be attached to each will vary according to the
facts and merits of each case.

Page 114
6

Public interest factors include:
• the seriousness of the breach
• whether the member deliberately sought personal gain for themselves or another person at the
public expense
• whether the circumstances of the breach are such that a member has misused a position of trust
or authority and caused harm to a person
• whether the breach was motivated by any form of discrimination against the victim’s ethnic or
national origin, gender, disability, age, religion or belief, sexual orientation or gender identity
• whether there is evidence of previous similar behaviour on the part of the member
• whether the investigation or referral to a standards committee or the Adjudication Panel for
Wales is required to maintain public confidence in elected members in Wales
• whether investigation or referral to a standards committee or the Adjudication Panel for Wales
is a proportionate response, namely, whether it is likely that the breach would lead to a sanction
being applied to the member (I will take account of the outcomes of previous cases considered by
standards committees across Wales and the Adjudication Panel for Wales), and whether the use of
resources in carrying out an investigation or hearing by a standards committee or the Adjudication
Panel for Wales would be regarded as excessive when weighed against any likely sanction.
I have a wide discretion as to whether to begin or continue an investigation. I have revised the two
stage test adopted by my predecessor in order to provide greater clarity on how I will usually exercise
my discretion and to secure a degree of consistency and certainty in the decisions that I reach.
The process I use for investigating complaints is on my website at www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk
Local Resolution Process
Most local authorities across Wales have implemented local resolution procedures to deal with
low level complaints which are made by a member against a fellow member. These arrangements
are proving to be effective at resolving many of these kinds of complaints. Typically these
complaints continue to be about alleged failures to show respect and consideration for others as
required by paragraph 4(b) of the Code or the duty not to make vexatious, malicious or frivolous
complaints against other members under paragraph 6(1)(d) of the Code. Whilst a member may still
complain directly to me about a fellow member if the matter being complained about concerns
paragraphs 4(b) and 6(1)(d), I am very likely to refer the matter back to the Council’s Monitoring
Officer for consideration under this process. In my view such complaints are more appropriately
resolved informally and locally in order to speed up the complaints process and to ensure that my
resources are devoted to the investigation of serious complaints.

Page 115
7

The aim of local resolution is to resolve matters at an early stage so as to avoid the unnecessary
escalation of the situation which may damage personal relationships within the authority and
the authority’s reputation. The process may result in an apology being made by the member
concerned. However, where a member has repeatedly breached their authority’s local protocol
then I would expect the Monitoring Officer to refer the matter back to me. If I see a pattern of
similar complaints being made to me by the same members I will consider this to be a serious
matter and decide whether the persistent reporting of such complaints is conduct which in itself
should be investigated as a potential breach of the Code.
When I have investigated a complaint I may refer the matter to a standards committee or the
Adjudication Panel for Wales. This will depend on the nature of and individual circumstances of
the alleged breach.
Standards Committees
Standards committees are made up of independent lay members and of elected members of the
authority. When I refer a case to a standards committee its role is to decide whether a member
has breached the Code and whether a sanction should be imposed. In my view, hearings should be
conducted in public unless there are valid reasons for not doing so to promote public confidence
in standards in public life. Where a standards committee concludes that a member or co-opted
member has failed to comply with the relevant authority’s code of conduct, it may determine that:
• no action needs to be taken in respect of that failure
• the member or co-opted member should be censured which takes the form of a public rebuke, or
• the member or co-opted member should be suspended or partially suspended from being a
member of that authority for a period not exceeding six months.
A member may appeal against the determination of a standards committee to the Adjudication
Panel for Wales.
The Adjudication Panel for Wales
When I refer a case to the Adjudication Panel for Wales its role is also to determine whether a
member has breached the Code and whether a sanction should be imposed. In addition, it will
consider any appeals against the determination of a standards committee. The powers available to
the Panel when it determines that a member or co-opted member has failed to comply with the
Code are:
• to disqualify the respondent from being, or becoming, a member of the relevant authority
concerned or any other relevant authority for a period of up to five years
• to suspend or partially suspend the respondent from being a member or co-opted member of
the relevant authority concerned for up to 12 months, or
• to take no action in respect of the breach. In such cases the Panel may deem it appropriate to
warn the member as to their future conduct. Where such a warning has been recorded it is likely

Page 116

8

to be taken into account during any future hearing where the member is found again to have
failed to follow the provisions of the Code.
Where either a standards committee or the Panel suspends or partly suspends a member or coopted member that member is still subject to the Code, in particular the provisions set out in
paragraphs 6(1)(a) (bringing the office of member or authority into disrepute) and paragraph 7(a)
(improperly using the position of member).

The Principles
The Local Government Act empowered the National Assembly to issue principles to which you
must have regard in undertaking your role as a member. The Code is based on these principles
which are designed to promote the highest possible standards. These principles draw on the 7
Principles of Public Life which were set out in the Nolan Report “Standards of Conduct in Local
Government in England, Scotland and Wales”. Three more were added to these: a duty to uphold
the law, proper stewardship of the Council’s resources and equality and respect for others.
Members elected to local authorities give generously of their time and commitment for the benefit
of their communities. The principles provide a framework for channelling your commitment in
a way which will reflect well on you and your authority, and which will give your communities
confidence in the way that your authority is governed.
The individual sections of the Code are designed to support the implementation of the Principles.
For example, the Selflessness principle is covered by Section 7 of the Code – Selflessness and
Stewardship. The current principles were set out in a statutory instrument1 and are detailed below.
1. Selflessness
	Members must act solely in the public interest. They must never use their position as members
to improperly confer an advantage on, or to avoid a disadvantage for, themselves or to
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on others.
2. Honesty
	Members must declare any private interests relevant to their public duties and take steps to
resolve any conflict in a way that protects the public interest.
3. Integrity and Propriety
	Members must not put themselves in a position where their integrity is called into question
by any financial or other obligation to individuals or organisations that might seek to influence
them in the performance of their duties. Members must on all occasions avoid the appearance
of such behaviour.

1

The Conduct of Members (Principles) (Wales) Order 2001 SI 2001 No.2276 (W.166)

Page 117

9

4. Duty to Uphold the Law
	Members must act to uphold the law and act on all occasions in accordance with the trust
that the public has placed in them.
5.	Stewardship
	In discharging their duties and responsibilities members must ensure that their authority’s
resources are used both lawfully and prudently.
6. Objectivity in Decision-making
	In carrying out their responsibilities including making appointments, awarding contracts, or
recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, members must make decisions on merit.
Whilst members must have regard to the professional advice of officers and may properly
take account of the views of others, including their political groups, it is their responsibility to
decide what view to take and, if appropriate, how to vote on any issue.
7. Equality and Respect
	Members must carry out their duties and responsibilities with due regard to the need to
promote equality of opportunity for all people, regardless of their gender, race, disability,
sexual orientation, age or religion, and show respect and consideration for others.
8. Openness
	Members must be as open as possible about all their actions and those of their authority. 		
They must seek to ensure that disclosure of information is restricted only in accordance 		
with the law.
9. Accountability
	Members are accountable to the electorate and the public generally for their actions and for
the way they carry out their responsibilities as a member. They must be prepared to submit
themselves to such scrutiny as is appropriate to their responsibilities.
10. L eadership
	Members must promote and support these principles by leadership and example so as to
promote public confidence in their role and in the authority. They must respect the impartiality
and integrity of the authority’s statutory officers and its other employees.
The principles are not part of the Model Code of Conduct, and failure to comply with the
Principles is not of itself, therefore, indicative of a breach of the Code. However, it is likely that a
failure, for example, to adhere to the principle concerning equality and respect would constitute
a breach of the requirements of paragraphs 4(a) and 4(b) of the Code in respect of equality of
opportunity and respect.
In any event, the Principles offer a sound basis for your conduct in office and I encourage members
to have regard to them at all times.

Page 118
10

Deciding when the Code applies to you
See Paragraphs 2 and 3

Consider conduct
in your public &
private life

Members are entitled to privacy in their personal lives,
and many of the provisions of the Code only apply to you
when you are acting in your role as member or acting as a
representative of your authority. However, as there may be circumstances in which your
behaviour in your private life can impact on the reputation and integrity of your authority,
some of the provisions of the Code apply to you at all times.

When reaching a decision as to whether the Code applies to you at a particular time I will have
regard to the particular circumstances and the nature of your conduct at that time.
Before considering your obligations under the Code you should first consider whether the Code
applies and, if so, what provisions.
When does the Code apply?
• Whenever you act in your official capacity, including whenever you are conducting the
business of your authority or acting, claiming to act, or give the impression you are acting, in
your official capacity as a member or as a representative of your authority
• At any time, if you conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as
bringing your office or your authority into disrepute or if you use or attempt to use your
position to gain an advantage or avoid a disadvantage for yourself or any other person or if
you misuse your authority’s resources.
Where you act as a representative of your authority on another relevant authority, or any other
body, you must, when acting for that other authority, comply with their code of conduct. When you
are nominated by your authority as a trustee of a charity you are obliged when acting as such to do
so in the best interests of that charity, in accordance with charity law and with the guidance which
has been produced by the Charity Commission (see its website: www.charity-commission.gov.uk).
If you are acting as a representative of your authority on another body, for example on the board
of a housing association, which does not have a code of conduct relating to its members, you must
comply with your authority’s own Code unless it conflicts with any legal requirements that the
other body has to comply with.
If you refer to yourself as councillor, the Code will apply to you. This applies in conversation, in
writing, or in your use of electronic media. There has been a significant rise in complaints to me
concerning the use of Facebook, blogs and Twitter. If you refer to your role as councillor in any way
or comments you make are clearly related to your role then the Code will apply to any comments
you make there. Even if you do not refer to your role as councillor, your comments may have the
effect of bringing your office or authority into disrepute and could therefore breach paragraph 6(1)
(a) of the Code.

Page 119

11

The Welsh Local Government Association has produced useful guidance on social media entitled
“Social Media: A Guide for Councillors”. The guidance aims to provide you with a clearer idea about
how you can use social media, the possible pitfalls and how to avoid them. It is available on their
website at www.wlga.gov.uk or by calling 029 2046 8600.
If you are nominated by your authority as the director of a company (a stock transfer housing
association for example) you are obliged to act in the best interests of the company. If it has a
code of conduct for its directors you must abide by it. If it does not, you must comply with your
authority’s Code, except on the rare occasions where it conflicts with any legal obligations the
company may have.
If you are suspended from office for any reason, you must still observe those elements of the
Code which apply, particularly as set out in paragraph 2(1)(d), while you are suspended.
Example
Councillor B was nominated by a county borough council to serve as a board member of a stock
transfer housing association. The Chief Executive of the housing association copied all board
members into a confidential e-mail to the Chief Executive of the Council. Councillor B admitted
sending the e-mail to the local press and said that he had done so because he felt that his duty as
a councillor over-rode his duty as a board member of the housing association. Councillor B was
found to have breached paragraph 3(a) of the Council’s Code by disclosing the e-mail in breach of
the board’s own code of conduct. He was also found to have brought his office and authority into
disrepute by making a misleading statement that “he recently had to withdraw” from the board of
the housing association when he had been removed with immediate effect for the serious breach
of confidentiality.
Example
An on-line poll about a person accused of murder which contained inappropriate language was
set up using Councillor B’s council-provided laptop, internet access and his council e-mail address.
Councillor B said he personally had not set up the poll. However, as the Council had provided
him with the laptop he was responsible for it. He also made disparaging comments about housing
benefit claimants on his Facebook page when responding to a request for advice in his councillor
role. The Adjudication Panel found that Councillor B had acted in his official capacity because he
had used his council-provided equipment and e-mail address.
Therefore, he could reasonably be regarded as representing himself as a councillor.

Page 120
12

2. General obligations under the Code
If you consider that the Code applies to you at a particular time then you must consider what
provisions may apply and your obligations under the Code. I have referred to each paragraph below
to provide you with some guidance on your general obligations.

Equality
See Paragraph 4(a)
You must carry out your duties with due regard to the principle that there should be equality of
opportunity for all people regardless of their gender, race, disability, sexual orientation, age or religion.
You should at all times seek to avoid discrimination. There are four main forms of discrimination:
• Direct discrimination: treating people differently because of their gender, race, disability,
sexual orientation, age or religion
• Indirect discrimination: treatment which does not appear to differentiate between people
because of their gender, race, disability, sexual orientation, age or religion, but which
disproportionately disadvantages them
• Harassment: engaging in unwanted conduct on the grounds of gender, race, disability, sexual
orientation, age or religion, which violates another person’s dignity or creates a hostile,
degrading, humiliating or offensive environment
• Victimisation: treating a person less favourably because they have complained of
discrimination, brought proceedings for discrimination, or been involved in complaining about
or bringing proceedings for discrimination.
The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) reinforces the importance of this part of the Code. It imposes
positive duties to eliminate unlawful discrimination and harassment and to promote equality.
Under equality laws, your authority may be liable for any discriminatory acts which you commit.
This will apply if you do something in your official capacity in a discriminatory manner.
You must be careful not to act in a way which may amount to any of the prohibited forms of
discrimination, or to do anything which hinders your authority’s fulfilment of its positive duties
under equality laws. Such conduct may cause your authority to break the law, and you may find
yourself subject to a complaint that you have breached this paragraph of the Code.
You must also be mindful that at all times including when acting in your private capacity you must
not act in a way that would bring your Council into disrepute. It is likely that engaging in behaviour
which could be considered to be in breach of the Equality Act in your private capacity would fall
into this category.

Page 121
13

Example
A member of a county council was a member of the Council’s Recruitment Panel to appoint a new Chief
Executive. Five applicants were shortlisted. After one candidate had finished his presentation and left the
room Councillor A said “good candidate, shame he’s black”. The Adjudication Panel for Wales found that
paragraph 4(a) of the Code had been breached and that Councillor A had brought the office of member
and his authority into disrepute (in breach of paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Code).

Treating others with respect 			
and consideration
See Paragraph 4(b)

Political comments can
attract Article 10 rights

Freedom of expression is a right which applies to all
information and ideas, not just those that are found favourable.
However it is a right that may be restricted in certain circumstances, for example,
for the protection of the rights and interests of others. A member’s freedom of expression
attracts enhanced protection when the comments are political in nature. Therefore, the criticism
of opposition ideas and opinion is considered to be part of democratic debate, and it is unlikely
that such comments would ever be considered to be a breach of the Code.
“Political” comments are not confined to those made within the council chamber and, for example,
include comments members may generally make on their authority’s policies or about their
political opponents. Therefore, unless the comments are highly offensive or outrageous, it is
unlikely that I will investigate and will take the view that the member needs a “thicker skin”.
I may also decline to investigate a complaint where the member has raised “political” issues with
officers. This would not however include threats to an officer’s position or wellbeing. Recent case
law has confirmed that council officers should be protected from unwarranted comments that
may have an adverse effect on good administration and states that it is in the public interest that
officers are not subject to unwarranted comments that disenable them from carrying out their
duties or undermine public confidence in the administration. That said, the officers who are in
more senior positions, for example Chief Executives or Heads of Services, will also be expected to
have a greater degree of robustness.
I expect members to afford colleagues, opponents and officers the same courtesy and
consideration they show to others in their everyday lives. Whilst I recognise that political debate
can, at times, become heated, the right to freedom of expression should not be used as an excuse
for poor conduct generally. Such poor conduct can only discredit the role of member in the eyes
of the public.
When considering such complaints I will take into account the specific circumstances of the case,
whether, in my view, the member was entitled to question the officer concerned, whether there was an
attempt to intimidate or undermine the officer and the content and context of what has been said.

Page 122

14

Example
An appeal tribunal of the Adjudication Panel for Wales considered an appeal by Councillor X
against the decision of the Council’s Standards Committee. The Standards Committee found that
Councillor X had failed to show respect and consideration to another member by prohibiting him
from e-mailing the clerk and accessing the Council’s website. Councillor X also made comments in
an e-mail to the other members regarding his colleague’s shower habits. In doing this the Standards
Committee found that Councillor X had brought the Council into disrepute.
The Adjudication Panel found that Councillor X’s comments were political in nature and
attracted the enhanced protection of Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights.
The Standards Committee’s decision was overturned and the sanction rescinded. The decision
of the Adjudication Panel can be found on the Panel’s website http://apw.wales.gov.uk 		
(Ref: APW/001/2014-015/AT).
Example
The Adjudication Panel upheld a finding of a standards committee of a failure to show respect
and consideration for others by posting online comments about other members and the way
in which the Council was run. The member sought judicial review of this decision. The Court
found that whilst the comments which were posted were sarcastic and mocking and the tone
ridiculed his fellow members, because the majority of the comments related to the way in which
the Council was run, how its decisions were recorded and the competence of the members, the
comments were “Political Expression”. The ruling said no account had been taken of the need for
politicians to have “thicker skins”. In view of the member’s freedom of expression and the fact that
the majority of comments were directed at fellow councillors, the finding of a breach in this case
was a disproportionate interference with the member’s rights under Article 10 of the European
Convention on Human Rights. The Standards Committee’s decision to censure the member was
therefore set aside.
Example
A member of a town council wrote to a Deputy Minister of the Welsh Assembly Government
about an employee (“Mr Smith”) of a county council, a letter which was also copied to the
Council. In the letter the member questioned Mr Smith’s competence and motivation and he
made a number of comments of a disparaging and personal nature about Mr Smith and his
associates. He raised the issue of homosexuality and referred to it as a “notorious disability” and
that “homosexuality is only a demon which can be driven out”. The member was referred to the
Adjudication Panel for Wales.
The Panel found that the member had breached paragraph 4(b) in that he had failed to show
respect and consideration for others. It also found that by his use of words he had brought the
office of member into disrepute in breach of paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Code.

Page
123
The member was disqualified for 12 months from
being
or becoming a member of a local authority.
15

Bullying and harassment
See Paragraph 4(c)
You must not use any bullying behaviour or harass any
person including other members, council officers or
members of the public.

Consider your conduct
from the other person’s
perspective

Harassment is repeated behaviour which upsets or annoys people. Bullying can be characterised as
offensive, intimidating, malicious, insulting or humiliating behaviour. Such behaviour may happen
once or be part of a pattern of behaviour directed at a weaker person or person over whom you
have some actual or perceived influence. Bullying behaviour attempts to undermine an individual
or a group of individuals, is detrimental to their confidence and capability, and may adversely affect
their health. This can be contrasted with the legitimate challenges which a member can make in
questioning policy or scrutinising performance. An example of this would be debates in the chamber
about policy, or asking officers to explain the rationale for the professional opinions they have put
forward. You are entitled to challenge fellow councillors and officers as to why they hold their views.
When considering allegations of bullying and harassment I will consider both the perspective
of the alleged victim, and whether the member intended their actions to be bullying. I will also
consider whether the individual was reasonably entitled to believe they were being bullied.
Bullying is often carried out face to face, but increasingly, it can be carried out in print or using
electronic media. The standards of behaviour expected are the same, whether you are expressing
yourself verbally or in writing.
You need to ensure that your behaviour does not cross the line between being forceful and
bullying. There can be no hard and fast rules governing every set of circumstances but the relative
seniority of the officer will be a factor in some cases. As outlined under paragraph 4(b) of the Code
very senior officers can be involved in robust discussion with members and be well placed to put
their own point of view forcefully. The same is not true of more junior officers and members need
to be aware of this. This is not to say that I condone the bullying of senior officers, only that the
greater the power difference between the officer and the member the greater the likelihood that
the officer will consider behaviour to constitute bullying.
Recently, the High Court found that there is a public interest in protecting public confidence in
unelected public servants which is to be balanced against the interests of open discussion on matters
of public concern. It also found that all members should equally respect the mutual bond of trust and
confidence between themselves and the officers which is crucial to good administration.
Local Authorities have appropriate channels for expressing concern about the performance of an
officer and it is important that you raise issues about poor performance in the correct way and
proper forum. Raising such issues in the context of a meeting with others present, especially if they
are from outside bodies or are members of the public, is not acceptable. Neither is it acceptable to
do so in the media, in your own publications
or using
Page
124blogs, tweets, Facebook or other electronic
16

means. If your criticism is a personal attack or of an offensive nature, you are likely to cross the line
of what is acceptable behaviour.
Example
A county council member was disqualified from office for 2 years and 6 months by the
Adjudication Panel for Wales following allegations of bullying, harassment, disrespect and bringing
the office of member into disrepute. The alleged incidents occurred over a period of two years.
During that time the member had made threatening comments to officers of both junior and senior
grades. For example, comments such as, a number of managers of the Council had been dispensed
with and there were more to go and “You won’t like the man I’ll become if I don’t get what I want....I
don’t need to threaten you you’re an intelligent woman I know you’re listening to me”.
The member appealed the decision and the matter was referred to the High Court where all
but three breaches were upheld. The decision can be found on the Panel’s website
http://apw.wales.gov.uk (Ref: APW/005/2010-011/CT).

Compromising the impartiality of officers of the authority
See Paragraph 4(d)
You must not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of anyone who works for, or on
behalf of, your authority. You should not approach anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the authority
with a view to pressurising them to carry out their duties in a biased or partisan way. They must be
neutral and should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way that would undermine their neutrality.
For example, you should not get officers to help you prepare party political material, or to help you
with matters relating to your private business. You should not provide or offer any incentive or reward in
return for acting in a particular way or reaching a particular decision or threaten someone if they are not
minded to act in a particular way. As well as avoiding pressurising officers in person, you need to avoid
doing so in writing, using electronic media or in the press.
Although you can robustly question officers in order to understand, for example, their reasons for
proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a report that they have written, you must
not try and force them to act differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if
doing so would prejudice their professional integrity.
If a member develops a close personal relationship with an officer, this becomes a personal and
possibly a prejudicial interest under the Code. I would encourage you to adhere to any protocol
developed by your authority that deals with relationships between members and officers.
Example
The son and daughter-in-law of a member of a county borough council were neighbours of a family
who were tenants of the Council. Complaints had been made about the family’s conduct. The member

Page 125

17

contacted officers of the Council regarding the family’s occupancy of the council property and its
impact on his son’s family on a number of occasions, sometimes outside office hours. The calls were
made in his role as elected member and he had direct access to officials because he was a member.
He received a warning from the Deputy Monitoring Officer as to his conduct, which emphasised the
powerful position elected members occupy when dealing with members of staff.
Despite this he continued to contact officers about the matter including requesting an officer to visit his
family “there and then” and accusing an officer of “tipping off” the family being complained about that
noise monitoring equipment was being installed.
The Adjudication Panel for Wales found that the conduct of the member was a persistent course of
conduct over a period of 6 months intended to bring undue pressure upon council officers. It found that
by his actions he had sought to compromise the impartiality of officers of the Council. It also found that
the member had failed to show respect and consideration for others and that his actions amounted to
harassment and he had used his position improperly to promote the interests of his own family. Given
the accumulative nature of his dealings with officers and his making a false allegation that an officer had
“tipped off” the family he had also brought the office of member into disrepute.
The member was suspended from office for 12 months

Disclosing confidential information
See Paragraph 5(a)
You must not disclose confidential information, or information which should be reasonably
regarded to be of a confidential nature, except in any of the following circumstances:
• you have the consent of the person authorised to give it
• you are required by law to do so.
The Information Commissioner has issued helpful guidance on the Freedom of Information Act
and Data Protection Act which is available on his website at www.ico.gov.uk or by calling 		
0303 123 1113. As a member, you may be party to confidential information about individuals or
organisations including personal or commercially sensitive matters. This might include information
about people’s employment, or personal matters arising from social services work, for instance.
Sometimes, these will be marked confidential. On other occasions, this will not be the case, but
you must not disclose them even if they are not marked. If you are in any doubt, always ask your
Monitoring Officer.
As a general rule, you should treat items discussed in the confidential sections of meetings (exempt
items) as confidential. These reports have usually been assessed by the author as containing
sensitive information, following expert legal advice. The sensitivity of the information may decline
over time, but you are strongly urged to take proper legal advice before disclosing it. Similarly, legal
advice, whether provided by external lawyers or your authority’s in-house legal staff, is almost
Page
126
always covered by legal privilege and should
not be
disclosed.
18

When information is provided to members during the course of an investigation I expect this to
be treated in the strictest of confidence and it should not be disclosed to anyone other than the
member’s legal or other adviser. If the information is disclosed to other persons I may consider
this to be a breach of this paragraph of the Code. In addition members should not discuss the
complaint with any of the witnesses, whether directly or indirectly, as such contact may also be
construed to be a breach of the Code.
Example
A member of a county borough council who sat on the Council’s adoption panel disclosed publicly
details of a person who had applied to the panel to adopt a child. He could only have become
aware of the information he disclosed by virtue of his membership of the panel. The Adjudication
Panel found that the member had disclosed confidential information in breach of the Code. It
suspended the member from the Council for 6 months.

Preventing access to information
See Paragraph 5(b)
You must not prevent any person from accessing information which they are entitled to by law.
This includes information under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 or those copies of minutes,
agendas, reports and other documents of your authority which they have a right to access. To
find out more about what types of information the public can access, contact the Information
Commissioner’s Office by visiting www.ico.gov.uk or by calling 0303 123 1113 or for specific queries,
you should ask your Monitoring Officer.
Any information that you produce in your official capacity is liable to be subject to the disclosure
requirements of the Freedom of Information Act, and your authority may be required to release
it in response to a request. If you do not provide the information to the relevant officer of your
authority on request, you will be in breach of the Code.
Your authority needs to decide whether to disclose information or whether it may be covered by
an exemption. Even if you believe that information you hold is exempt, you must provide it to your
authority’s relevant officer to allow the authority to reach a decision. As well as being a breach of
the Code, it is a criminal offence if information is destroyed after a Freedom of Information Act
request has been received.
Example
A leader of a county council refused to give the Council’s Information Officer a letter he had
written to the Wales Audit Office on behalf of the Council’s Executive. As a result the Council
could not respond appropriately to a Freedom of Information Act request which resulted in a
complaint being made to the Information Commissioner’s Office. The member continued to refuse
to disclose the letter despite having received clear and unequivocal advice from the Information

Page 127

19

Officer. His refusal led to an adverse finding from the Information Commissioner’s Officer. The
Adjudication Panel found that the member had breached paragraphs 5(b) and 6(1)(a) (disrepute) in
respect of this matter and other related matters. By the time the case was considered by the Panel
the member had resigned from office. He was disqualified from holding office for 12 months.

Disrepute

Any conduct
unbecoming of a member
can constitute disrepute

See Paragraph 6(1)(a)

You must not behave in a way which could reasonably be
regarded as bringing your office or authority into disrepute at
any time. As a member, your actions and behaviour are subject
to greater scrutiny than those of ordinary members of the public. You should be aware that your
in both your public and private life might have an adverse impact on your office or your authority.
You should also ensure that you do not engage in any behaviour that may prejudice an investigation
undertaken by me or your Monitoring Officer as this may also constitute disrepute.

Dishonest and deceitful behaviour will bring your authority into disrepute, as may conduct which
results in a criminal conviction, especially if it involves dishonest, threatening or violent behaviour,
even if the behaviour happens in your private life. Making unfair or inaccurate criticism of your
authority in a public arena might well be regarded as bringing your authority into disrepute.
Inappropriate e-mails or social media posts might well bring the office of member into disrepute.
You must also conduct yourself in an appropriate manner with others within the confines of a
council’s building, regardless of whether your conduct is likely to be in the public domain.
Example
A community councillor had been abusive to a shop proprietor and two members of her staff and
had attempted to obtain a discount on a private purchase by saying it was being bought on behalf
of the Community Council, and when his request for a discount was refused he had made threats
against the business. The Adjudication Panel found that the member had brought the office of
member into disrepute and suspended him for 9 months.

Reporting breaches of the Code
See Paragraph 6(1)(c)
If you reasonably believe that a breach of the Code has occurred, you must report it to me and
to your Monitoring Officer. In order to have a reasonable belief that a breach has occurred, you
will need to have direct evidence which supports this. If you are in doubt as to whether a breach
has occurred, you should consult your Monitoring Officer as soon as possible. Where the breach
is a very minor or technical one, or where there is no clear evidence that a breach occurred,

Page 128
20

your Monitoring Officer may advise you of the likely threshold I will set and suggest that the
matter would be more appropriately dealt with through the authority’s local resolution process.
Nonetheless, the decision as to whether to investigate a breach rests with me. The balance of any
doubt should always favour reporting. It is helpful if you specify which aspect of the Code you
believe has been breached.
Where a member has reported a fellow member to their Monitoring Officer under the authority’s
local resolution process, there is no need to report the matter to me as well.
In determining whether to investigate a complaint of a breach I will use the two stage test that
I have outlined on pages 6 and 7 above. You should ensure that you provide any evidence you
have available when you make a complaint including minutes of meetings, correspondence,
contemporaneous notes or e-mails. If there are other individuals who have witnessed the alleged
breach, you should let us know who they are. This latter point is especially important because
if I only have one person’s word against another’s, I may not be able to conclude with sufficient
certainty that there is enough evidence to warrant pursuing the matter.
To report a breach, you can contact my office by phone at 0845 6010987, by e-mail to
ask@ombudsman-wales.org.uk or via the website at www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk A special leaflet
on making complaints about alleged breaches of the Code is available on request or on the website.

Vexatious complaints
See Paragraph 6(1)(d)
You must not make complaints against other members or staff members or people working on
behalf of your authority which are not founded in fact and which are motivated by malice (a desire
to do them harm) or by political rivalry. Unfortunately, there have been instances where members
have sought to bring complaints about rivals which are designed to disadvantage them, sometimes
in the run-up to elections, and where the evidence of any breach is weak or non-existent. I
consider that in the first instance such conduct should be considered under the relevant authority’s
local resolution process.
Where specific details of such complaints are passed to local press and media, this may prejudice
an investigation and as I have explained may also be a breach of the Code. You must report wellfounded alleged breaches to me and to your Monitoring Officer, not to your local newspaper or
radio station. The press will properly cover the business of any hearings and their outcomes, and
members making allegations should not generate publicity in advance of these.
The Code should not be used by members to pursue their political or private differences. You
should therefore avoid making complaints which have little or no substance (frivolous complaints)
which are designed mainly to annoy the person complained about, for example, when you may
disagree with a member’s approach to your authority’s business or their role as member. Where

Page 129
21

I find evidence to suggest that a complaint has been made to my office which is not founded in
fact and has been motivated by malice or political rivalry I will consider this to be a serious matter
and I may investigate. Making vexatious, malicious or frivolous complaints is not only a breach
of this paragraph but may also be contrary to your other obligations under the Code such as the
requirement not to bring your position as councillor into disrepute or not to use your position for
an improper purpose.
Example
A member of a county borough council claimed that the leader of the Council had offered to
provide another councillor and his group of members with office facilities if that councillor
supported the leader’s preferred candidate for the post of Chief Executive. The evidence
supported the leader’s position that the two matters were unconnected and that therefore the
complaint was malicious. The Adjudication Panel suspended the member making the complaint
for 12 months.

Co-operating with investigations
See Paragraph 6(2)
You must co-operate with an investigation when it is being conducted by me or by your Monitoring
Officer using our statutory powers. Not to do so is itself a breach of the Code. This means that
you should reply promptly to all correspondence and telephone calls, make yourself available for
interview if required and make available copies of any requested documents. It would be helpful
if you could identify any concerns that you may have during the course of the investigation so
that these can be promptly resolved. My office and your Monitoring Officer will make reasonable
allowances for urgent pressures you face and arrangements previously made, for example, for
holidays. However, you are expected to give priority to their investigations to avoid matters being
needlessly drawn out. The requirement to co-operate with an investigation applies whether you
are a witness or the subject of the investigation.
I am aware of instances where members accused of breaches of the Code have sought to put
pressure on the individuals making the complaint or on other witnesses. I regard such behaviour
as entirely unacceptable. You must not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or
is likely to be a complainant, a witness, or involved in the administration of any investigation or
proceedings relating to a failure to comply with the Code.
However much you may be concerned about allegations that you or a fellow councillor failed to
comply with the Code, it is always wrong to bully, intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person
involved in the investigation or hearing. Even though you may not have breached the Code, you
will have your say during any independent investigation or hearing, and you should let these
processes follow their natural course.

Page 130
22

If you intimidate a witness in an investigation about your conduct, for example, you may find
yourself subject to another complaint that you have breached paragraph 4(c) of the Code with
regard to bullying or harassment, or paragraph 6(1)(a) in respect of bringing the office of member
into disrepute.

Using your position improperly
See Paragraph 7(a)
You must not use, or attempt to use, your position improperly to the advantage or disadvantage of
yourself or anyone else. This paragraph applies at all times and not just when you are carrying
out your duties as a member. You should not use, or attempt to use, your public office either for
your or anybody else’s personal gain or loss. For example, your behaviour would be improper if you
sought to further your own private interests through your position as a member. This also applies if
you use your office to improve your wellbeing at the expense of others.
Members who own land, or whose close personal associates own land, need to be particularly
cautious where planning matters are concerned. If you are in any doubt, you should take advice.
This applies equally to members of community councils when your Council is consulted on planning
matters. Similarly, while it is reasonable to expect members to help constituents apply to the
Council, for example, for housing, it is quite inappropriate to seek to influence the decision to be
taken by the officers.
The provisions of the Bribery Act 2010 apply to members carrying out their public functions.
Should a member be convicted of a criminal offence under this Act then it is likely that they
will also have used their position improperly (in breach of paragraph 7(a)) and be likely to have
brought the office of member or their authority into disrepute in breach of paragraph 6(1)(a). If any
complaint which is made to me concerns conduct which may amount to a criminal offence then I
am likely to refer the matter to the police.
Example
A member of a county council had requested that land in his ownership in Village A be included
as suitable for development in the Council’s Local Development Plan (LDP). When the Council was
considering suitable settlement areas for inclusion in the LDP, officers recommended that land in
the neighbouring village (Village B) be included in the draft plan instead. Despite having received
very clear advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer on his prejudicial interest the member
e-mailed the Council’s planning policy officer and outlined a number of arguments which he
claimed favoured the inclusion of his land in Village A as opposed to the land in Village B. At the
relevant time the draft plan had been disclosed to members of the Council on a confidential basis
and had not been disclosed publicly.

Page 131
23

The Adjudication Panel found that by sending the e-mail the member had breached paragraph 7(a)
of the Code by attempting to use his position improperly for his own advantage. At the hearing he
sought to apportion blame on the Council’s Monitoring Officer for failing to advise and train him
properly on the Code when this clearly was not the case. His actions also brought his office and
the Council into disrepute. The member was disqualified from holding office for 18 months for this
and other breaches of the Code.

The authority’s resources
See Paragraph 7(b)
You must only use or authorise the use of the resources of the authority in accordance with its
requirements. This paragraph also applies at all times. Where your authority provides you with
resources (for example telephone, computer and other IT facilities, transport or support from
council employees), you must only use these resources or employees for carrying out your local
authority business and any other activity which your authority has authorised you to use them for.
You must be familiar with the rules applying to the use of these resources made by your authority.
Failure to comply with your authority’s rules is likely to amount to a breach of the Code. If you
authorise someone (for example a member of your family) to use your authority’s resources, you
must take care to ensure that this is allowed by your authority’s rules.

Using resources for proper purposes only
See Paragraphs 7(b)(v) and 7(b)(vi)
You must make sure you use the authority’s resources for proper purposes only. It is not
appropriate to use, or authorise others to use, the resources for political purposes, including party
political purposes. When using the authority’s resources, you must have regard, if applicable, to any
guidance issued by your authority.
You should never use authority resources for purely political purposes, including designing and
distributing party political material produced for publicity purposes. However, your authority may
authorise you to use its resources and facilities for political purposes in connection with your
authority’s business, for example, holding meetings of your political group. In this case, you must
be aware of the limitations placed upon such use for these purposes. Members should also have
regard to the fact that periods leading up to local government elections are particularly sensitive
in this regard. Using your authority’s resources outside of these limitations is likely to amount
to a breach of the Code. Some authorities will permit members to use authority-supplied IT
equipment such as laptops for ancillary use. Provided that such usage is in line with the authority’s
requirements, there would not be a breach, but sending mass e-mails as part of an election
campaign, for example, would not be appropriate.

Page 132
24

Where, however, there is no policy or the policy is silent you may not use these resources for any
political or private purposes.
Example
A member of a county council was found in breach of the Code for making improper use of his
council-issued computer equipment for private purposes by downloading inappropriate adult
pornographic images and sending a number of letters to a local newspaper, which he falsely
represented as being from members of the public. The Adjudication Panel found that the member
had misused the Council’s equipment in breach of the Code and had brought the office of member
into disrepute. He was disqualified from being or becoming a member of a local authority for 2
years and 6 months.
Example
A member of a county borough council was found in breach of the Code for using his councilissued mobile phone excessively for private purposes. Whilst limited personal use was permitted
under the Council’s IT policy a bill in excess of £1000 was incurred in respect of private calls which
the member had made. The Adjudication Panel suspended the member for 9 months for this and
other breaches.

Reaching decisions objectively
See Paragraph 8(a)
When taking part in meetings of your authority, or when arriving at decisions relating to the
authority’s business, you must do so with an open mind and objectively. During the decisionmaking process you must act fairly and take proper account of the public interest.
In some decisions, such as those taken by planning committees, you are required always to make
your decisions on the basis of the facts in front of you, and not to have made your mind up
in advance to such an extent that you are entirely unprepared to consider all of the evidence
and advice you receive. Having a completely closed mind is known as pre-determination. You
are entitled to hold a preliminary view about a particular matter in advance of a meeting (predisposition) as long as you keep an open mind and are prepared to consider the merits of all the
arguments and points made about the matter under consideration before reaching your decision.
Pre-determination on the other hand would be where you have clearly decided on a course of
action in advance of a meeting and are totally unwilling to consider the evidence and arguments
presented on that matter during the meeting. Pre-determination could not only invalidate the
decision, it would also amount to a breach of the Code.

Page 133
25

Section 78 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 prohibits a member of an overview or
scrutiny committee meeting from voting on a question at a meeting, if before the meeting, the
member has been given a party whip relating to the question.
In order for me to investigate complaints of “whipping” of votes by political groups there must be
written evidence or other corroborative evidence available of the whip. Suppositions based upon
the voting patterns of particular groups will not be sufficient evidence of a whip.

Considering advice provided to you and giving reasons
See Paragraph 8(b)
You must have regard to all of the advice you receive from your authority’s officers, especially
advice from the Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer, Monitoring Officer and Chief Legal Officer
where they give it under their statutory duties. Such advice may also be contained in policy and
guidance documents produced by your authority. This is a complex area and there are provisions
within other legislation which underpin it, but in general, it goes well beyond a requirement to simply
consider and reject advice if it is not welcome. I expect members to follow the advice unless there are
strong reasons not to do so, and where a decision is made not to follow advice, it is highly advisable
to record the reasons for not doing so.
It is worth reflecting also that this places a considerable onus on statutory officers to consider their
formal advice carefully, and again, where they believe it is likely to be contentious, to keep a record
of it. There may be isolated cases where advice is given to a member which, when followed, leads
to a breach of the Code. In investigating such cases, if the evidence suggests that there has been a
breach, I would generally regard the flawed advice as a factor in mitigation, rather than as evidence
that no breach occurred.
It is always helpful, if you can, to get advice as early as possible. If you can, ask for advice in
good time before a meeting, rather than at the meeting or immediately before it starts. Make sure
you give the officer concerned all of the information they need to take into account when giving
you advice.
If you seek advice, or advice is offered to you, for example, on whether you should register a
personal interest, you should have regard to this advice before you make up your mind. Failure to
do so may be a breach of the Code.
You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory requirements and any
reasonable requirements imposed by your authority. Giving reasons for decisions is particularly
important in relation to regulatory decisions and decisions where people’s rights are affected but it
is not confined to these.

Page 134
26

As a matter of good practice, where you disagree with officer recommendations in making a
decision, you should give clear reasons for your decision. This applies to decisions to vote against
the advice of the statutory officers, even if you lose the vote. If you decide to vote against their
advice, you should ensure that your reasons for doing so are recorded in the relevant minutes. You
should be aware that voting against the advice of the statutory officers without good reason may
be a breach of the Code.
In reaching decisions where the advice is not provided by the statutory officers, you should still
have regard to the advice provided by officers and take it into account in reaching your decision.
You may also wish to have regard to other advice you have received and, of course, to the position
adopted by a political group of which you are a member. In some circumstances, such as planning
decisions, you must not vote on the basis of a “whip” imposed by your group. In others, it is
reasonable to do so but you should avoid having an entirely closed mind prior to a debate. Again,
whatever the reasons for voting against officer advice, it is highly advisable to record them.
Example
A member of a county council who chaired a council meeting refused to allow the Council’s
Monitoring Officer to advise members during a debate about the Council’s “Annual Letter” from the
Wales Audit Office. Also, when the Monitoring Officer did manage to intervene to express grave
concerns about the way in which the proceedings were being conducted, he failed to have regard
to the limited advice she was allowed to offer and simply said that he “noted her comments”.
The member was found to have breached paragraph 8(a)(iii) of the Code. The Adjudication Panel
took into account the member’s full apology and expressions of remorse for his behaviour and
indicated that had the member not already accepted his wrongdoing it would have imposed a
greater sanction than the 4 months’ suspension it imposed.

Expenses
See Paragraph 9(a)
You need to follow the law and your authority’s requirements in claiming expenses and allowances.
If you are in any doubt about your entitlements, or the proper way to claim, you should ask for
advice. You need to keep proper records of expenditure supported by receipts where appropriate,
so that you can properly evidence your claims. Even if a particular scheme does not require you to
submit receipts, you are strongly advised to keep these so that you can prove how much you have
actually spent on the items you are claiming, for example, for childcare.

Page 135
27

Example
A member of a county borough council was alleged to have used the Child/Dependent Care
Allowance to pay his wife to look after their daughter. During the investigation it transpired that
he had paid his adult son (from a previous marriage) a regular weekly income to care for the child
as and when required. The member was able to provide proof of the payments through receipts
and cheque counterfoils. In view of this there was no evidence of any failure on the part of the
member to comply with the Code.

Gifts and hospitality
See Paragraph 9(b)
It is important that you do not accept any gifts or hospitality for yourself, or on behalf of others,
which would place you under obligation or appear to do so. Accepting such gifts or hospitality
could be regarded as compromising your objectivity when you make decisions or carry out the
work of your Council. This is also true of any services or gifts in kind.
This does not prevent you from attending official events such as a civic reception or working
lunch where these are authorised by your authority. (See also the section on registering gifts and
hospitality at page 44).

Page 136
28

3. Personal and prejudicial interests
The elements of the Code which cover personal and prejudicial interests give rise to many
questions from members. They are designed to safeguard the principles of selflessness and
objectivity. They are intended to give members of the public confidence that decisions are being
taken in their best interests, and not in the best interests of members of authorities or their close
personal associates.
Personal interests relate to issues where you or a close personal associate may have some link to
a matter under discussion. These interests become prejudicial where an informed independent
observer could conclude that the interest would influence your vote, or your decision.
In my experience it is the distinction between personal and prejudicial interests, and what action
a member should take depending on the nature of their interest, that causes the most difficulty
for members.
The paragraphs below are designed to offer guidance in this area. I would strongly recommend that
if you are in any doubt about whether you have a personal or prejudicial interest, and, if so, what
you need to do, you should ask your Monitoring Officer for advice. However, the decision on what
course of action should be taken remains with you.
To provide some further assistance, I have attached two flowcharts at Appendix 1 and 2 which
Ceredigion County Council’s Monitoring Officer designed to take you through the questions that
you should ask when deciding whether you have an interest. They are for illustration purposes only
and are not definitive.
Guidance on registering interests is at Section 4.

Personal Interests

Do you have a link or
close connection to the
item to be considered?

See Paragraph 10

While you are carrying out your duties, you need to decide
if you have a personal interest, and if so, whether you need
to disclose it. Most members know that you need to disclose
personal interests at meetings, but there are other occasions, such as when speaking to your
authority’s officers about the matter concerned, when you may also need to do so.
Listed below are some questions that you should ask when deciding if you have an interest.

Page 137
29

Do I have a personal interest?
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority, including when making a decision,
where it relates to or is likely to affect:
1. your job or your business
2. your employer, or any firm in which you are a partner or paid director
3. any person who has paid towards the cost of your election or your expenses as a member
4. any company in which you hold shares with a nominal value of more than £25,000 or where
your holding is more than 1% of the total issued share capital, which has premises or land in
your authority’s area
5. any contract that your authority makes with a firm in which you are a partner, paid director
or hold shares in as described in 4
6. any land in which you have an interest and which is in your authority’s area (this is especially
important in all planning matters including strategic plans)
7. any land let by your authority to a firm in which you are a partner, paid director or a body as
set out in 4
8. any body to which you have been elected, appointed or nominated by your authority
9. any:		
		

• public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature

		

• company, industrial and provident society, charity or body directed to charitable purposes

		

• body whose main role is influencing public opinion or policy

		

• trade union or professional association

		

• private club, society or association operating in your authority’s area in which you have
membership or are in a position of general control or management

10. any land in your authority’s area which you have a license to occupy for at least 28 days.
It is always safer to declare an interest, however, if in doubt consult your Monitoring Officer.
Ward and electoral division issues – including Paragraph 10(2)(b)
If a member of the public could reasonably conclude that when you are taking a decision on
behalf of the authority as a whole you are more influenced by issues in your ward or electoral
division than by the interests of the authority as a whole, for example, if the authority needs to
make a provision but you do not think it should be in your ward or electoral division, then you
would have a personal interest.
This paragraph has given rise to great interpretative difficulties. The crux of the problem is that a strict
interpretation of the paragraph, as worded, could well preclude members from participating in any
decision affecting their ward - whereas the underlying policy intention had been to limit the scope of
Page 138
this provision to decisions made by individual councillors in the exercise of executive functions.
30

I do not believe that it would be in the public interest, or in the interests of local democracy, to
adopt a literal interpretation as a matter of course. Therefore as a general rule, in exercising my
discretion, the decision as to whether to investigate will be based on the assumption that the
paragraph is actually directed at individual members making decisions in the exercise of executive
functions and decisions such as those made at planning or licensing committees.
Section 25 of the Localism Act 2011 outlines circumstances when members should not be regarded
as having a closed mind when taking decisions. I will continue to review this in light of any future
decisions and case law on the effect of this provision.
Example
The Adjudication Panel considered a case concerning this provision of the Code. The member had
declared his opposition to a controversial planning application in his election manifesto pledging
to “work tirelessly on issues of concern” and to “oppose the current development proposal”.
Having been elected the member voted against the first planning application which the Council
considered when the application was refused. He was subsequently quoted in the local and
national press defending his decision to oppose the development. The Adjudication Panel found
that the member had acted in such a way that a member of the public might reasonably perceive
a conflict between his role as a local councillor and his role in taking a decision on behalf of his
authority. It suspended the member from the planning committee for a period of 3 months.
Matters affecting your well being or financial position
If a decision might be seen as affecting your well being or financial position or the well being
or financial position of any person who lives with you or with whom you have a close personal
association to a greater extent than other people in your ward or, for members of authorities
which do not have wards (for example, national parks) in your authority’s area, you have a personal
interest. Examples of decisions of this kind include obvious issues like contracts being awarded to
your partner’s company but also issues about the location of developments, where it might make
a big difference to where you or your close personal associates live. Examples have included the
location of playgrounds, where elected members have opposed them near their houses because of
issues about noise.
What is “a body exercising functions of a public nature”?
The phrase “a body exercising functions of a public nature” has been subject to broad interpretation by the
courts for a variety of different purposes. Although it is not possible to produce a definitive list of such
bodies, here are some of the criteria to consider when deciding whether a body meets that definition:
•

Does that body carry out a public service?

•	Is the body taking the place of local or central government in carrying out the function, for
example, a care home with residents supported by social services?
•	Is the body (including one outsourced in the private sector) exercising a function delegated to
Page
139 collecting refuse for the authority?
it by a public authority, for example, a private
company
31

•

Is the function exercised under legislation or according to some statutory power?

•

Can the body be judicially reviewed?

Unless you answer ‘yes’ to one of the above questions, it is unlikely that the body in your case is
exercising functions of a public nature. Examples of bodies included in this definition are health
bodies, council-owned companies exercising public functions and school governing bodies. If you
need further information or specific advice on this matter, please contact your Monitoring Officer.
What does “affecting well-being or financial position” mean?
The term ‘well-being’ can be described as a condition of contentedness and happiness. Anything
that could affect your quality of life, either positively or negatively, is likely to affect your
well-being. A personal interest can affect you or your close personal associates positively and
negatively. So if you or they have the potential to gain or lose from a matter under consideration,
you need to declare a personal interest in both situations.
Who is a close personal associate?
Close personal associates include people such as close friends,
colleagues with whom you have particularly strong connections,
business associates and close relatives. It does not include
casual acquaintances, distant relatives or people you simply
come in contact with through your role as member or your 		
work in the local community.

Close personal associates
include friends, relatives,
business associates and
those with whom you
have been in dispute

Close personal associates can also include someone with whom you have been in dispute, or whom you
may be regarded as having an interest in disadvantaging. For example, being a member of the same golf club
as another person would not of itself constitute a close personal association but having that person as a
weekly golf partner might well do. If you are in doubt, you should ask your Monitoring Officer.
What if I belong to an authority without wards or electoral divisions?
If you are a member of an authority that does not have wards or electoral divisions, you will need
to declare a personal interest whenever you consider a matter in a meeting of your authority
if it affects the well-being or financial position of you or one or more of your close personal
associates, more than it would affect other people in your authority’s area. If you are a local
authority member of a fire authority, for example, you would need to declare an interest under this
heading on matters concerning your nominating authority’s area.
“Twin hatted” members
If you are a member of both a community council and a county council you are not prevented from
discussing the same matters at both. You may, for example, take part in a discussion about a planning

Page 140
32

application about which your Community Council has been consulted and still go on to participate in
a decision about the application if you sit on the Planning Committee of your County Council.
If you do so, you would be well advised to state at the Community Council meeting that you
would be looking at the matter afresh when you consider it at the County Council meeting,
and that you would take into account all of the information and advice provided to you. At
the Planning Committee, you should make it clear that you are not bound by the views of the
Community Council. The advice about objective decision making in respect of paragraphs 8(a) and
10(2)(b) of the Code is also relevant here.
Obviously, if the application was one submitted by the Community Council, then you would have
both a personal and a prejudicial interest, and you would be required to declare it and withdraw in
line with the guidance on “What to do when you have a prejudicial interest” below.
Example
Councillor F participated in a meeting which was considering whether to approve the
complainant’s nomination for the post of school governor; Councillor F’s husband had also applied
for the post. Not only did the Adjudication Panel find that she should have declared a personal
interest in the item of business by virtue of her close personal association with her husband, it also
took the view that as there had been a history of animosity directed towards the member by the
complainant which had been reported publicly, she also had a personal interest by virtue of her
close personal association with the complainant.
A further element to this complaint was that after the complainant had made a complaint to me
about the member, the member sat on the Council’s Standards Committee when it considered a
separate complaint from the complainant against another member. The Adjudication Panel took
the view that, in light of the acrimonious relationship between the member and the complainant,
the member’s participation in the Standards Committee hearing could reasonably have been
regarded as affecting the complainant’s wellbeing because she was entitled to a fair and unbiased
hearing of her complaint.
What if I am not aware of my personal interest?
Your obligation to disclose a personal interest to a meeting only applies when you are aware of or
reasonably ought to be aware of the existence of the personal interest. Clearly you cannot be
expected to declare something of which you are unaware. It would be impractical to expect you
to research into the employment, business interests and other activities of all your close associates
and relatives. However, you should not ignore the existence of interests which, from the point of
view of a reasonable and objective observer, you should have been aware.

Page 141
33

What to do when you have
a personal interest

Once disclosed you can
stay & participate if your
interest is not prejudicial

See Paragraph 11

If you decide that you have a personal interest then you must
take the following action before the matter is discussed or as
soon as it becomes apparent to you, except in limited circumstances:
• declare that you have a personal interest, and the nature of that interest
- at meetings
- when making written representations (including e-mails, faxes etc.)
- when making oral representations, even if your interest is on the register of interests.
• confirm your interest by e-mail or in writing to the officer concerned and to the Monitoring
Officer within 14 days
• consider whether you have a prejudicial interest (see below).
If you are making representations in writing to another member or an officer, you must include
details of any personal interests you have. Similarly, if you are speaking with an officer or member
in person, by phone or video conference you should tell them about any personal interest you
have before making representations or when the interest becomes apparent. The Ombudsman
would generally expect officers to make a record of any conversation in which a member has
declared an interest and attach it to the appropriate file.
If you are making a decision as part of an executive or board, you must make sure that the written
record of that decision (for example, minutes of a cabinet meeting) includes details of your
interest. If you have disclosed an interest at a meeting which has not previously been recorded, you
must give it in writing to your authority in line with the arrangements set out by your Monitoring
Officer. Normally, this will mean before, or immediately after the meeting concerned or as soon
as possible thereafter. As a minimum, you need to say in writing what the interest is, what business
considered by the meeting it relates to and you need to sign it.
If you have agreed with your Monitoring Officer that the information about your personal interest
is sensitive information then you should disclose the existence of a personal interest and confirm
that the Monitoring Officer has agreed that the information about it is sensitive. More information
about this is included in the separate section below.
If you declare a personal interest you can remain in the meeting, speak and vote on the matter,
unless your personal interest is also a prejudicial interest. What constitutes a prejudicial interest
is outlined in the following section.

Page 142
34

Prejudicial Interests

Do not be swayed by
what you think - consider
what a member of the public
would reasonably think

See Paragraph 12
Do I have a prejudicial interest?
Your personal interest will also be a prejudicial interest in a
matter if any of the following conditions applies:

• the matter does not fall within one of the exempt categories of business (see below), or
• the matter relates to a licensing or regulatory matter (see paragraph 12(3)),
and
a member of the public, who knows the relevant facts, would reasonably think your personal
interest is so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest.
What is so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement?
If a reasonable member of the public with knowledge of all the relevant facts would think that
your judgement of the public interest might be prejudiced, then you have a prejudicial interest.
This is an objective test. You must decide not whether you would take the decision without
prejudice, but whether you would be seen as doing so.
You must ask yourself whether a member of the public, if he or she knew all the relevant facts,
would think that your personal interest was so significant that it would be likely to prejudice your
judgement. In other words, the interest must be perceived as likely to harm or impair your ability to
judge the public interest.
The mere existence of local knowledge, or connections within the local community, will not
normally be sufficient to meet the test. There must be some factor that might positively harm your
ability to judge the public interest objectively. The nature of the matter is also important, including
whether a large number of people are equally affected by it or whether you or a smaller group are
particularly affected.
Some general principles must be remembered when applying this test. You should clearly act in the
public interest and not in the interests of any close personal associates. You are a custodian of the
public purse and the public interest and your behaviour and decisions should reflect this responsibility.
You would have a prejudicial interest in a planning application proposal if a close personal
associate of yours (for example, your son or a good friend) lives next to the proposed site. This
is because your close personal associate would be likely to be affected by the application to a
greater extent than the majority of the inhabitants of the ward or electoral division affected by the
decision (or authority, if your authority does not have wards) and this gives you a personal interest
in the issue. The close personal association means a reasonable member of the public might think
that it would prejudice your view of the public interest when considering the planning application.
It does not matter whether it actually would or not.

Page 143

35

In other cases, where there has been a dispute between you and an individual who could be
disadvantaged by a decision, an informed reasonable member of the public might conclude that
you would be inclined to vote accordingly, whether this is the case or not.

Does the matter fall within one of the exemptions?
See Paragraph 12(2)
A member will not have a prejudicial interest if the business falls within one of a number of
exemptions which are set out below.
The business relates to:
• another relevant authority of which you are also a member
• another public authority or a body exercising functions of a public nature in which you hold
a position of general control or management
• a body to which you have been elected, appointed or nominated by your authority
• your role as school governor where you have not been appointed or nominated by your authority
(for example, a parent governor) unless the business specifically relates to your school
• your role as a member of a health board where you have not been appointed by your authority
• housing - if you hold a tenancy or lease with the authority, as long as the matter does not relate
to your particular tenancy or lease and you do not have arrears of rent of more than 2 months
• school meals or school transport and travelling expenses, if you are a parent, guardian,
grandparent of, or have parental responsibility for, a child in full-time education unless it
relates particularly to the school your child attends
• decisions about statutory sick pay if you receive or are entitled to receive it from your authority
• an allowance or payment for members. I do not consider a member being put forward for
election to a council office which attracts a Special Responsibility Allowance to have a
prejudicial interest as I consider them to be covered by this dispensation.
These exemptions will not apply where the business you are considering is about determining
an approval, consent, license, permission or regulation. I consider these descriptions to refer to a
narrow category of decisions, such as granting planning consent and licensing decisions. A wider
interpretation of approval, for example, would cover almost every aspect of your authority’s
business and was clearly not intended.
If one of the exemptions applies you are not regarded as having a prejudicial interest. You still must
disclose your personal interest but you are allowed to participate in the item under discussion.

Page 144
36

Example
Two members of a county borough council, who were sisters, were found by the Council’s
Standards Committee to have failed to declare both personal and prejudicial interests when they
decided to allocate funds from their Members’ Small Payments Scheme to a company, in respect of
which one of the members was a non-paid director. During my investigation one of the members
disputed the fact that she had received advice from the Monitoring Officer about the disclosure of
such interests, and the other member had, despite receiving advice on the declaration of interests,
falsely declared that she had no interest in the company on the nomination form. The Standards
Committee considered the breaches of the Code to be serious ones. It decided to censure both
members.
Example
A standards committee determined that the circumstances in which a member’s membership of a
local organisation had ended resulting in an acrimonious and ongoing dispute between her and the
organisation (including solicitors’ letters for the recovery of a debt) constituted a close personal
association. It found that the nature of this association meant that the member had a prejudicial
interest and that she had failed to declare this and withdraw from numerous meetings when a
financial donation to the organisation had been discussed.

Overview and Scrutiny Committees
See Paragraph 13
Please note: this section does not apply to fire and rescue authorities, and national 		
park authorities.
You have a prejudicial interest in any business before an overview and scrutiny committee or
sub¬committee meeting where both of the following requirements are met:
• that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not) or action taken by
your authority’s executive, board or another of your authority’s committees, sub-committees,
joint committees or joint sub-committees, and
• you were a member of that decision-making body at that time and you were present at the
time the decision was made or action taken.
If the overview and scrutiny committee is checking a decision which you were involved in making
you may be called to attend the meeting to give evidence or answer questions on the matter, and
you may do so provided it is acting under its statutory powers.

Page 145
37

What to do when you have a 		
prejudicial interest
See Paragraph 14 		

You must declare your
interest and withdraw
from the room

If you consider that you have a prejudicial interest in your
authority’s business you must take certain action.
Nevertheless, even where you have a prejudicial interest, the Code supports your role as a
community advocate and enables you in certain circumstances to represent your community and
to speak on issues important to them and to you.
Key point:
If you have a prejudicial interest in a matter being discussed at a meeting, you must, having declared
your personal interest in the matter, leave the room (or any other venue in which the meeting is
being held including, for example, the location of a site meeting).
This is unless members of the public are allowed to make representations, give evidence or
answer questions about the matter, by statutory right or otherwise. If that is the case, you can also
attend the meeting for that purpose. However, you must immediately leave the room or chamber once
the period for considering representations has finished, and before any discussion on the item begins,
even if members of the public are allowed to remain. You cannot remain in the public gallery to observe
the vote on the matter.
In addition, you must not seek to influence a decision in which you have a prejudicial interest.
This rule is similar to your general obligation not to use your position as a member improperly to your
or someone else’s advantage or disadvantage. This means that as well as leaving meetings where the
item is discussed, you should also not write or make any oral representations about the matter.
Do I have a statutory right to speak to the meeting?
The Code does not provide you with a general right to speak to a meeting where you have a
prejudicial interest. However, in limited circumstances, legislation may provide you with a right to
speak (for example, licensing hearings and standards hearings) which the Code recognises. If so, you
will be allowed to exercise that right to speak. Your Monitoring Officer should be able to confirm
whether this is relevant to your case.
If I do not have a statutory right, will I be allowed to speak to the meeting?
The Code aims to provide members with the same rights as ordinary members of the public to
speak on certain matters in meetings, despite having a prejudicial interest. These rights are usually
governed by your authority’s constitution, procedure rules or standing orders, and may be subject
to conditions including time limits or the fact that representations can only be made in writing.
If an ordinary member of the public would be allowed to speak to a meeting about an item, you
should be provided with the same opportunity. You will be able to make representations, answer
questions or give evidence, even if you have a prejudicial interest in the item. You may not take part
Page 146
in the discussion or observe the vote.
38

When must I leave the place where the meeting is held?
You must leave immediately when the time for making representations, giving evidence or
answering questions is finished, and before any debate starts.
What does influencing a decision mean?
You must not make any representations or have any involvement with decisions in which you have
a prejudicial interest, except where you are entitled to speak as described above. Your presence
itself could be perceived to be capable of influencing the decision making process.
What if the public are not allowed to speak to the meeting on the matter?
If an ordinary member of the public is not allowed to speak on the matter, you cannot do so if you
have a prejudicial interest. You must leave the place where the debate is being held and not seek to
influence the debate in any way.
This may be the case, for example, where your authority is discussing a confidential matter in
closed session or does not have procedure rules or standing orders in place that allow members
of the public to speak at a meeting of your authority. Like the public, you are not allowed to
participate if you have a prejudicial interest. However, where the public may be allowed to sit in
the public gallery to observe the meeting, you will be required to leave the room during the
debate and vote.
What if I am summoned to attend a scrutiny committee to discuss business in which I have a
prejudicial interest?
If you are asked to attend by the committee exercising its statutory powers, then you may attend
and participate in the meeting.

Executive or cabinet roles
Please note: this section will not apply to fire and rescue authorities or national park
authorities, unless in the latter case there are executive arrangements in place.
If you are a leader or cabinet member of an authority operating executive arrangements, you 		
must follow the normal rules for executive members who have personal and prejudicial interests.
If your interest is personal but not prejudicial, you can advise the executive on the issue and take
part in executive discussions and decisions as long as you declare your interest. You can also
exercise delegated powers in the matter as long as you record the existence and nature of your
personal interest.
If you are an executive member who can take individual decisions, and you have a prejudicial
interest in a decision, your authority may make other arrangements as set out in sections 14-16 of
the Local Government Act 2000. This means that the decision can be taken by an officer, another
cabinet member, the full executive, or a committee of the executive.

Page 147
39

Although you have a prejudicial interest in a matter, you may be able to make representations,
answer questions and give evidence as long as a member of the public would have the same
rights, but you are barred from decision-making about that matter individually or in cabinet. You
also should not participate in any early consideration of it, or exercise any delegated powers in
relation to it. If you have delegated powers in that area, you should refer the consideration and any
decisions on the matter to the cabinet to avoid the perception of improper influence.

Dispensations
If I have a prejudicial interest, can I obtain a dispensation to allow me to take part in the meeting?
You can apply in writing to your authority’s Standards Committee for a dispensation to speak and/
or vote on a matter on one or more of the following grounds:
• at least 50 per cent of the authority or committee members would be prevented from taking
a full part in a meeting because of prejudicial interests
• at least half of the cabinet would be so prevented (the leader should be included in the
cabinet in calculating the proportion)
• in the case of a county/county borough council, the political balance at the meeting would
be upset to such an extent that the outcome would be likely to be affected
• the nature of your interest is such that your participation would not harm public confidence
• your interest is common to a significant proportion of the general public
• you have a particular role or expertise which would justify your participation
• the business is being considered by an overview or scrutiny committee and you do not have a
pecuniary interest; the business relates to the finances or property of a voluntary organisation
and you sit on its board or committee in your own right and you do not have any other
interest, although in this instance, any dispensation will not let you vote on the matter, or
• the committee believes that your participation would be in the interests of the people in
your authority’s area and that the committee notifies Welsh Ministers within seven days.
You can apply for a dispensation individually and, in certain circumstances, you can make joint
applications where a number of members want to obtain a dispensation to speak or vote on the
same matter. If the Standards Committee approves your application, it must grant the dispensation
in writing and before the meeting is held. If you need a dispensation, you should apply for one as
soon as is reasonably possible.

Page 148
40

Only the Standards Committee can grant the dispensation and will do so at its discretion. The
Standards Committee will need to balance the public interest in preventing members with
prejudicial interests from taking part in decisions, against the public interest in decisions being
taken by a reasonably representative group of members of the authority. If failure to grant a
dispensation will result in an authority or committee not achieving a quorum, this may well
constitute grounds for granting a dispensation.
Where you hold a dispensation, you can also make written representations but you must provide
details of the dispensation in any correspondence. If you make oral representations, whether in
person or by phone, you must refer to the dispensation and confirm this in writing within 14 days.

Page 149
41

4. Registration of Interests
Key points:
All members of authorities have to provide a record of their interests in a public register of
interests. If you are a member of a county or county borough council, fire authority or national
park authority, you must tell your Monitoring Officer in writing within 28 days of taking office, or
within 28 days of any change to your register of interests, of any interests which fall within the
categories set out in the Code, outlined below.
You need to register your interests so that the public, authority staff and fellow members know
which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. The register is a document that can
be consulted when (or before) an issue arises, and so allows others to know what interests you
have, and whether they might give rise to a possible conflict of interest.
The register also protects you. You are responsible for deciding whether you should declare an
interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know early on if others think that a potential
conflict might arise. It is also important that the public know about any interest that might have to be
declared by you or other members, so that decision making is seen by the public as open and honest.
This helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained.
As previously mentioned, unless you are a community councillor, you must tell your Monitoring
Officer in writing within 28 days of taking office, or within 28 days of any change to your register of
interests, of any interests which fall within the categories set out in the Code. These categories include:
• your job(s) or business(es)
• the name of your employer or people who have appointed you to work for them
• the name of any person who has made a payment to you in respect of your election or
expenses you have incurred in carrying out your duties
• the name of any person, company or other body which has a place of business or land in the
authority’s area, and in which you have a shareholding of more than £25,000 (nominal value)
or have a stake of more than 1/100th of the share capital of the company
• any contracts between the authority and yourself, your firm (if you are a partner) or a
company (if you are a paid director or if you have a shareholding as described above) including
any lease, licence from the authority and any contracts for goods, services or works. Where
the contract relates to use of land or a property, the land must be identified on the register
• any land and property in the authority’s area in which you have a beneficial interest (or a
licence to occupy for more than 28 days) including, but not limited to, the land and house
you live in and any allotments you own or use

Page 150
42

• your membership or position of control or management in:
- any other bodies to which you were elected, appointed or nominated by the authority
-	any bodies exercising functions of a public nature (described above), or directed to
charitable purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or
policy, including any political party or trade union
- any private club, society or association operating within your authority’s area.

Sensitive information
Key points:
You may be exempt from having to include sensitive information on your register of interests. If
your personal interest in a matter under discussion at a meeting is sensitive information, you will
need to declare that you have a personal interest but you will not have to give any details about
the nature of that interest.
Sensitive information may include your sensitive employment (such as certain scientific research
or the Special Forces) or other interests that are likely to create a serious risk of violence or
intimidation against you or someone who lives with you should they become public knowledge.
You should provide this information to your Monitoring Officer and explain your concerns
regarding the disclosure of the sensitive information; including why it is likely to create a serious
risk that you or a person who lives with you will be subjected to violence or intimidation. You do
not need to include this information in your register of interests, if your Monitoring Officer agrees.
Ultimately, you must decide what information to include on your publicly available register of
interests. If information on your register ceases to be sensitive you must notify your Monitoring
Officer within 28 days asking them to amend the information accordingly.

Page 151
43

Gifts and hospitality
Key points:
You must register any gifts or hospitality worth more than the amount specified by your authority
that you receive in connection with your official duties as a member and the source of the gift or
hospitality.
You must register the gift or hospitality and its source within 28 days of receiving it. Like other
interests in your register of interests, you may have a personal interest in a matter under
consideration if it is likely to affect a person who gave you a gift or hospitality that is registered.
If that is the case, you must declare the existence and nature of the gift or hospitality, the person
who gave it to you, how the business under consideration relates to that person and then decide
whether that interest is also a prejudicial interest. It is also good practice to provide a note of any
offers of gifts which you have declined.
Is the gift or hospitality connected to my official duties as a member?
You should ask yourself, would I have been given this if I was not on the Council? If you are in
doubt as to the motive behind a gift or hospitality, I recommend that you register it or speak to
your Monitoring Officer.
You do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as a member,
such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family, or gifts which you do not accept. However,
you should always register a gift or hospitality if it could be perceived as something given to you
because of your position or if your authority requires you to.
What if I do not know the value of a gift or hospitality?
The general rule is, if in doubt as to the value of a gift or hospitality, you should register it, as a
matter of good practice and in accordance with the principles of openness and accountability in
public life. You may have to estimate how much a gift or hospitality is worth. Also, an accumulation
of small gifts you receive from the same source over a short period that add up to the value
specified by your authority or over should be registered.
The Code also refers to material benefit or advantage. The measure of this would be if an
informed independent observer could conclude that you might be perceived to be better off
as a consequence.

Page 152
44

Appendix 1
Personal Interests
Questions to ask yourself. If in doubt you should ask your Monitoring Officer.
STEP 1
Does the
Code
apply?

Personal Interests

STEP 2
Do you
have a
personal
interest?

Are you:
• conducting the business of your authority?
• acting, claiming to or giving the impression that you are acting, in your official capacity as a member or
representative of your authority?
• a cting as your authority’s appointee or nominee on any other body without its own code of conduct?

The Code does apply.
Continue to Step 2.
Does the business relate to or is it likely
to affect:
1. your job or business?
2. your employer or company?
3. any person who has paid towards your
election or expenses as a member?
4. any company in which you hold shares with
the nominal value of more than £25000 or
where your holding is more than 1% of the
total share capital, which has premises or land
in your authority’s area?
5. any contract that your authority makes with
your company or a company in which you
hold shares? (as described in 4)
6. any land in which you have an interest?
7. a ny land let by your authority to your
company? (as described in 4)
8. any body to which you have been elected or
appointed by your authority?
9. a ny
• public authority or body exercising functions
of a public nature?
• company, industrial and provident society,
charity or body directed to charitable
purposes?
• body whose main role is influencing public
opinion or policy?
• trade union or professional association?
• private club, society or association operating
in your authority’s area in which you have
membership or are in a position of general
control or management?
or
10. a ny land in your authority’s area which you
have a license to occupy for at least 28 days?

YES

NO

Might a
member of
the public
reasonably
conclude that
when making
a decision
you are more
influenced by
issues in your
ward than by
the interests
of your whole
authority?

OR

If YES, you have a PERSONAL INTEREST
You must:
• declare your interest and the nature of that interest at:
- meetings
- when making written representations
- when making oral representations (and confirm it in writing
within 14 days)
Page
153 2)
• consider if you have a prejudicial interest
(see Appendix

The Code does not apply.
No further action required.
Might a decision be
reasonably regarded as
affecting (to a greater
extent than other people
in your ward/authority’s
area):
• your well being or financial
position?
• the well being or financial
position of any person
who lives with you or with
whom you have a close
personal association?
• the employment/ business,
employer, or company
of any person who lives
with you or with whom
you have a close personal
association?
• any company in which any
person who lives with you
or with whom you have a
close personal association
owns shares?

OR

If NO, you do not have a
personal interest
• If the business is before
an Overview or Scrutiny
Committee consider if you
have a prejudicial interest
• Otherwise, no further action
is required

45

Appendix 2
Prejudicial Interests
Questions to ask yourself. If in doubt you should ask your Monitoring Officer.
STEP 3:
Do you
have a
prejudicial
interest?

Would a member of the public, who knows
the relevant facts, reasonably think your
personal interest is so significant that it is
likely to prejudice your judgement of the
public interest?

Prejudicial Interests

YES

NO

Does the business relate to:
• another relevant authority of which you are
also a member?
• another public authority or a body exercising
functions of a public nature in which
you hold a position of general control or
management?
• a body to which you have been elected,
appointed or nominated by your authority?
• your role as school governor where you have
not been appointed or nominated by your
authority (e.g. a parent governor) unless the
business specifically relates to your school?
• your role as a member of a health board
where you have not been appointed by your
authority?
• housing, if you hold a tenancy or lease with
the authority, as long as the matter does not
relate to your particular tenancy or lease and
you do not have arrears of rent of more than
2 months?
• school meals or school transport and
travelling expenses, if you are a parent,
guardian, grandparent of, or have parental
responsibility for, a child in full-time
education unless it relates particularly to the
school your child attends?
• decisions about statutory sick pay if you
receive or are entitled to receive it from your
authority?
• an allowance or payment for members
(subject to certain conditions).

Yes, one of the exemptions applies

You are not regarded as having a prejudicial
interest. You must disclose your personal
interest but you are allowed to participate
in the item under discussion.

Page 154

46

OR

Is an Overview and Scrutiny
Committee considering a decision
made or action taken by your
authority’s executive, board or another
committee and you were a member of
that decision-making body and present
body

NO

YES

You are not regarded as having
a prejudicial interest. You must
disclose your personal interest
but you are allowed to
participate in the item under
discussion.

NO, none of
the exemptions
apply

You have a PREJUDICIAL INTEREST
You must:
• declare your personal interest
• leave the room or any other venue
in which the meeting is being held
• not take part in or influence the
decision-making process
UNLESS
• You have been granted a
dispensation by your standards
committee to take part and/or vote
• Members of the public can make
representations, answer questions
or give evidence
• You have been called to attend
at an overview and Scrutiny
Committee meeting

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae
Pencoed
CF35 5LJ
Tel: 01656 641150
Fax: 01656 641199
E-mail: ask@ombudsman-wales.org.uk
Web: www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk

Page 155

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL
PARK AUTHORITY
THE MEMBER’S CODE OF
CONDUCT - QUICK GUIDE
September 2008

Acknowledgement: This document is based on one produced by Carmarthenshire
County Council who kindly allowed the Authority to amend this for their own use.
1

Page 157

This booklet has been issued to provide a quick reminder of
the main points of the Code, but it is not intended as legal
advice. The full Code is available in the Members’ Handbook. If
you need advice or guidance about the Code please contact the
Monitoring Officer or the Authority’s Solicitor.

THINGS YOU MUST DO
• Follow the Code when you are acting as a member of the Authority or
representing the Authority, including meetings with members or officers
• If appointed to another relevant authority or body follow their code if they have
one, otherwise follow the Authority’s code
• Be aware what personal and prejudicial interests are
• Keep your register of interests up to date
• Treat others with respect
• Register gifts and hospitality received as a member, whatever the value
• Avoid accepting any gift that would place you under an improper obligation
• Respect the principle of equality of opportunity for all people

2

Page 158

THINGS YOU MUST NOT DO
• Bring the Authority or your office into disrepute
• Use the Authority’s resources improperly, imprudently or unlawfully
• Compromise the impartiality of people who work for the Authority
• Bully or harass any person
• Use your position improperly for personal gain or to advantage someone else
• Attend meetings where you have a prejudicial interest-there is one exception
(P.5)
• Disclose confidential information, other than where the law allows it.
• Prevent anyone from getting information to which they are entitled

DEALING WITH INTERESTS
You must make decisions only on their merits and in the public interest. Apply
this quick threestep test to find out if you might have a personal interest or a
personal and prejudicial interest and if so what action you must take:-

STEP ONE - DO I HAVE A PERSONAL INTEREST?
• Does the issue affect the well-being or finances of you, a person with whom you
live or a person with whom you have a close personal relationship more than
most other people who live in the Authority’s area?
OR
• Does the issue relate to an interest that you must register, for example
interests in land, contracts, your employment or your business, shares that you
hold, and so forth (see paragraph 10(2)(a) of the Code)?
3

Page 159

OR
• Might a member of the public reasonably see a conflict between your duty to
take the decision on behalf of the Authority as a whole and your role in
representing people living or working in the Park’s area?
OR
• Does the issue relate to a body to which you are elected or appointed by the
Authority or to any other body e.g. company, charitable body, lobby group, trade
or professional association or private club or society of which you are a member
or hold a position of control or management?
If you answered no to all 4 questions then you are unlikely to have a personal
interest and can speak and vote. If you answered yes to any of the questions then
it is likely that you have personal interest and you should now go to step two:-

STEP TWO - DO I HAVE A PERSONAL INTEREST THAT IS
ALSO PREJUDICIAL?
• Is your personal interest such that a member of the public with
knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard your interest
as so significant that it would be likely to harm or impair your ability to
judge the public interest?
In considering these questions please note that the code states that there is no
prejudicial interest where the business relates to:• Another relevant authority of which you are a member *
• Another public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature and in
which you hold a position of general control or management *
• A body to which you have been elected, appointed or nominated by the
Authority *

4

Page 160

• Your role as a school governor unless it relates particularly to the school of
which you are a governor *
• Your role as a member of a local health board *
• There are also some exceptions to prejudicial interests where the matter
relates to certain functions relating to sick pay schemes, and also allowances and
pensions payable to members (see paragraph 12(2)(b) of the Code)
* This exception does not apply if the decision relates to any approval, consent, licence,
permission or registration.
If you have either a personal interest or a personal and prejudicial interest then
you should now go to step three:-

STEP THREE - WHAT ACTION SHOULD I TAKE?
• Personal interest, which is not prejudicial-“say and stay”-you can take part
in the meeting and vote but you must declare the interest orally at the start of the
meeting or as soon as the personal interest becomes apparent and give written
notice at or immediately after the meeting.
• Personal and Prejudicial interest-general principle-“say and go”generally you must declare the interest and then withdraw from the room where
the matter is being considered, not take part in the decision, not seek to influence
the decision and not make any oral or written representations, unless you have a
dispensation (see below)
• Prejudicial interest-exception to general principle- if the general public
are allowed to attend the meeting for the purpose of putting forward their views,
giving evidence or answering questions then you can also attend to do the same,
provided that you declare the interest and then leave the meeting immediately
afterwards. You do not need a dispensation for this.

5

Page 161

SHOULD I APPLY FOR A DISPENSATION?
If you have a personal and prejudicial interest which prevents you from speaking
and taking part in the decision-and you would like to do so, contact either The
Monitoring Officer or the Authority’s Solicitor for advice

THE CODE-MAIN ROLES OF KEY PLAYERS
• The Standards Committee grants dispensations, promotes and maintains
standards of conduct, arranges advice and training and determines breach of Code
allegations.
• The Monitoring Officer acts as lead officer for the Standards Committee,
maintains registers of interests, gifts and hospitality (kept by the Democratic
Services Manager) provides advice and training and assists the Standards
Committee to monitor the Code.
• The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales receives and screens all
alleged breaches of the Code, investigates as necessary and where appropriate
refers reports to the Standards Committee or the Adjudication Panel for Wales
for determination.
• The Adjudication Panel for Wales determines breach of Code allegations
(more serious) and determines appeals from Standards Committee decisions.

BREACH OF THE CODE-POTENTIAL OUTCOMES
• Breach but no action needed
• Breach and censure
• Breach and suspension from office for up to 1 year
• Breach and disqualification as member for up to 5 years

6

Page 162

Agenda Item 10

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Standing Orders

Adopted 6 March 2002
Amended 30 January 2004
Amended 23 June 2006
Reviewed and Amended 20 May 2010
Next review date: 2014

Page 163

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Standing Orders
Index
Page
General Provisions

4

1.0

Authority

4

2.0

Application

4

3.0

Definitions

4

4.0

Meetings of the Authority

5

5.0

Meetings of Committees

6

6.0

Quorum

6

7.0

Order of Business

6

8.0

Appointments by the Authority

7

9.0

Minutes of the Authority

8

10.0

Minutes of Committees

8

11.0

Motions

8

12.0

Questions

10

13.0

Rules of Debate

11

14.0

Reversal of Preceding Resolution

15

15.0

Voting

15

16.0

Records of Attendance – Members

15

17.0

Disorderly Conduct – Members

16

18.0

Disturbance – Members of the Public

16

19.0

Recording and Filming of Meetings

16

20.0 Use of Social Media by Members
BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

16

Page 164

2

21.0

The Authority’s Seal

16

22.0

Inspection of Lands, Premises etc

17

23.0

Inspection of Documents

17

24.0

Confidentiality

17

25.0

Appointment of Committees

18

26.0

Suspension of Standing Orders

18

27.0

Interpretation of Standing Orders

19

28.0

Financial Regulations

19

29.0

Appointment of Chief Officers

19

BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

3

Page 165

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Standing Orders
General Provisions
1.0 Authority
The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority established by the Environment Act 1995.

2.0 Application
2.1

The Standing Orders of the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority shall apply for the
regulation of the proceedings and business of the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority.

2.2

All of these Standing Orders shall apply to meetings of the full Authority. Standing Orders
5-10, 11.7 -11.9, 12-26 shall apply to meetings of committees and sub-committees of the
Authority.

3.0 Definitions
"The Authority" shall mean the Annual, Ordinary or Extraordinary meeting of the full
membership of the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority.
"Member" shall mean an elected Councillor appointed to the Authority by a Local
Authority or a person appointed to the Authority by the Welsh Assembly Government.
"Chairman" and "Deputy Chairman" shall mean the Members so appointed for the
time being in accordance with Standing Order 8.0.
"Chief Executive" shall mean the person appointed by the Authority in accordance with
the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994 and the Environment Act 1995.
"Officer" shall mean a person employed on behalf of the Authority.
"Written" shall include by both manual and electronic means and to the extent that any
notice, request or communication from a member is required to be given in writing and/or
signed, such notice, request, communication and/or signature may be given by electronic
means from that member’s individual email account.

4.0 Meetings of the Authority
BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

Page 166

4

4.1

Number of Meetings
One Annual meeting and such other meetings for the transaction of general business as
the Authority shall determine.

4.2

Dates of Meetings
The meetings of the Authority shall be held as near as may be at regular
intervals on such dates as the Authority shall determine. The Chief Executive in
consultation with the Chairman shall have authority to change the date of any meeting of
the Authority if, in the opinion of the Chairman, such change is necessary for the
convenient and/or efficient dispatch of Authority business provided notice of such change is
given not less than four clear working days before the original date.

4.3

Extraordinary Meetings

4.3.1

An Extraordinary meeting of the Authority may be called at any time by the Chairman or, if
the office of Chairman is vacant, the Deputy Chairman.

4.3.2

In addition the Chairman shall call an Extraordinary meeting of the Authority upon receipt
of a written request for that purpose, signed by five Members of the Authority. Should the
Chairman not call an Extraordinary meeting within four clear working days of receipt of
the request, any five Members of the Authority may forthwith call an Extraordinary
meeting of the Authority.

4.4

Time of Meetings
The meetings of the Authority shall commence at such times as the Authority shall
determine. The Chief Executive in consultation with the Chairman shall have authority to
change the time of any meeting of the Authority if, in the opinion of the Chairman, such
change is necessary for the convenient and/or efficient dispatch of Authority business
provided notice of such change is given not less than four clear working days before the
meeting.

4.5

Summons for a Meeting

4.5.1

The Chief Executive shall issue the summons for any meeting of the Authority not less than
four clear working days before the meeting to which it relates, and shall forward it by
ordinary prepaid post or in the case of those members who have so requested, by
electronic mail.

4.5.2

The Summons for an Extraordinary meeting shall set out all the business proposed to be
transacted at that meeting.

BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

5

Page 167

5.0 Meetings of Committees
5.1

The number, date and time of meetings of Committees shall be as may be determined by
the Committee or its Chairman for the convenient and/or efficient dispatch of its business.

5.2

The Chief Executive shall issue the summons for any Committee not less than four clear
working days before the meeting to which it relates, and shall forward it by ordinary
prepaid post or in the case of those members who have so requested, by electronic mail.

6.0 Quorum
6.1

No business shall be transacted at a meeting of the Authority or Committees unless at
least one third of the whole number of Members of the Authority, Committee or Subcommittee are present. Should more than one third of the membership be disqualified the
quorum shall be determined by reference to the number of Members remaining qualified.
At meetings of the Authority, Committees or Sub-committees, the quorum shall include at
least one local authority member and at least one member appointed to the Authority by
the Welsh Assembly Government.

6.2

If during any meeting of the Authority or Committee the Chairman after counting the
number of Members present declares that there is not a quorum present the meeting shall
stand adjourned.

6.3

The transaction of any business proposed to be but not transacted shall be adjourned to:
a date and time fixed by the Chairman at the time the meeting is adjourned and in default;
the next meeting of the Authority.

6.4

The quorum for the Standards Committee shall be governed by the Standards Committees
(Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2006 which states:
 No business shall be transacted at a meeting of the Standards Committee unless (a) at least three members are present, including the chairperson; and
(b) at least half the members present (including the chairperson) are independent
members

7.0 Order of Business
7.1

Subject to paragraphs 7.2, 7.3 and 7.4 of this Standing Order, the order of business at
every meeting of the Authority shall be:
7.1.1

at the Annual Meeting only in every year, the appointment of the Chairman and
Deputy Chairman in accordance with the procedure set out in Standing Order 8.0;

7.1.2

to choose a person to preside if the Chairman and Deputy Chairman are absent;

BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

Page 168

6

7.1.3

to deal with any business required by statute to be done before any other business;

7.1.4

To note apologies for absence and deal with any correspondence

7.1.5

To receive any declarations of interest: Members are required to declare orally
and in writing at the meeting

7.1.6

to approve and sign as a correct record the Minutes of the last meeting of the
Authority. This sub-clause shall not apply to any Extraordinary meeting of the
Authority unless at such Extraordinary meeting the business transacted alters or
affects in any way any resolution passed at a previous meeting of the Authority for
which the minutes have not received approval and signature;

7.1.7

To deal with any requests to address the meeting in accordance with the
Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme for the time being in force.

7.1.8

the Chairman's announcements and correspondence;

7.1.9

to dispose of business remaining from the last meeting, for example if the previous
meeting was inquorate and business was not completed

7.1.10 The Chief Executive’s announcements
7.1.11 to consider motions in the order in which notice has been received;
7.1.12 other business specified in the summons;
7.1.13 to consider questions of which notice has been given in accordance with Standing
Orders;
7.1.14 such business, unspecified in the summons, as the Chairman may consider urgent.
The nature of the urgency shall be specified in the minutes of the meeting.
7.2

The Order of business falling under items 7.1.1, 7.1.2 or 7.1.3 shall not be displaced.

7.3

At an Extraordinary meeting the Order of business falling under items 7.1.2, 7.1.3 and 7.1.4
shall not be displaced and any other business shall be exactly that set out in the Summons
and no other business shall be considered.

7.4

The order of any other business may be varied either at the Chairman's discretion or by a
resolution passed on a motion duly moved, seconded and put without debate.

8.0 Appointments by the Authority
8.1

At the Annual Meeting of the Authority the first business shall be to elect a Chairman. For
such election and for every appointment under this standing order, nominations shall be in
writing at the meeting. If more than one nomination is received the election shall proceed
BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013
7

Page 169

by ballot by removing the nominee with the lowest number of votes until one of the
nominees has received an absolute majority of the votes cast.
8.2

The Chairman shall be elected first. If the serving Chairman wishes to stand for re-election
the Deputy shall be asked to chair that item. If the Deputy wishes to stand for Chairman
then another Member shall be appointed to chair that item.

8.3

The Authority shall elect a Deputy Chairman in the same manner.

8.4

For every appointment under this Standing Order (which for the avoidance of doubt and
not by way of limitation shall include the election of committee Chairmen and deputy
Chairmen and appointments to outside bodies and of member champions) each person
nominated may at their absolute discretion (and in alphabetical order) address the meeting
for up to two minutes immediately before the ballot is conducted). At the conclusion of
each vote the person presiding will announce the number of votes cast for each person
nominated.

8.5

When there are more than two persons nominated for any position to be filled by the
Authority and on the votes given there is not a majority in favour of one person, the name
of the person having the least number of votes shall be struck off the list and a fresh vote
shall be taken and so on until a majority of votes is given in favour of one person.

9.0 Minutes of the Authority
9.1

No discussion shall take place upon the minutes, except upon their accuracy and any
questions of their accuracy shall be raised by motion. If no question is raised, or if it is
raised then as soon as it has been disposed of, the Chairman shall sign the minutes.

10.0 Minutes of Committees
The minutes of the proceedings of each Committee shall be taken as read at the next
ensuing Ordinary meeting of the Committees and be signed by the Chairman of the latter
meeting.

11.0 Motions
11.1 Notices of Motion
Subject to Paragraph 11.5 notice of every motion to be considered by the Authority shall
be given in writing, signed by at least two members of the Authority, and delivered at least
four clear working days before the next meeting of the Authority to the office of the Chief
Executive. Upon receipt it shall be dated, numbered in the order in which it is received
and entered in a book which shall be open to the inspection of every Member.

11.2 Motions to be set out in Summons
BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

Page 170

8

The Chief Executive shall set out in the summons for every meeting of the Authority all
motions of which notice has been duly given in the order in which they have been received
unless the Member when giving such notice intimated in writing that it is proposed to
move it at some later meeting or has since withdrawn it in writing.

11.3 Motion not Moved
If a motion thus set out in the summons be not moved either by a Member who gave
notice thereof or by some other Member on their behalf it shall, unless postponed by
consent of the Authority, be treated as withdrawn and shall not be moved without fresh
notice.

11.4 Referral to Committee or Sub-committee
11.4.1 If the subject matter of any motion of which notice has been duly given comes
within the province of any Committee it shall, upon being moved and seconded,
stand referred, without discussion to such Committee as the Authority may
determine for consideration and report.
11.4.2 If the Chairman considers it convenient and/or conducive to the efficient dispatch
of business, the Chairman may allow the motion to be dealt with at the meeting at
which it is brought forward.

11.5 Scope of Motion
Every motion shall be relevant to some matter in relation to which the Authority has
powers or duties or which affects the Brecon Beacons National Park.

11.6 Notice of Meeting
The members who have moved a motion which has been referred to any Committee or
Sub-committee shall have notice of the meeting of the Committee at which it is proposed
to consider the motion, and shall have an opportunity to explain the motion.

11.7 Motions and amendments which need not be in writing and may be
moved without Notice
The following motions and amendments need not be in writing and may be moved without
notice:
11.7.1

appointment of a Chairman of the meeting at which the motion is made;

11.7.2

motions relating to the accuracy of the minutes;

11.7.3

that an item of business specified in the summons have precedence;

BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

9

Page 171

11.7.4

that leave be given to withdraw a motion;

11.7.5

extending the time limit for speeches;

11.7.6

amendments to motions;

11.7.7

that the Authority proceed to the next business;

11.7.8

that the question be now put;

11.7.9

that the debate be now put;

11.7.10 that the Authority do now adjourn;
11.7.11 suspending Standing Orders, in accordance with Standing Order No. 27;
11.7.12 motion under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 to exclude the
public;
11.7.13 that a Member named under Standing Order 17.0 be not further heard or do
leave the meeting;
11.7.14 giving consent of the Authority where the consent of the Authority is required by
these Standing Orders.

11.8 Motions affecting Officers
If any question arises at a meeting of the Authority or Committee as to the appointment,
promotion, dismissal, salary, superannuation, conditions of service or conduct of any
Officer or where persons are being interviewed for an appointment with the Brecon
Beacons National Park Authority a motion under Section 100A(4) of the Local
Government Act 1972 to exclude the public shall be moved forthwith by the Chairman and
put without debate.

11.9 Minuting of Motions
The name of the proposer and seconder of any motions or amendments shall be recorded
in the minutes of the meeting of the Authority or Committee

12.0 Questions
12.1 Authority business
A Member may ask the Chairman of the Authority or the Chairman of any committee or
sub-committee any question upon the business of the Authority before the Authority, if
the question is put before the Authority's consideration of such business is concluded.
BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

Page 172

10

12.2 Notice of questions and replies thereto
A Member may:
12.2.1 ask any question relating to the business of the Authority provided written notice
is received at the office of the Chief Executive at least four clear working days
before a meeting;
12.2.2 with the permission of the Chairman, put any question relating to urgent business
but a copy of such question shall, if possible, be delivered to the Chief Executive
not later than 12 noon on the day preceding the meeting
Provided that:
12.2.3 where the desired information is contained in any publication of the Brecon
Beacons National Park it shall be deemed a sufficient reply if the publication
containing the information is indicated;
12.2.4 if a reply to any question cannot conveniently be given orally it will be deemed a
sufficient reply if the answer is circulated to Members with the minutes of the
meeting at which the question has been asked;
12.2.5 every question shall be put and answered without discussion.
12.2.6 a person to whom a question has been put may decline to answer.
12.3

In the application of this Standing Order to any Committee notice shall be to the
office of the Chief Executive.

12.4

A member asking a question under Standing Order 12.2.1 or 12.2.2 may ask one
supplementary question without notice of the member to whom the first question
was asked. The supplementary question must arise directly out of the original
question or the reply.

13.0 Rules of Debate
13.1 Discussion of a Motion or Amendment
A motion or amendment shall not be discussed unless it has been proposed and seconded,
and unless notice has already been given in accordance with Standing Order 11 it shall, if
required by the Chairman, be put into writing and handed to the Chairman before it is
further discussed or put to the meeting.

13.2 Seconder's speech
BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

11

Page 173

A Member when seconding a motion or amendment may declare his/her intention to
reserve speaking until a later period of the debate.

13.3 Member speaking
A Member when speaking shall indicate to the Chairman by raising his or her hand and
address the meeting when called upon by the Chairman. If two or more Members indicate
the Chairman shall call one to speak; the other or others shall be silent. While a Member is
speaking the other Members shall remain silent unless speaking to a point of order or in
personal explanation.

13.4 Content and length of speeches
No speech shall, in the case of the proposer of the motion, exceed five minutes except by
consent of the Chairman.

13.5 Speaking more than once
A Member shall not address the Authority more than once on any motion or amendment,
provided always that a Member may speak:
13.5.1 to a point of order;
13.5.2 in explanation of some material part of a speech made by him/her which he/she
believes to have been misunderstood;
13.5.3 once on an amendment moved by another Member;
13.5.4 if the motion has been amended since that Member last spoke to move a further
amendment; or
13.5.5 on the main issue whether or not the Member has already spoken to an
amendment whether carried or not.

13.6 Amendments to be relevant
An amendment shall be relevant to the motion and shall:
13.6.1

refer a subject of debate to the Authority, Committee or Sub-committee for
consideration or reconsideration;

13.6.2

leave out words;

13.6.3

leave out words and insert or add others;

13.6.4

insert or add words;

BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

Page 174

12

Such omission insertion or additional words shall not have the effect of negating the
motion before the Authority.

13.7 Discussion of amendments

Comment [j1]: I think we need
clarification and advice from Monitoring
Officer here as the issue of still putting
the original motion has caused some
confusion – see also comment below

13.7.1 Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at a time and no further
amendment shall be moved until the amendment under discussion has been
disposed of but notice of any number of amendments may be given.
13.7.2 The Chairman may permit two or more amendments to be discussed together but
not voted on if of the opinion that this course would facilitate the proper conduct
of Authority business.

13.8 Further amendments
13.8.1 If an amendment be lost, other amendments may be moved on the original motion.
If an amendment be carried, the motion as amended shall take the place of the
original motion and shall become the motion upon which any further amendment
may be moved.
13.8.2 The mover and seconder of a motion or an amendment rejected by the Authority
shall not be entitled to move any further amendment on the question under
discussion.

13.9 Withdrawal of motion or amendment
A motion or amendment may be withdrawn by the mover with the consent of the
seconder and of the Authority, which shall be signified without discussion, and no Member
may speak upon it after the mover has asked permission for its withdrawal, unless such
permission has been refused.

13.10 Right of reply
The mover of a motion has a right of reply at the close of the debate on the motion,
immediately before it is put to the vote, but the reply shall be strictly confined to
answering previous speakers and shall not introduce any new matters into the debate. If
an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion shall also have a right of reply at
the close of the debate on the amendment and shall not otherwise speak on the
amendment. The mover of the amendment shall have no right of reply to the debate on
his/her amendment.

13.11 Motions which may be moved during debate
When a motion is under debate no other motion shall be moved except the following:
13.11.1 amendments to the motion;
BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

13

Page 175

Comment [j2]: But this suggests NOT
to take the original motion – needs
clarification

13.11.2 that the Authority proceed to the next business;
13.11.3 that the question be now put;
13.11.4 that the debate be now adjourned;
13.11.5 that the Authority do now adjourn;
13.11.6 a motion under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 to exclude
the public;
13.11.7 that a Member named under Standing Order 17.0 be not further heard or do
leave the meeting.

13.12 Closure motions
A Member may move without comment at the conclusion of a speech of another Member:
"That the Authority proceed to the next business", "That the question be now put", "That
the debate be now adjourned" or "That the Authority do now adjourn", on the seconding
of which the procedure shall be as follows:
13.12.1

on a motion to proceed to next business, unless in the Chairman's opinion the
matter before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed, the Chairman shall
first give the mover of the original motion a right of reply, and then put to the
vote the motion to proceed to next business;

13.12.2

on a motion that the question be now put, unless in the Chairman's opinion the
matter before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed, the Chairman shall
first put to the vote the motion that the question be now put, and if it is passed
then give the mover of the original motion their right of reply before putting the
motion to the vote;

13.12.3

on a motion to adjourn the debate or the meeting, if in the Chairman's opinion
the matter before the meeting has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot
reasonably be sufficiently discussed on that occasion the Chairman shall put the
adjournment motion to the vote without giving the mover of the original motion
their right of reply on that occasion.

13.13 Points of order
13.13.1 A Member may indicate to the Chairman on a point of order or in personal
explanation and shall be entitled to be heard forthwith.
13.13.2 A point of order shall relate only to an alleged breach of a Standing Order or
statutory provision and the Member shall specify the Standing Order or statutory
provision and the manner of the breach.
BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

Page 176

14

13.13.3 A personal explanation shall be confined to some material part of a former
speech by a Member or a report which may appear to have been misunderstood
in the present debate.
13.13.4 The ruling of the Chairman on a point of order or on the admissibility of a
personal explanation shall not be open to discussion.

13.14 Respect for the Chairman
Whenever the Chairman intercedes during a debate a Member then speaking shall be
silent.

14.0 Reversal of Preceding Resolution
No motion to reverse any resolution passed by the Authority within the preceding six
months and no motion or amendment to the same effect as one which has been rejected
within the preceding six months shall be proposed unless the notice thereof given in
pursuance of Standing Order 11.0 bears the names of at least ten Members. When any
such motion or amendment has been disposed of by the Authority, it shall not be open to
any Member to propose a similar motion within a further period of six months. This
Standing Order shall not apply to motions moved in pursuance of a recommendation of a
Committee or of a report by an officer.

15.0 Voting
15.1

Subject to Standing Order 8.0 every question shall be determined by a show of hands,
unless otherwise decided by a majority of the meeting.

15.2

On the Chairman putting the question no further discussion on it shall take place. The
question having been put by the Chairman and voting having commenced no Member shall
speak, nor any questions be asked.

15.3

In the case of an equal division of votes, the Chairman shall have a second or casting vote
in addition to any vote the Chairman may have as a Member of the Authority.

15.4

If a Member asks a record shall be kept in the Minutes of how the Member voted or
abstained.

15.5

If at least four members so signify, a recorded vote shall be taken and the names of those
voting for, against and abstaining shall be recorded in the minutes

16.0 Records of Attendance – Members
Every Member attending a meeting of the Authority or any of its Committees or Subcommittees of which he/she is a member shall sign his/her name in the attendance book or
sheet provided for that purpose.
BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

15

Page 177

17.0 Disorderly Conduct – Members
17.1

If during any meeting of the Authority the Chairman forms the opinion and notifies the
meeting that any Member is misconducting his/herself by persistently disregarding the
ruling of the Chairman, or by behaving irregularly, improperly or offensively, or by wilfully
obstructing the business of the Authority, the Chairman or any other Member may move
"That the Member named be not further heard", and the motion if seconded shall be put
and determined without discussion.

17.2

If the Member named continues the misconduct after a motion under the foregoing
paragraph has been carried the Chairman shall:
Either move "That the Member named do leave the meeting" (the motion being put and
determined without seconding or debate)
Or adjourn the meeting of the Authority for such period as in the opinion of the Chairman
is expedient.

17.3

In the event of a general disturbance which, in the opinion of the Chairman renders the
due and orderly dispatch of business impossible, in addition to any other power vested in
the Chairman may, without the question being put, adjourn the meeting of the Authority
for such period as the Chairman shall consider expedient.

18.0 Disturbance – Members of the Public
If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting the Chairman shall
warn him/her. If the interruption continues the Chairman shall order his/her removal from
the meeting. In the case of general disturbance in any part of the Chamber open to the
public the Chairman shall order that part to be cleared.

19.0 Recording and Filming of Meetings
While the Authority provides a public filmed record of its meetings the public shall not be
allowed to film or record meetings, except in special circumstances, and at the discretion
of the Chairman.

20.0 Use of Social Media by Members
During meetings of the Authority and its committees Members shall not make use of any
form of social media to communicate to any person.

21.0 The Authority’s Seal
21.1 Custody of Seal
The Common Seal of the Authority shall be kept in the custody of the Solicitor legal
advisers to the Authority.
BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013
16

Page 178

21.2 Sealing of Documents
The Common Seal of the Authority shall not be affixed to any document unless the matter
has been authorised by a resolution of the Authority, Committee or Sub-committee to
which the Authority have delegated their powers in this behalf.

21.3 Attestation of Sealing
The Seal shall be attested by the Chief Executive or the Solicitor to the Authority and an
entry of every sealing of a document shall be made and consecutively numbered in a sealing
register kept by the Solicitor to the Authority and the entry shall be signed by the person
who attested the seal.

22.0 Inspection of Lands, Premises etc
Unless specifically authorised to do so by the Authority or Committee, a Member shall not
issue any order respecting any works which are being carried out by or on behalf of the
Authority or claim by virtue or his/her membership of the Authority any right to inspect or
to enter upon any lands or premises which the Authority have the power or duty to
inspect or enter.

23.0 Inspection of Documents
23.1

A Member may for the purposes of his/her duty as such Member, but not otherwise, on
application to the Chief Executive, inspect any document which has been considered by the
Authority or Committee and if copies are available shall on request be supplied for the like
purposes with a copy of such document.
Provided that a Member shall not knowingly inspect and shall not call for a copy of any
document relating to a matter in which he/she or his/her spouse is professionally
interested or in which he/she has directly or indirectly any pecuniary interest within the
meaning of Section 95 of the Local Government Act 1972 or any personal interest defined
in the Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members and that this Standing Order shall not
preclude the Solicitor to the AuthorityAuthority’s legal advisers from declining to allow
inspection of any document which is or in the event of legal proceedings would be
protected by privilege arising from the relationship of solicitor and client.

23.2

All reports made or minutes kept by the Authority shall as soon as the Authority has
concluded action on the matter to which such reports or minutes relate, be open for
inspection by any Members of the Authority.

24.0 Confidentiality
A Member or Officer of the Authority shall not:
BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

17

Page 179

24.1 disclose any information which has been reported to the Authority or a Committee and
which is confidential information as defined by the provisions of Section 100A of the Local
Government Act 1972; and
24.2 without the permission of the Authority or the relevant Committee disclose any information
which is identified as exempt information in a resolution of the Authority or a Committee
or Sub-committee to exclude the public in accordance with the provisions of Section 100A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

25.0 Appointment of Committees
25.1

The Authority shall appoint such Committees as are necessary to carry out the work of
the Authority and each Committees or Sub-committee so appointed shall subsist until the
next annual meeting of the Authority.

25.2

The Committees shall be those set out in the “Terms of Reference of the Authority and its
Committees” and no other Committees or Sub-committees shall be appointed by the
Authority or its Committees except on a recommendation of the Authority.

25.3

Subject to any provisions to the contrary in any Statute, Standing Order or to earlier
determination by the Authority:
25.3.1 A Member appointed to a Committee of the Authority shall serve thereon
until the Annual meeting of the Authority or until ceasing to be a Member of
the Authority whichever is the earlier;
25.3.2 any Officer co-opted to any working group shall serve on such working group
until the Annual meeting of the Authority or until ceasing to be an Officer
whichever is the earlier;
25.3.3 a Member of the Authority appointed to represent it on a body other than the
Authority or a Committee of it shall serve thereon until the Annual Meeting
of the Authority or until ceasing to be a Member of the Authority whichever
is the earlier.

25.4

In addition to the rights conferred by Standing Order 11.6, Members shall have the right to
attend any meeting of any Committee and to remain present even if a Resolution to
exclude the public is passed. Such Members shall not be entitled to speak or vote at
meetings and shall not be counted for the purposes of ascertaining a quorum, neither shall
he/she be entitled to sign the register of attendance nor to have his/her attendance
reckoned for any purpose of these Standing Orders.

25.5

Such attendance being in the form of observer, shall not rank for the payment of any
expenses.

25.6

This right of attendance shall not apply in the case of any Committee or Sub-committee
exercising a judicial or quasi-judicial function or any Panel interviewing candidates for staff
appointments.

BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

Page 180

18

26.0 Suspension of Standing Orders
26.1

Subject to paragraph 24.2 of this Standing Order, any of the preceding Standing Orders
may be suspended so far as regards any business at the meeting where the suspension is
moved.

26.2

A motion to suspend Standing Orders shall not be moved without notice unless there shall
be present at least two thirds of the whole number of Members of the Authority.

27.0 Interpretation of Standing Orders
The decision of the Chairman on all points of procedure, order and interpretation of
Standing Orders shall be final and no debate may ensue thereon.

28.0 Financial Regulations
The Authority and every Committee, Member and Officer of the Authority shall conform
with the financial regulations made by the Authority under the provisions of Section 151 of
the Local Government Act 1972.

29.0 Appointment of Chief Officers
29.1

The Authority shall establish an Appointment Committee within the requirements of
paragraph 13.3 of Schedule 7 of the Environment Act 1995, comprising as far as possible
the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Authority, Planning, Access and Rights of Way
Committee and Audit and Scrutiny Committee

29.2

Where the Authority propose to appoint a chief officer as defined by Regulation 1(2) of
the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) Regulations 1993 and it is not proposed that the
appointment be made exclusively from among their existing officers, the Appointment
Committee shall:

29.2.1 draw up a person specification and job description for the post
29.2.2 make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to bring it to the
attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; and
29.2.3 make arrangements for a copy of the job pack to be sent to any person on request.
29.3.4 draw up a list of suitable candidates and interview them
29.2.5 make recommendations to the Authority on a final selection, for the Authority to
interview and make the appointment
29.3

where no qualified person has applied, the Authority shall make further arrangements for
advertisement in accordance with Standing Order 27.2.2.

BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

19

Page 181

29.4

Every appointment of a chief officer shall be made by the Authority.

BBNPA: Standing Orders - Approved 20 May 2010
Amended re social media – approved 3 May 2013

Page 182

20

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Planning Protocol

Approved on 30 January 2004
Reviewed, updated and approved 20 May 2010
Reviewed, updated and approved 28 September 2012
Reviewed, updated and approved 22 May 2015 (TBC)
Next Review Date: 20142016

Page 183

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY PLANNING
PROTOCOL
CONTENTS
1.0

Page

Introduction

3

Purpose

3

Application

4

Code of Conduct

4

2.0

Lobbying

5

3.0

Membership of another Local Authority

7

4.0

Formal Site Visits

7

5.0

Meetings of the Planning and Rights of Way Committee
(PAROW)

8

6.0

Decisions Contrary to Officer Recommendations
and/or the Development Plan

11

7.0

Development Proposals by Members/Officers

12

8.0

Training and Monitoring

13

9.0

Complaints/Record-Keeping

13

BBNPA Planning Protocol – Revised document – MarchMay 2015ewed and Approved 28 September
2012
2

Page 184

Planning Protocol
1.0

Introduction

Purpose
1.1

This Planning Protocol has been adopted by the Brecon Beacons National Park
Authority to govern the performance of its planning function. The Protocol has the
following objectives:





To guide Members of the Authority in dealing with planning related
matters
To provide more detailed guidance on the standards to be applied
specifically in relation to planning matters
To apply internal rules to the way in which the Authority will deal with
planning matters
To inform potential users of the planning service, and members of the
public generally, of the standards adopted by the Authority in the
performance of its planning function.

1.2

The Planning Protocol is separate from, and in addition to, the Authority’s Code of
Conduct for Members which was adopted by the Authority on 27 June 2008
although some provisions of the Protocol may to a certain extent deal with issues
which are also dealt with by the Code of Conduct. It aims to reflect the Local
Government Association’s update to its guidance entitled “Probity in Planning – The
Role of Members and Officers” (2002).

1.3

It is useful to include here the following extract from the LGA guidance “The basis of the planning system is the consideration of private proposals against wider
public interests. Much is often at stake in this process, and opposing views are often strongly
held by those involved. Whilst Members should take account of these views, they should not
favour any person, company, group or locality, nor put themselves in a position where they
appear to do so. Members who do not feel that they can act in this way should consider
whether they are best suited to serve on a planning committee.” (para 5.4)

1.4

This amended Protocol was reviewed, amended and approved by the full Authority
on 28 September 201222nd May 2015. It applies from that date.

1.5

The provisions of this Planning Protocol are designed to ensure that whenever
Members consider a matter relating to the planning function all decisions are taken
on proper planning grounds and are taken in a consistent and open manner and that
Members making such decisions are perceived as accountable for those decisions.
The Planning Protocol is also designed to assist Members in dealing with approaches
from applicants/developers and third parties and is intended to ensure that the
decision-making process is sound. In this way the prospect of legal challenge or

BBNPA Planning Protocol – Revised document – MarchMay 2015ewed and Approved 28 September
2012
3

Page 185

complaint against the Authority, its individual Members or officers in making proper
planning decisions is limited.
1.6

Whilst Members have a personal responsibility to ensure that they conduct
themselves at all times within the requirements of this protocol, the Authority’s
officersOfficers, including the Monitoring Officer, and Deputy Monitoring Officer
should be consulted if Members are in any doubt as to the application of the
requirements of the protocol in any circumstances.

Application
1.7

The following guidance should be followed by all Members not only in respect of the
formulation and adoption of development plan policies but also in respect of
development control management functions (planning applications of all types
including listed building consent, and certificates of lawful use, notifications and the
determination of all enforcement matters etc.). It applies to meetings of the
Authority when dealing with such matters and it applies to the conduct of Members
even before a formal application or proposal is submitted.

1.8

Failure to comply with this Planning Protocol may result, or play a significant part, in







the investigation of complaints of maladministration or allegations of failure to
observe the Code of Conduct for Members by the Public Services Ombudsman
for Wales
complaints to the Authority’s Standards Committee
judicial review proceedings in the High Court
appeals to the Assembly (eg in respect of awards of costs)
complaints about the conduct of officers.

An alleged failure by a Member to comply with this Protocol may be referred to the
Authority’s Standards Committee. Other alleged failures shall be dealt with through
the Authority’s complaints procedure
1.9

This Protocol applies to both Members and oOfficers who become involved in
operating the planning system – it is not, therefore, restricted to professional tTown
pPlanners and National Park Authority and Planning, Access and Rights of Way
Committee Mmembers. The successful operation of the planning system relies on
mutual trust and understanding of each other's role. It also relies on each ensuring
that they act in a way which is not only fair and impartial but is also clearly seen to
be so.

Code of Conduct
1.10

The Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members which includes mandatory
requirements with regard to personal interests must be complied with throughout
the decision-making process. Members should also have regard to guidance issued by

BBNPA Planning Protocol – Revised document – MarchMay 2015ewed and Approved 28 September
2012
4

Page 186

the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales. Decisions should not be influenced by
personal interests of Members (including the interests of those with whom they live,
by whom they are employed or with whom they otherwise have a close personal
association) or because of undue pressure exerted by applicants, agents or third
parties such as Town or Community Councils. It is necessary to avoid even giving
the impression that decisions may have been so influenced.
1.11

The responsibility for disclosing a personal interest rests with individual Members. A
similar responsibility applies to oOfficers. In the event of uncertainty, Members
should seek advice on the application of the Code from the Monitoring Officer or
Deputy Monitoring Officer. Early notification of disclosure interests is particularly
important to allow proper consideration of the issues. This Planning Protocol
outlines further rules applicable to the planning process in the Authority.

1.12

In addition to the Authority Code of Conduct, Members should be mindful that
Planning oOfficers will be conducting themselves and the advice they give in
accordance with the Royal .Town Planning Institute (RTPI) T.P.I. Code of
Professional Conduct. Those oOfficers who are members of the R.T.P.IRTPI. are
bound by this code and those officers who are not yet members will be encouraged
to become members and will aspire to the code.

2.0
2.1

LOBBYING
This section is intended to ensure –
•
•

•

that high standards are maintained when planning decisions are taken;
in particular that the integrity of the decision-making process is not impaired,
either in reality or in perception, through the lobbying of those Members who
will make decisions;
that the fact that approaches have been made by lobbyists* are recorded, and
that any representations made to Members form part of the public information
leading to any decision.

(*in this protocol “lobbyist”, “interested person/party” etc includes the applicant,
supporters, objectors, agents and family members etc.).
2.2

To avoid compromising their position in making a decision before they have received
all the relevant information, Members must –
•

Take care in any contact with interested parties to ensure that they are not
unduly influenced in any way by one party or another and to avoid making it
known in advance whether they support or oppose the proposal. If possible any
meetings with Members should be arranged by and attended by an appropriate
officer Officer and will include the Chair of the PAROW Committee or his/her
representative;

BBNPA Planning Protocol – Revised document – MarchMay 2015ewed and Approved 28 September
2012
5

Page 187

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Not advise interested parties or their agents on the likely acceptability of
planning proposals;
Restrict their views to giving procedural advice and listening to concerns and
views;
Direct lobbyists to pPlanning oOfficers, who will include reference to their
opinions, where relevant, in their report;
Not organise support for or against a planning proposal;
Not lobby other Members;
Not pressurise oOfficers to make a particular recommendation in their report;
Not circulate unofficial papers to other Members or at Committee meetings;
Not attend the application site with interested parties or their representatives.
Not allow those with whom they live, by whom they are employed or with
whom they otherwise have a close personal association to exert undue influence
on their decision making.

2.3

Where a Member has been lobbied, he/she should report to the relevant Committee
that he/she has been lobbied and by whom. However, Members must act in the
public interest and not at the behest of any individual or interest. If the Member feels
that he/she no longer retains an open mind on the matter, but or that his/her
impartiality has been compromised, he/she should act as if they had a prejudicial
interest and withdraw from the meeting. If a Member feels that they are subject to
excessive lobbying, they should contact the Monitoring Officer for advice.

2.4

If a Member involved in determining planning matters has responded to lobbying by
openly advocating a particular course of action prior to a Committee meeting, and
there may be particular local circumstances where this is considered appropriate,
that Member should act as if they had a prejudicial interest and withdraw from the
meeting.

2.5

Members involved in determining planning matters who find themselves in a lobbying
situation may wish to take steps to prevent this happening, and explain that whilst
they can listen to what is said, they are constrained from expressing a firm point of
view or an intention to vote one way or another.

2.6

Where Members involved in the determination of planning matters are in attendance
at public meetings they may listen to the debate on current planning matters and
may provide advice about procedures involved in determining an application,
considering unauthorised development etc. Where Members find it appropriate to
express a view on a matter in such meetings so as to indicate that they have made up
their mind on the proposal etc, they should then act as if they had a prejudicial
interest and withdraw from the Authority meeting when he matter is discussed.

2.7

Where a Member receives written representations directly in relation to a planning
application, local plan proposal, enforcement issue etc., the Member shall as soon as
practical pass the correspondence to the Planning Case Officer in order that those

BBNPA Planning Protocol – Revised document – MarchMay 2015ewed and Approved 28 September
2012
6

Page 188

representations may be taken into account in any report to the PAROW
Committee. This does not apply to circular letters which indicate that copies have
also been sent to the Authority itself.
2.8

Where there is a family relationship directly or by marriage related to a planning
application or a development plan policy/proposal, Members should act as if they had
a prejudicial interest and withdraw.

3.0

Membership of another Local Authority

3.1

A Member who is also a member of a town, community or other council may
discuss a planning matter at that level.

3.2

If at the other council’s meeting, or indeed elsewhere, the Member had given the
impression that he/she had made up his/her mind during the debate or in the voting
on a particular planning matter before hearing all the information and advice
presented later at the Authority’s meeting, then they are likely to be considered as
having predetermined the matter (i.e. having a closed mind).

3.3

In those circumstances, the Member should not participate at the PAROW
Committee meeting.
Such participation could lead to a complaint of
maladministration or other legal challenge of the Committee’s decision.

4.0
4.1

Formal Site Visits
Only formal site visits should be made in relation to any ‘live’ current planning
application to be determined by that committee. As part of athe formal decision
making process the PAROW Committee may only decide that a formal site visit
should be made if it is wholly satisfied that:
•

•

•

4.2

Following the oOfficers presentation of the report (but before and all any public
speaking in relation to the proposal), it is considered the application requires the
judgement of Members based on site characteristics or visual interpretation
which cannot readily be seen from photographs, slides etc. – eg impact on
amenity; effect on highway safety and traffic flows; effect on the character of the
area; effect on the character or setting of a listed building or conservation area;
effect on townscape or landscape; and/or
the proposal relates to a new or novel form of development and which may
require a visit to an existing establishment as well as to the proposal site in order
to appreciate the potential planning implications; and/or
development has been commenced or completed, which if refused planning
permission would normally require enforcement action and a site inspection
would assist in determining the expediency of such action.

The minutes shall record the reason for the proposed site visit. Before requesting a
vote to defer the consideration of an application for a site visit, Members must be

BBNPA Planning Protocol – Revised document – MarchMay 2015ewed and Approved 28 September
2012
7

Page 189

sure that they are available to attend the subsequent site visit and meeting to
consider that application. The Public Speakers for that particular item will then be
offered the choice of making their presentations then or at the subsequent meeting.
4.3

The Head of Development ControlDirector of Planning/Planning and Heritage
Manager or and his/hertheir assistants shall organise such site visits. The letter/email
reminding Members of the date and location of the formal site visit shall include the
reason for the site visit. Where possible, the site visit will take place on the next
available published site visit date (usually withinwithin 2 weeks afterof the original
PAROW Committee meeting, to be followed by a meeting of PAROW to determine
the application.) in the PAROW Committee timetable. The applicant will be
expected to ensure safe access is available to the site for Members and officers
Officers on the day.

4.4

The applicant and any objectors/supporters (who have provided written comments
on the application) will be informed –
•
•

•
4.5

4.6

that a site visit will take place
that the purpose of the site visit is that Members should have the fullest
appreciation of the nature of the site and the impact of the proposed
development; and
that the Members will not hear any representations from the applicant or any
objectors, neither of whom shall be present.

Where appropriate clarification would be helpful, and with the agreement of the
Chair or Deputy Chair of PAROW, othe agent acting on behalf of the applicant will
be invited to attend the site visit to allow access to buildings and to answer any
queries raised by Members. Officers shall advise the agent and/or applicant that
attendance at the site meeting is not an opportunity to discuss the merits of the
case, but rather to enable members to gain a better appreciation of the site
characteristics. In addition, Officers will invite relevant Officers from within the
NPA and the constituent Unitary Authorities or bodies (e.g. highway authority,
sewerage undertaker and Environment Agency) shall be invited to the site visit in
order to answer any questions from Members.
At site visits –
•
•

•

The Chairman of the Committee will chair and manage the site visit;
Members of the Planning and Rights of Way Committee shall keep together as a
group and shall not engage individually in discussion with anyone who is not
present as part of the site visit;
Officers will point out the relevant aspects of the site and give the Members an
opportunity to ask questions of them or of the Agent acting on behalf of the
applicant;

BBNPA Planning Protocol – Revised document – MarchMay 2015ewed and Approved 28 September
2012
8

Page 190

Comment [JG1]: Inserted by
Governance & Member Development
Working Group

•

•

4.7

Members will formulate their views on those aspects which determined the need
for a site visit. The views will not be discussed in the presence of the applicant or
any objectors;
The views of the Members will be recorded and included in the minutes of the
site visit meeting.

Following the site visit, Members and oOfficers shall (if practicable) reconvene a
formal PAROW meeting (that day) and proceed to debate the application and tmake
a decision.

5.0 Meetings of the Planning and Rights of Way Committee
5.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Section 54A and Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004, Section 38(6) state that “Applications for planning permission, or for
the renewal of planning permission, should be determined in accordance with the
approved or adopted development plan for the area, unless material considerations
indicate otherwise”. Thus, where the Development Plan is relevant, the Authority
must determine applications in accordance with the plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. This statutory requirement is a fundamental
principle for the Authority’s approach to decision-making.

5.1a

The Development Plan is the adopted Plan for the area which in this case is the 1999
Local Development Plan (December 2013). However the Authority has determined
to give more weight in development control decisions to the more recent and up to
date Authority Approved Unitary Development Plan, 2007.

5.2

PAROW Agendas will contain reports on:
a) ‘Items for Decision’ - comprising applications (both planning applications and
rights of way diversions) and any other Development ControlManagement related
matters upon which Members are required to make a decision, and;
b) ‘Items f'or Noting’ - upon which a decision has already been taken under
Delegated Powers. Members may engage in debate or ask oOfficers questions about
‘Items For Noting’
Non-Delegated application reports are full reports covering all relevant material
considerations (in planning terms) and issues to enable Members to make a planning
decision on an application. Case law indicates that Planning Officer reports to
his/her Committee are not and should not be intended to provide a learned
disquisition of relevant legal principles which repeat each and every detail of the
relevant facts to Members of the Committee who are responsible for the decision

BBNPA Planning Protocol – Revised document – MarchMay 2015ewed and Approved 28 September
2012
9

Page 191

and are entitled to use their own local knowledge to reach it. Reports to the
Planning and Rights of Way Committee should be prepared as follows •

•
•
•

•

Reports should be accurate and cover, amongst other things, a summary of the
substance of any objections and the views of those consulted, as recommended
by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales.
Relevant information should include a clear exposition of the development plan;
site or related history; and any other material considerations.
Reports should contain technical conclusions appraisals which clearly justify a the
recommendation.
If the report's recommendation is contrary to the provisions of the development
plan, the material considerations which justify the departure must be clearly
stated.
Reports shall be in writing and (where feasible) shall contain up-to-date OS site
plans and (where appropriate). Reports shall have a written recommendation of
action. Oral reporting of additional information not already included in the
report (except to update a report or summarise a late representation) should be
avoided and carefully minuted when it does occur.

5.3

The relevant Case Officer, or an Officer on his/hertheir behalf, shall provide a
summary presentation of each non-delegated planning application on the agenda, to
include a visual presentation of the site location, plans illustrating the proposals,
photographs and any other visual presentations considered appropriate. Officers
shall presume that Members have reviewed the non-delegated reports prior to the
meeting and thus shall only provide a brief summary of the key matters and
recommendation.

5.4

Members of the public (and Members who have declared a personal and prejudicial
interest in a particular matter) may speak in relation to ‘Items for Decision’ and
notice to speak must be given in accordance with the ‘Public Speaking Scheme’.
There shall be no public speaking in relation to ‘Items for Noting’. Members who
have declared a personal and prejudicial interest in a particular matter may still apply
to speak under the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme. They are also able to apply
to the Standards Committee for Dispensation to Speak (see Members Dispensation
Policy for details).

5.45

The Monitoring Officer or a suitably qualified alternative A senior legal officer should
always attend the meeting to ensure that procedures have been properly followed.

5.56

The Chairman and Vice-ChairmanDeputy Chair should attend a briefing session with
officers Officers prior to a Committee meeting, to assist the effective conduct of the
Committee meeting.

Representations
BBNPA Planning Protocol – Revised document – MarchMay 2015ewed and Approved 28 September
2012
10

Page 192

5.67

Members also have a duty to take into account any representations made to the
Authority as a result of consultation with interested bodies or as a result of public
notice or neighbour notification. In doing so it is necessary to decide which
representations are material to the decision to be made, and, if so, what weight to
attach to them. This conclusion should not be reached until all information and
argument has been presented and considered.

5.7 8

Care should be taken by Members before introducing new information into the
debate at the Committee as that might lead to consideration of a matter being
deferred or the committee taking a decision on the basis of information which
subsequently proves to be incorrect. Where a Member receives relevant information
in respect of an application which is not contained in the Committee report,
wherever possible the Member should immediately advise the Head of Development
ControlDirector of Planning/Planning and Heritage Manager or the application Case
Officer directly so that the information can be taken into consideration before the
meeting.

5.89

In the event of a material revision to any planning application being received after
preparation of the Committee report the Chair of PAROW and Head of
Development ControlDirector of Planning/Planning and Heritage Manager shall
consider whether to withdraw the item from the agenda prior to the Committee.

5.910 Where an application proceeds to PAROW and new material information comes to
light at the meeting, then Committee may decide; :
(a) to defer consideration of the application
or
(b) delegate the decision following re-consultation.
In other cases, where the Development Control ManagerDirector of
Planning/Planning and Heritage Manager considers that it is appropriate to do so,
oOfficers may present new information orally. However, where the information is
substantial, it will usually be necessary to defer consideration by the Committee for a
written appraisal to be prepared.
5.910 A Member shall decline to vote in relation to any planning application unless he or
she has been present in the meeting of the PAROW Committee throughout the full
presentation, public speaking and debate and consideration ofon that particular
application. SimilalrySimilarly, a Member shall decline to vote in relation to any
planning application that has been the subject of a site visit unless he or she was
present at the original PAROW Committee meeting and witnessed the Officers
presentation (and Public Speaking presentations where relevant) OR has arranged
with the Authority’s Monitoring Officer or Director of Planning to view the webcast
of the meeting under supervision in the National Park Office at a time to be mutually
agreed, provided that no discussion of the planning application takes place during the

BBNPA Planning Protocol – Revised document – MarchMay 2015ewed and Approved 28 September
2012
11

Page 193

Comment [JG2]: Inserted by
Governance & Member Development
Working Group

viewing. Members must attend the site visit in order to participate and vote on the
matter at the relevant PAROW meeting.

6.0 Decisions Contrary to Officer
and/or the Development Plan
6.1

Recommendations

The Courts have expressed the view that where a planning committee makes a
decision contrary to the oOfficers' recommendation (whether for approval or
refusal), such reasons should be based on sound planning considerations. The
personal circumstances of an applicant will rarely provide such grounds. A notable
exception is where planning policy allows for this, for example, the provision of a
dwelling for an agricultural worker.

6.2

Whenever the Committee is minded to determine a planning application contrary to
the oOfficer recommendation, the Committee must clearly define and list the
planning reasons for rejecting the oOfficers’ recommendation and then vote on
those reasons. The reasons must be recorded in the minutes and the application will
be deferred to the next meeting of the Committee in accordance with the following
provisions of this Protocol.

6.3

At the subsequent meeting the Head of Development ControlDirector of
Planning/Planning and Heritage Manager shall have the opportunity to respond both
in a further written report and orally to the reasons formulated by the Committee
for not accepting the earlier recommendation. The report shall –
(a) (where Members are minded to grant permission against a recommendation to
refuse) contain draft conditions to be attached to the grant of planning
permission and, where appropriate, a recommendation concerning a planning
obligation; or
(b) (where Members are minded to refuse permission against a recommendation to
approve) set out formal reasons for refusal reflecting the previous views of the
Committee; advise upon the evidence that would be available to substantiate
those reasons; and include any other reasons for refusal which the oOfficers
consider could be substantiated on appeal.
If the PAROW Committee is still of the same view, then it shall again consider
its reasons for not accepting the oOfficers’ advice. Those reasons shall then be
formally recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

6.4

Applications which are not in accordance with the development plan must be
identified as soon as possible. They must then be advertised as such, as required by

BBNPA Planning Protocol – Revised document – MarchMay 2015ewed and Approved 28 September
2012
12

Page 194

Comment [JG3]: Inserted by the
Governance & Member Development
Working Group

Comment [JG4]: Officers will elaborate
on this during the NPA meeting

The Town and Country Planning (Notification) (Wales) Direction 2012. Secondly, if
it is intended to approve such an application for a notification development’ as
defined in the above Direction, the material considerations leading to this conclusion
must be clearly identified, and how these considerations justify overriding the
development plan clearly demonstrated. The application may then have to be
referred to the Welsh Government. If the oOfficers' report recommends approval
the justification for this should be included, in full, in that report.

7.0 Development Proposals Submitted by Members and
Officers
7.1

Proposals to their own authority by serving and former1 members and officers and
their close friends can easily give rise to suspicions of impropriety. So indeed can
proposals for an authority’s own development. Proposals can take the form of either
planning applications or development plan proposals. In all correspondence and
meetings etc, such Members and officers should identify their status.

7.2

Serving Members who act as agents for people pursuing a planning matter within
their authority must play no part in the decision making process for that proposal.
Similarly, should they submit their own proposal to the Authority, they will take no
part in its processing and consideration.

7.3

Such proposals must be reported to the planning PAROW committee as main items
and not dealt with by oOfficers under delegated powers. The same applies to
applications etc. made by former Members and oOfficers. Proposals for the
Authority’s own development will be treated in exactly the same way as those of
private developers.

7.4

Where there is a proposal from an oOfficer (or from a member of their family or
from a close friend), the oOfficer must –
(a) inform the Head of Development ControlDirector of Planning/Planning and
Heritage Manager when the application is made or as soon as it comes to the
attention of the oOfficer;
(b) take no part in the decision-making process; and
(c) comply with other relevant provisions of this Protocol.

7.5

Where there is a proposal from a member (or from a person with whom they live
or by whom they are employed or with whom they have a close personal
association), or where the member has (for any reason) a prejudicial interest in the
matter, then the member must-

1

‘Former’ = those oOfficers and mMembers who left the Authority less than 12 months prior to the
submission of their planning application

BBNPA Planning Protocol – Revised document – MarchMay 2015ewed and Approved 28 September
2012
13

Page 195

(a) inform the Head of Development ControlDirector of Planning/Planning and
Heritage Manager when the application is made or as soon as it comes to the
attention of the Member; and
(b) comply with other relevant provisions of this Protocol.
and may(c) attend a meeting of the Authority but only for the purpose of making
representations in relation to the proposal, provided that the public are allowed to
attend the meeting for the same purpose. Having made such representations the
member must:
(d) immediately leave the meeting; and,
(e) take no part in the decision-making process.; and
7.6

Where a Member has a prejudicial interest in a matter (as defined in the Authority’s
Code of Conduct for Members) the Member shall not approach oOfficers directly or
indirectly or make oral or written representations in relation to the application and
shall not seek to influence a decision in relation to it, (for example by seeking to callin an application for consideration by committee rather than under the scheme of
delegation) other than as allowed in paragraph 7.4(A) (c) to (e) above.

7.7

Officers within the Authority should not submit applications to the Authority on
behalf of third parties except as part of their duties as Authority employees.

8.0

Training and Monitoring

8.1

Members should must attend an initial induction and regular training sessions to
receive guidance in relation to planning regulations and procedures and on disclosure
of personal interests.

8.2

The report of the Audit Commission “Building in Quality” recommends that
Members should revisit a sample of implemented planning permissions to assess the
quality of the decisions. Such a review should improve the quality and consistency of
decision-making, thereby strengthening public confidence in the planning system, and
can help with reviews of planning policies.

8.3
The Head of Development ControlDirector of Planning/Planning and Heritage
Manager shall arrange such reviews.
8.4

Reviews are best undertaken at least annually. They will include examples from a
broad range of categories such as major and minor development; permitted

BBNPA Planning Protocol – Revised document – MarchMay 2015ewed and Approved 28 September
2012
14

Page 196

Comment [JG5]: Amended by
Governance & Member Development
Working Group – planning training is
mandatory in BBNPA

departures; delegated items; upheld appeals; listed building works and enforcement
cases. Briefing notes will be prepared on each case. The PAROW Committee will
formally consider the review and decide whether it gives rise to the need to
reconsider any policies or practices.

9.0 Complaints / Record Keeping
9.1

Whatever procedures a planning authority operates, it is likely that complaints will
be made. However, following this guidance should greatly reduce the occasions on
which complaints are justified. It should also provide less reason for people to
complain in the first place.

9.2

A logical consequence of adopting a local protocol of good planning practice is that
the Authority should also have in place a robust complaints system. The Authority
has a procedure for dealing with formal complaints. It should be remembered that
complainants alleging a breach of the statutory local code of conduct are able to
direct their allegations in writing direct to the Public Services Ombudsman for
Wales.

9.3

So that complaints may be fully investigated and, in any case, as a matter of general
good practice, record keeping should be complete comprehensive and accurate.
Omissions and inaccuracies could, in themselves, cause a complaint or undermine
the Authority's case. The guiding rule is that every planning application file should
contain an accurate account of events throughout its life. It should be possible for
someone not involved in that application to understand what the decision was and
why and how it had been reached. Particular care needs to be taken with
applications determined under oOfficers' delegated powers, where there is no
report referral to a Committee. Such decisions should be as well documented and
recorded as those taken by Members. These principles apply equally to enforcement
and development plan matters.

BBNPA Planning Protocol – Revised document – MarchMay 2015ewed and Approved 28 September
2012
15

Page 197

This page is intentionally left blank

Brecon Beacons National Park
Authority

Member Officer Protocol

May 2010
Review Date: 2014

Page 199

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
This section covers:
Page No.
1.

Introduction

3

2.

Member/Officer Relations

3

3.

Roles of Members

7

4.

Responsibilities and Rights of Members

8

5.

Rights and duties of individual Members

8

6.

Inspection of documents

9

7.

Confidentiality of Committee Reports

10

8.

Roles and responsibilities of Officers

11

9.

Roles of specific officers

12

10.

Delegation of Functions to the Chief Executive and other
officers
Relationships with the Authority Chairman, Deputy Chairman
and Committee Chairmen and Vice Chairmen

11.

13
14

12.

Urgent Business

15

13.

Support Services to Members

15

14.

Attendance by Members at meetings arranged by Officers

15

15.

Confidentiality and the Press and Public

15

16.
Breaches of the Protocol
Protocol for member and officer relations
17.
Training and briefing

17
17

18.

Advice

17

19.

Review

17

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 200

2

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
1. Introduction

2. Member / Officer
relations

1.1

The Local Government Act 2000 introduced a
new ethical framework for local government with
the introduction of a new statutory code of
conduct for employees and requirement for local
authorities to adopt a Members' code of conduct
and appoint a Standards Committee.

1.2

The Members' code of conduct addresses in
general terms the aspects of a Member's conduct
in carrying out the whole range of official duties
and has direct relevance to the relations between
Members and officers.

1.3

The Authority seeks an excellent working
relationship between Members and officers as the
best means of ensuring clear and consistent
strategy and proper representation by outside
interests in the work of the Authority. Such good
working relationships require this protocol as a
framework.

1.4

This protocol guides Members and officers of the
Authority in their relations with one another. To
a large extent it is no more than a statement of
current practice and convention. It is neither
prescriptive nor comprehensive but aims to
promote clarity and certainty. Accordingly it will
be kept under review and amended as necessary.
This first edition of the protocol addresses the
issues which most commonly arise. As such, it
may also serve to provide guidance on dealing
with other issues.

1. 5

The protocol also seeks to reflect the principles
underlying the respective Codes of Conduct
which apply to Members and officers. The shared
objective of these Codes is to enhance and
maintain the integrity of the Authority in the eyes
of the people it serves.

2. 1

Both Members and officers are servants of the
public and they are indispensable to one another
but their responsibilities are distinct. Members

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 201

3

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
represent the wider public and serve only so long
as their term of office lasts. Officers are
responsible to the National Park Authority. Their
job is to give advice to Members and the
Authority and to carry out the Authority’s work
under the direction and control of the Authority,
its Committees and Sub-Committees.
2.2

Members should respect the role of the
Authority’s officers and treat them in a way that
engenders mutual respect at all times which is
essential to good local government.

2.3

Officers should respect the role of the Authority’s
Members and treat them in a way that engenders
mutual respect at all times which is essential to
good local government.

Expectations
2.4
Members can expect from officers:
•

commitment to the Authority as a whole and not
only to any part of it

•

respect and courtesy

•

the highest standards of integrity

•

a working partnership

•

an understanding of and support for respective roles,
workloads and pressures

•

timely responses to enquiries and complaints

•

professional advice, not influenced by political views
or preference, which does not compromise the
political neutrality of officers

•

regular up to date information that can be considered
appropriate and relevant to their needs, having
regard to any individual responsibilities that they have
and positions they hold

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 202

4

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
•

awareness of
environment

•

training and development in order to carry out their
role effectively

•

appropriate confidentiality

•

that they will not use their relationship with
Members to seek to advance their personal interests
or to influence decisions improperly

•

support for the role of Members within the
arrangements made by Authority compliance with the
protocols at all times.

2.5

and

sensitivity

to

the

political

Officers can expect from Members:

•

respect and courtesy

•

the highest standards of integrity

•

a working partnership

•

an understanding of and support for respective roles,
workloads and pressures

•

leadership

•

not to be subject to bullying, or discrimination or to
be put under undue pressure

•

that Members will not use their position or
relationship with officers to seek to advance their
personal interests or those of others or to influence
decisions improperly

•

compliance with the Members' Code of Conduct and
protocols at all times.

Working relationships
2.6
Both Members and officers should take care not
to give the impression that their distinct roles
have become blurred in some way. Maintaining
BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 203

5

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
confidence in the separation of these roles
necessarily imposes limitations on behaviour.
Members and officers should exercise caution in
forming close personal friendships between each
other. This can confuse their separate roles and
affect the proper discharge of the Authority's
functions. The perception could be in others that
a particular Member or officer may be able to
secure advantageous treatment as a result of such
a friendship. Where a relative or close personal
friend of an employee becomes a Member of the
Authority the employee should make the
circumstances known to the Chief Executive
(National Park Officer).
2.7

Any act against an individual officer may be
regarded as a form of bullying, intimidation or
harassment if it is intended to influence unfairly
that person's actions, thoughts or deeds. Whilst
no policy statement can give guidance on every
instance where such behaviour may occur the
Authority is committed to promoting standards of
behaviour which reflect the proper, professional,
working relationship which should exist between
Members and officers at all times and to ensure
normal standards of courtesy and behaviour
between individuals.

2.8

All dealings between Members and officers should,
therefore, observe reasonable standards of
courtesy and neither party should seek to take
advantage of their position. On occasions,
Members may have reason to complain about the
conduct or performance of an officer. All such
complaints should be made personally to the
Chief Executive, a Chief Officer or the Monitoring
Officer. It is particularly important that such
complaints are made in this way and are not aired
in public such as at a meeting of the Authority, its
Committees or Sub-Committees or other
external bodies, or in the press.

2.9

The corollary to the Member’s concern about an
officer's performance is a concern by an Officer in

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 204

6

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
relation to a Member's conduct. All such concerns
should be brought personally to the attention of
the Chief Executive or in his/her absence a Chief
Officer and the Monitoring Officer. They will if
necessary discuss the matter with the Chairman
of the Authority and, where appropriate, with the
Chairman of the Committee or Sub-Committee
affected. In the absence of the Chairman, the
Deputy Chairman should be approached.
3. Roles of
Members

3.1
The role of the Member is to foster and promote
the core purposes of the National Park (as set out in the
Environment Act 1995) and, in so doing:
•

to provide strategic leadership and direction in
partnership with the Executive

•

to have regard to and contribute to
development of national and regional policies

•

to monitor, review scrutinise and debate strategies,
policies plans and performance

•

to participate in community engagement with all
stakeholders

•

to represent the Authority to the public and
stakeholders at all levels

•

to represent national and local interests on the
Authority.

the

3.2

The role of a Committee Chairman is legally
recognised for procedural purposes such as
chairing meetings and exercising a casting vote. In
practice, Chairs are recognised as the ‘lead
members’ on the areas and issues within the
terms of reference of the Committee concerned.
This involves working closely with officers and
acting as the Authority’s external ‘spokesperson’
on those issues.

3.3

Lead MembersMember Champions may be
appointed with the role of working with the

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 205

7

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
officers in driving forward new areas of work or
where a transformation or stepped change is
required in strategies or services. The themes for
the Lead MembersMember Champions are linked
to the Authority’s priorities as given in the
Business Improvement Plan to key areas of the
Authority’s work and may be subject to review.
Lead MembersMember Champions need to
ensure that in exercising their role that this does
not conflict or become confused with the role of
the relevant Committee Chairman.
4. Responsibilities
and rights of
Members

5. Rights and duties
of individual
Members

4.1

All Members appointed to the Authority
have equal status, equal opportunity to hold
office and are equally responsible. Members
are expected to be equally committed to
fulfilling the purposes for which National
Parks exist and accept their appointment
to the Authority with that commitment in
mind.

4.2

Members of a National Park Authority, in their
individual capacity, have no executive powers and
can exercise no lawful authority to make
decisions.

4.3

Members should be able to leave the day-to-day
implementation of policies, including management
to officers. Members have a right to ensure that
their decisions for which they are statutorily
responsible and accountable are implemented by
officers. Officers should demonstrate that they
are sensitive to Members' aspirations underlying
those policies.

5.1

There are other clear rights for individual
Members, principally:

•

rights of access to Committee papers

•

rights to attend meetings

•

rights to see the accounts and make copies, and
before the annual audit to inspect specific books,

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 206

8

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
contracts, bills etc
•
5.2

6. Inspection of
documents

rights to receive approved allowances.
There are also duties on individual Members,
principally:

•

to abide by the Authority's Members' Code of
Conduct, Planning Protocol and Member Offier
Protocol and all the Authority’s approved protocols

•

to disclose personal interests in any matter before
meetings of the Authority, its Committees and SubCommittees and other meetings

•

to register the receipt of any gifts and hospitality

•

to attend meetings of the Authority, its Committees,
Sub-Committees, other events and any outside
bodies that they have been appointed to

•

to attend and participate in opportunities for
training and development

•

to take into account advice provided by the Chief
Executive or officers of the Authority.

6.1

The Authority wishes to conduct its affairs in an
open and transparent way and to give Members
maximum access to information and documents
to enable them to discharge their role as
Members of the Authority. Requests for
information can range from general information
about some aspect of the Authority's work to
specific requests for information on behalf of a
member of the public. Under the Freedom of
Information Act, both members of the public and
Members of the Authority have the same rights of
access to information. However, some types of
information, such as information that would
infringe someone’s Data Protection rights or
breach confidentiality, or where release of the
information would prejudice an investigation, are
exempt from the Act. Where requests for

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 207

9

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
information are made by a Member on behalf of a
member of the public, the Member should make
this clear at the time of making the request. Such
requests should be made to senior officers to
avoid putting junior staff in a difficult position. This
type of request will be treated in the same way
under the Freedom of Information Act as if the
member of the public has asked for the
information direct.

7. Confidentiality of
Committee
Reports

6.2

The legal rights of Members to inspect Authority
documents are covered partly by statute (the
Local Government Acts) and partly by the
common law. A Member will be permitted access
to private Authority documents if he or she can
demonstrate that access to the documents is
reasonably necessary to enable him or her
properly to perform his or her duties as a
Member (the “need to know” principle).

6.3

Members wishing to inspect or obtain a copy of
information which is in the public domain should
approach the relevant officer in writing or by
email.

6.4

Where information is not in the public domain, or
there is doubt about this, an approach should be
made to the Chief Executive, the appropriate
Chief Officer or the Monitoring Officer. The
officer whose unit holds the documents in
question (with advice, where necessary, from the
Monitoring Officer) will decide whether the
information can be released. The Member will be
expected to justify the request in specific terms. In
the event of a dispute, the Standards Committee
will be asked to decide.

7.1

All Officers have a duty to satisfy themselves that
Committee reports to which they are signatories
are only classified as ‘exempt information’ or
‘confidential information’ when the statutory
criteria for confidentiality are met as set out in the
Local Government Act 1972. The Monitoring
Officer has an overriding responsibility to

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 208

10

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
determine this compliance.

8. Roles and
responsibilities of
officers

7.2

Once an exempt report has been issued with the
agenda for a meeting a Member must respect the
confidentiality of the report and not disclose its
contents to a third party. However this restriction
does not apply if the Committee decides at the
meeting that the report should be discussed in the
presence of the press and public.

8.1

A mutual and working understanding of the roles
and responsibilities of officers is essential to the
Authority developing and applying a clear and
consistent approach to the role and
responsibilities of its Members.

8.2

Officers, through reports, formal and informal
advice, play an essential role in the formation and
carrying out of the Authority's decisions and
policies. If officers, in their professional judgement,
consider a proposed course of action is imprudent
they will advise Members accordingly. The prime
responsibility of officers in the matter of all
challengeable decisions is in advising Members
before such decisions are reached. In such cases,
the advice should include clear legal and financial
advice, on what are relevant and irrelevant factors
and on how to approach decision-making. The fact
that such advice has been given and considered
will be material in any court proceedings that will
be concerned to see that the Authority has
properly applied its mind to the relevant issues.

8.3

If despite officers’ advice the Authority decides to
proceed with its course of action, officers will
implement the decision unless it contravenes their
professional statutory codes of practice or ethics
to such an extent as to place their continued
professional practice at risk. In these
circumstances an officer must take advice from
the Monitoring Officer.

8.4

An officer is under a duty not to implement a
decision or take any action that is contrary to

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 209

11

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
statute law or is unlawful. An officer will also not
implement a decision where the Monitoring
Officer or Chief Finance Officer has issued a
statutory report that has not yet been considered
by the Authority or has not yet been complied
with.
9. Roles of specific
officers

9.1
Three officers have specific roles defined by
statute:
i) Head of Paid Service: is under a duty, 'where he or she
considers it appropriate' to report to the Authority and
Members on:
•

the manner in which the discharge by the Authority
of its different functions is co-ordinated;

•

the number and grades of staff required by the
Authority for the discharge of its functions;

•

the organisation of the Authority's staff; and

•

the appointment and proper management of the
Authority's staff.

ii) Section 151 Chief Finance Officer: (designated under
S.151 of the Local Government Act 1972) is responsible
for the proper administration of the Authority's financial
affairs. He or she is under a duty to report, to both
Members of the Authority and to the District Auditor,
any decision involving unlawful, (or potentially unlawful),
expenditure by the Authority; any unlawful course of
action likely to cause a loss or deficiency on the part of
the Authority; or an unlawful entry of an item of account.
iii)

Monitoring Officer: (designated under s.5 of the
Local
Government and Housing Act 1989) has a duty to put a
formal report to the Authority where it appears that the
Authority, its Committees or officers are involved in any
proposal, decision or omission which is likely to be illegal
or give rise to maladministration or injustice. It is also
implicit in legislation, and indicated elsewhere in guidance,
that the Monitoring Officer may give informal advice,
BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 210

12

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
including to individual Members, and that they may also
seek guidance on legal or propriety matters. The
Monitoring Officer also has specific legal duties and
powers in respect of the Members' Code of Conduct and
the Standards Committee. The Monitoring Officer's
duties may be performed by a nominated Deputy.
10
Delegation
of functions to the
Chief Executive
and other officers

10.1

The Authority's Standing Orders set out the
various powers delegated to the Chief Executive
(National Park Officer) and other officers. In
exercising delegated functions, the Chief Executive
(National Park Officer) is obliged to act in
accordance with:
i) the overall policies approved by the Authority
or any of its Committees or Sub-Committees;
ii) standing orders including those relating to
contracts; and
iii) financial regulations.

10.2

Additionally, the Chief Executive (National Park
Officer) is expected in appropriate cases to
consult Members as follows:
i) to maintain a close liaison with the Authority's
Chairman and/or the appropriate Committee
Chairman or Sub-Committee Chairman (or in his
or her absence the Deputy Chairman or
appropriate Vice-Chairman); and/or
ii)
to consult as necessary with any other
Member who has specific local or specialist
interest in the matter.

10.3

In all cases it is open to the Chief Executive
(National Park Officer) to refer a matter to the
Authority, Committee or Sub-Committee for
decision if in his or her opinion the matter is of
such a nature that it should more properly be
referred to Members. Such referrals will include
items of controversy or where a Member of the
Authority has specifically asked for the matter to

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 211

13

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
be referred to a Committee. The scheme of
delegation specifically enables Members to ask for
a planning application to be so referred. Such a
request must be made within 15 days of the
receipt of the Schedule of Planning Applications
(the Weekly List).

11. Relationships
with the Authority
Chairman, Deputy
Chairman and
Committee
Chairmen and Vice
Chairmen

10.4

The Chief Executive will not act under delegated
powers where any planning application involves a
Member or officer of the Authority. All such
matters shall be referred to the Authority for a
decision.

10.5

Officers are responsible to their appropriate line
manager and whilst officers should always seek to
assist Members, they must not, in doing so, go
beyond the bounds of whatever authority that has
been delegated to them by the Chief Executive.

11.1

The Chief Executive and Chief Officers should
foster close working relationships with the
appropriate
Authority
Chairman,
Deputy
Chairman and Committee Chairmen and Vice
Chairmen. However, these relationships should
never be allowed to become so close, or appear
to be so close, as to bring into question the Chief
Executive's (or Chief Officers’) ability to deal
properly with other Members and to discharge his
duty to serve the Authority as a whole. In some
circumstances it may be necessary for the Chief
Executive or a Chief Officer to bring forward
reports on a particular matter in furtherance of
this general duty.

11.2

The law only allows for decisions relating to the
discharge of any of the Authority’s functions to be
taken under delegated authority by a Committee,
Sub-Committee or an officer. Individual Members
including Chairmen are not allowed to act (save in
the case of a Chairman who under local
government law may decide that an item of
business is 'urgent').

11.3

Where action is likely to be required between

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 212

14

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
meetings the usual method of authorising it is to
delegate action to the Chief Executive or a
relevant Chief Officer in consultation with the
Chairman or a group of named Members. The
officer must nevertheless reach a decision to act
on a delegated matter independently.
12. Urgent
Business

12.1

Members or officers wishing to raise an item of
urgent business should contact the Chief
Executive or the relevant Chief Officer before the
meeting who will then discuss the request with
the relevant Chairman. The decision as to
whether an item of business is urgent is one for
the Chairman of the meeting to take under
powers granted by the Local Government Act
1972. The Chairman's decision on whether an
item is urgent is final and is not open to discussion
or debate.

13. Support
Services to
Members

13.1

The only basis on which the Authority can lawfully
provide support services (e.g. stationery, typing,
printing, photocopying, transport etc) to Members
is to assist them in discharging their role as
members of the Authority. Such support services
must therefore only be used for Authority
business and never in connection with party
political or campaigning activity or for private
purposes.

14. Attendance by
Members at
meetings arranged
by officers

14.1

Officers will arrange many meetings with
colleagues or third parties to discharge the
routine business of the Authority or to action its
decisions. The convention is that Members will
not be present at these meetings but will be
advised either informally or through reports to
Committees, of any relevant discussions and/or
outcomes. There may be occasions where a
Member may be invited to attend a meeting by
the appropriate officer or by a resolution of a
Committee.

15.Confidentiality
and the Press and
Public

15.1

Any information provided to a Member in his/her
capacity as a Member must only be used by the
Member in connection with the proper

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 213

15

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
performance of their duties.
Confidential
information should not be disclosed to the press
or public, discussed or released to any other
persons. Members should not disclose or use
confidential information for the personal
advantage of themselves or anyone known to
them or to the disadvantage or the discredit of
the NPA or anyone else.
Officers and Members have a responsibility to
protect the NPA’s reputation. The leaking of
confidential information including exempt agenda
items and minutes to the press or public and the
public criticism of individual Officers by Members
or of individual Members by Officers is
unacceptable. There are clear requirements set
out in both the Members’ Code of Conduct and
the Officer Code of Conduct regarding
confidentiality.
Duties of confidentiality (under common law)
arise when one person (the ‘confidant’ ) is
provided with information by another ( the
’confider’) either orally or in writing in the
expectation that the information will only be used
or disclosed in accordance with the wishes of the
confider. Examples of this duty are:



if the relationship is inherently confidential e.g.
lawyer and client
If the relationship is personal e.g. between
colleagues in circumstances that suggest an
expectation of confidentiality
If there is risk through identification e.g. whistle
blowers
The fact that information is not marked
’confidential’ does not necessarily prevent it from
being confidential as this may be inferred from the
subject matter and the surrounding circumstances.
Confidentiality is unlikely to be established where
the information is already known to a wide circle
or is in the public domain. Wherever possible,

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 214

16

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
officers and Members should clearly indicate in
correspondence or orally when they expect
information to remain confidential to avoid
confusion. Whilst this Protocol is not intended in
any way to restrict a Member’s freedom of speech
or right to contact the press or public, Members
must distinguish between acceptable levels of
political debate and unacceptable or derogatory
personal comments or remarks when they
comment on particular issues. Comments to the
press and public should not challenge the integrity
and good faith of other Members or be based on
inaccurate information offered without due regard
or attempt to establish the facts
If Members wish to seek advice on whether
documents should be disclosed to the Press they
should contact the Communications Manager or
the Chair of the relevant committee.
16. Breaches of the
Protocol

16.1

Specific breaches of this protocol may be dealt
with under the National Park Authority’s
procedures for breaches in local protocols and
may ultimately be the subject of either grievance
or disciplinary procedures or in the case of a
Member by a complaint to the Standards
Committee or Public Services Ombudsman for
Wales. Potential problems may be resolved by
early discussion between a Member and the Chief
Executive or, if necessary, between the Chairman
of
the
Authority
and
the
Chief
ExecutiveChairman. More general concerns about
relationships between Members and officers or
perceived breaches of the principles embodied in
this Protocol can be discussed with the
Authority’s Monitoring Officer.

17. Training and
briefing

17.1

Training and briefings on the operation of the
Protocol for Members and Officers will be
arranged as required.

18. Advice

18.1

The Authority’s Monitoring Officer and Deputy
Monitoring Officer will give advice on the
interpretation and operation of this Protocol.

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 215

17

Comment [j1]: This supports the
approach in the Local Resolution policy

1
Employment principles

1.23 Protocol for member and officer relations
19. Review

19.1

The operation of the protocol shall be regularly
monitored and reviewed annually and any
appropriate amendments made when necessary.

BBNPA Member Officer Protocol – Approved 20 May 2010

Page 216

18

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Members Planning Committee Dispensation
Early Notification Protocol

Adopted 3 May 2013
Review Date: 2014

Page 217

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY
Members Planning Committee Dispensation
Early Notification Protocol
The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (on 3 May 2013 following the
recommendation by the Standards Committee on the 12th April 2013) resolved that officers
should agree a process for early notification to Members to allow them to seek dispensation
to participate in planning matters. This procedural note outlines the mechanism (as far as
current process will allow) for the early notification to Members of planning applications
which may (due of a significant s.106 agreement contribution to a constituent Unitary
Authority within the National Park) result in Members from that Authority needing to seek
dispensation from the Standards Committee to participate in that item of business.
The procedure is an early warning system. The operation of the procedure is not intended
to absolve Members of their individual responsibilities under the Members Code of
Conduct. The purpose of the procedure is to identify relevant planning applications and
ensure that Members have sufficient time to apply for dispensation should they wish to do
so.
1. Applications from Constituent Unitary Authorities (Applications where
the constituent Unitary Authority is the applicant) NB: This does not
include fringe consultations submitted to this Authority for comment
from other/constituent Unitary Authorities).
Planning applications in which a constituent Unitary Authority of the Brecon Beacons
National Park is the applicant will be highlighted on the weekly list of applications
received.
When the weekly list is published, it is not known whether any particular application
will be dealt with by the PAROW Committee or by officers under delegated powers.
The purpose of highlighting the application is to allow Members to make further
enquiries and consider whether they wish to apply for dispensation to participate in
that item of business. Members are, of course, able to call in such matters in the
same way as any other application on the weekly list.
2. Applications where a significant (in excess of £50,000.00) section 106
agreement contribution has been requested by a Unitary Authority
For all other (standard full or outline) planning applications where it is known that
the application is to come before a PAROW Committee with a recommendation for
a significant s.106 agreement contribution to a constituent Unitary Authority, the
following process should be followed:

No later than one working day after the Planning Access and Rights of Way
(“PAROW”) Committee agenda report deadline, the Head of Development
Control/Principal Planning Officers/Planning Services Supervisor will email the
Democratic Services Manager and Democratic Services Officer providing the

Page 218

details of relevant planning applications that will be considered at the next
PAROW Committee meeting.


The Democratic Services Manager will send an email notification to the Members
of the relevant Unitary Authority with details of the forthcoming application(s)
(“the Notification Email”). A copy of the dispensation application form will be
attached to the Notification Email.



As soon as possible but in any event no later than 3 working days after the date
of the Notification Email any Member wishing to apply for dispensation must
contact the Democratic Services Manager by email confirming that they intend to
apply for dispensation (“the Confirmation Email”).



Following receipt of the Confirmation Email the Democratic Services Manager
will arrange a Standards Committee to be held prior to the date of the next
PAROW meeting.



Members should submit a completed dispensation application form to the
Democratic Services Manager as soon as possible but in any event no later than 5
working days of after the date of the Notification Email.



Any Member requiring advice in relation to their interest or dispensation
application should contact the Monitoring Officer.



Following the Standards Committee the Democratic Services Manager will notify
the relevant Member(s), the Chairman and the Vice-chairman of the PAROW
Committee of the decision made by the Standards Committee.

General comments
The number of applications that are likely to trigger the above procedure is small. It is
anticipated that there may be only one or two per year. The procedure only relates to
Unitary Authority financial gains/mitigation and does not relate to the provision of affordable
housing or any financial contribution to Community Councils or other statutory undertaker
or provider of works.
On occasion, planning applications that are due to be considered by the PAROW
Committee are withdrawn at short notice. When completing the application for
dispensation form Members may wish to consider requesting a dispensation for 12 months
to provide for a situation where an application is considered at a later date.
If Members apply for dispensation to speak on an issue but the Standards Committee is not
able to be convened more than three working days before the meeting at which the issue is
to be considered, they are able to apply to speak as a member of the public under the
Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme as long as they meet the deadline of three working days
before the meeting. This will ensure that they are still able to give their views although they
will not be able to stay in the meeting, participate in the debate or vote on the issue. If they

Page 219

are subsequently granted dispensation to speak by the Standards Committee then the
application under the Public Speaking Scheme can be withdrawn at any time up to the start
of the meeting.
Appendix A gives an example of the email notification to Members and attached application
form for dispensation from the Democratic Services Manager.

APPENDIX A
Example email to Members:-

To: Councillor *****************
Date:********

Planning Application(s) referenced *****************.
Application Site *********************************.

Under the provisions of the Early Member Notification Protocol the above application is
likely to be presented to the next meeting of the Planning Access and Rights of Way
(PAROW) Committee on ******.
The application may result in a significant financial contribution to the local authority in
which you are a County Councillor. Consequently, you should consider whether you have
an interest that needs to be declared under the Member’s Code of Conduct.
If you consider that you have a personal and prejudicial interest and you wish to participate
in the consideration of the application, you will need to apply to the Standards Committee
for dispensation.
If you wish to apply for dispensation please notify the Democratic Services Manager by email
no later than 3 working days from the date of this email. The attached dispensation
form must then be completed and returned to the Democratic Services Manager no later
than 5 working days from the date of this email.
You are also advised that if the decision on dispensation is unlikely to be made by the
Standards Committee more than three working days in advance of the meeting at which
the application is being considered, you are able to apply to speak under the Authority’s
Public Speaking Scheme as a member of the public, although you will not be able to remain
in the meeting after you have spoken, nor to participate in the debate or the vote. If you
are subsequently granted dispensation to speak you can withdraw your request to speak
under the Public Speaking Scheme at any point prior to the start of the meeting.

Page 220

Further details in relation to the application can be obtained on the Authority’s web site or
by contacting the Planning Services Supervisor on 01874 620431.
If you require advice about declarations of interest or applying for dispensation please
contact the Monitoring Officer.

Yours sincerely,

Democratic Services Manager

ATTACHED DISPENSATION FORM.

Page 221

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Standards Conference Wales 2015
‘Managing Standards in a Changing World’
20th October 2015, Cardiff City Hall
Draft Conference Programme
9.15am – 10.00am
10.00am – 10.15am

Registration & Tea/Coffee
Welcoming Address
Paul Orders – Chief Executive, The City of Cardiff Council

10.15am – 11.30am

Opening Session – Are the Nolan principles fit for
purpose in the current climate and for the next 20 years ?
Nick Bennett – Public Services Ombudsman for Wales

11.30am – 12.00pm
12.00pm – 1.00pm

Tea/Coffee
Workshops – Session One
1. Social Media.
2. Whistle Blowing.
3. Community Councils
4. Effective Standards and Ethics Committees.

1.00pm – 2.00pm
2.00pm – 3.00pm

Lunch
Workshops – Session Two
5. Social Media.
6. Whistle Blowing.
7. Community Councils
8. Effective Standards and Ethics Committees.

3.00pm – 3.30pm
3.30pm – 4.00pm

Tea/Coffee
Panel Discussion and Closing Remarks
Peter Davies –President of the Adjudication Panel for Wales
Lyn Cadwallader –Chief Executive One Voice of Wales
Jan Williams – Independent Police Complaints Commissioner
for Wales

4.00pm

Close

Page 223

Page 224

Agenda Item 12

Page 225

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 WELSH - V6.indd 2

21/05/2014 17:18

The Annual Report 2013/14
A osodwyd gerbron Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru
o dan baragraff 14 o Atodlen 1
i Ddeddf Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus (Cymru) 2005

of

The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales

Laid before the National Assembly for Wales
under paragraph 14 of Schedule 1
of the Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005

Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru

Adroddiad Blynyddol 2013/14
Page 226

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 2

21/05/2014 17:18

The Annual Report 2013/14
of

The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales

Laid before the National Assembly for Wales
under paragraph 14 of Schedule 1
of the Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005

Page 227

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 1

1

21/05/2014 17:18

2

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 2

Page 228

21/05/2014 17:18

Annual Report 2013/14

1

4
Introduction by the Acting Ombudsman		

2

8
Role of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales		

3

Complaints of maladministration and service failure

4

Code of Conduct complaints		
16

5

Improving Public Service Delivery		
21

6

Governance and Accountability		
23

7

Other Activities

8

Equality 		
32

10

26

Annex A Public Body Complaints: Public Interest Reports Case Summaries

41

Annex B

50

Public Body Complaints: Statistical Breakdown of Outcomes by Public Body

Annex C Code of Conduct Complaints: Statistical Breakdown of Outcomes by
Local Authority

61

Annex D 	Extract from Strategic Plan 2012/13 to 2014/15: Vision, Values, Purposes and
Strategic Aims

66

Page 229

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 3

3

21/05/2014 17:18

1. Introduction by the Acting Ombudsman
This is the eighth Annual Report of the Public Services
Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) since the inception of the
office in April 2006. I am pleased to introduce this report for
the year 2013/14 as Acting Ombudsman, having taken on the
role in December 2013.
I was appointed as Acting Ombudsman following Peter Tyndall’s
departure at the end of November 2013, when he left to take up
a new role as Irish Ombudsman and Information Commissioner.
I will remain as Acting Ombudsman until such time as the new
Ombudsman is able to take office.

Margaret Griffiths
Acting Ombudsman
(from December 2013)

The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales is appointed by the
Crown on the recommendation of the National Assembly for
Wales. Nick Bennett – currently the Chief Executive of Community
Housing Cymru – has been nominated by the National Assembly
for Wales as the next Public Services Ombudsman for Wales. At
the time of writing, royal approval for Mr Bennett’s appointment
is being sought.

Peter Tyndall
Ombudsman
(to November 2013)

An ever-increasing caseload
The upward trend in enquiries and complaints to this office has been a recurrent theme in the Annual
Reports of previous years; 2013/14 is no different. As the chart (below) demonstrates, the past year saw
another notable rise. Looking back over a period of five years the office has seen a 117% increase in all
contacts (that is, enquiries, public body complaints, and complaints about the conduct of members of
local authorities).

6,000

6,000

5,000

5,000

1,000
0

352 2,000
1,381 1,000
754
2009/10

1,790 412

412

3,000

3,000
2,000

291

4,000

4,000

226

277 352
1,425 1,381

754
0 1,127

1,605

277

1,9321,790

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 4

1,932

2,9061,866

Total Enquiries and
Complaints received by year
Enquiries

2,906
3,234

2009/10
2010/11
2011/12
2012/13
2012/13
2013/14
2010/11
2011/12

4

226

1,605

1,425

1,866 1,127

291

3,234

Enquiries

Public Body Complaints
Public Body Complaints
Code of Conduct Complaints
Code of Conduct Complaints

2013/14

Page 230

21/05/2014 17:18

It is a tribute to the staff of this office that they have ‘held their own’ in dealing with cases in a timely
way, not only in the face of the continued increase in caseload but also during what has been an
unsettling period for them in the latter part of the year, with the departure of the Ombudsman, the
appointment of an Acting Ombudsman, and anticipation of the appointment of the new, permanent
Ombudsman. I will take the opportunity here to thank all of the staff of the office for making me feel
so welcome, for their professionalism, and for the support that they have provided to me since taking
up my role as Acting Ombudsman.
The increase in complaints received is a matter of concern. Health complaints continue to be at the
core of that concern, having increased by another 11% on the position at the end of 2012/13, and being
a 146% increase over the past five years. The rise can be attributed to a number of factors: a reflection
of the increased number of episodes of procedures and treatments available giving rise to a greater
scope for things to go wrong; people’s increased expectations together with a greater propensity to
complain; and local health boards and trusts not responding appropriately to a proportion of those
complaints (a matter I address further below). However, there can be no denying that it is also an
indication that increasingly health service delivery is not what it should be.
However, another area of concern this year has been the increase in social services complaints.
Although starting from a much lower base in terms of number of complaints compared to health, there
was a 19% increase in social services complaints against the position in 2013/14. It is timely to reflect
on this situation now, before the introduction of the new areas to the Ombudsman’s jurisdiction as a
result of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Bill and the changes to the statutory social services
complaints procedure. It will be important when monitoring the level of social services complaints
to this office not to automatically assume that any increases are merely due to these jurisdictional
changes.

Making a Difference
Statistics by their very nature are somewhat impersonal. It is crucial that we do not lose sight of the
human experiences that lie behind them. Every complaint equates to a person who has felt aggrieved
in some way about public service delivery. The summaries of our public interest reports (see Annex A)
give some perspective on this.
Over and above putting things right for the individual we also seek to make a difference through driving
improvement in public service delivery by sharing the lessons from our investigations. Our public
interest reports and the Ombudsman’s Casebook are key tools in this aim, with the latter being well
received by bodies in jurisdiction in particular.
The casework of this office can be a good barometer. It can indicate where the pressures lie in public
service delivery, as evidenced in the rise of the health complaints for example. We have a unique
overview of public service delivery in Wales derived from the views of members of the public who
have been dissatisfied with the service they have received. Whilst we respond to National Assembly

Page 231

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 5

5

21/05/2014 17:18

and Welsh Government consultations where that is appropriate, public policy makers are encouraged
to proactively engage with this office so that any indicators or lessons from our casework can be taken
into consideration at an early stage.

The complaint handling landscape in Wales
The PSOW has over a number of years promoted the concept that all public service providers in
Wales should adopt a common approach to dealing with complaints. The NHS’s ‘Putting Things Right’
procedure and the Model Concerns and Complaints policy were developed in tandem and both use
a two stage process (one informal stage and one formal investigation stage), with complainants, if
remaining unhappy, then being able to complain to the Ombudsman. We welcome the fact that the last
jigsaw piece to this common approach landscape will soon be slotted into place. In particular, this will
now enable complaints involving more than one public service provider to be dealt with effectively,
with complainants receiving one comprehensive response from the service provider which has taken
the lead on co-ordinating the multi-faceted complaint investigation.
The way complaints are being handled, particularly health complaints, has featured prominently in
public discussion during 2013/14. It is the clear view of this office that it is not with the process itself
that the problem lies. Rather, it lays with the culture within health bodies and their attitude towards
dealing with complaints. Some health boards are insufficiently resourced and there is often a lack
of active backing for those managing complaints from senior managers and boards. This means that
complaint handling staff are sometimes unable to secure appropriate and timely responses from those
who are parties to the subject of the complaint under investigation. The investigations undertaken
by this office have time and time again revealed occasions where complaints have not been dealt
with in a sufficiently robust manner; for example, independent clinical expertise has not been sought
when cases are sufficiently serious in their nature to warrant it. There is also a need for health board
members to provide suitable challenge to management and to hold senior managers to account for not
responding promptly and appropriately to any identified failures.
Finally, the oversight of the complaints function across public service providers in Wales is limited.
During 2013/14, it was not possible to gather comparable statistics on numbers, types or outcomes of
complaints made to county/county borough councils or health boards. Both Putting Things Right and
the Model Concerns and Complaints Policy make provision for this. However, such data is not currently
being collected or analysed at an all-Wales level. This is a valuable source for greater understanding
of how well services are being delivered by various bodies, offering opportunities to learn from each
other, and indeed to understand how these bodies are dealing with complaints. This is something that
the Welsh Government, and the National Assembly for Wales with its scrutiny role, may wish to reflect
upon.

6

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 6

Page 232

21/05/2014 17:18

Future considerations
Towards the end of his time in office, Peter Tyndall set out his view that, with the tenth anniversary of
the establishment of the Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005 on the horizon, it was timely to
review the legislation under which the Ombudsman operated. He pointed to a number of areas which
warranted consideration - for example ‘own initiative’ powers, which are now common amongst the
remits of ombudsmen in Europe and elsewhere in the world. These views are ones that I share, and I
hope that the National Assembly for Wales will give further consideration to the proposal that the Act
should be reviewed.
Consideration will also need to be given to the implementation of the European Union Consumer
Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Directive (implementation date is July 2015). The Directive
imposes a requirement on EU member states to offer effective access to ADR services for resolving
contractual disputes between consumers and businesses concerning the sale of products and services.
The Ombudsman Association has been giving this issue close attention. Although responsibility for
meeting the requirements of the Directive largely falls to the UK Government, it is also something that
we need to give attention to in Wales, including in the context of the possibility of greater devolved
powers to the National Assembly.

Peter Tyndall
Finally, I wish to end this introduction by paying tribute to my predecessor, Peter Tyndall. He undertook
his role with commitment and integrity, and ensured his independence as Ombudsman. He developed
an efficient office, which was crucial in the face of the increasing caseload. He also introduced and
facilitated a number of innovations in the complaints handling landscape. These gained recognition
within the international Ombudsman community, but more importantly they have made the process of
complaining to, and about, public services easier for people living in Wales.

Margaret Griffiths
Acting Ombudsman

Page 233

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 7

7

21/05/2014 17:18

2. The Role of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales

The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales has two specific roles. The first is to consider complaints
made by members of the public that they have suffered hardship or injustice through maladministration
or service failure on the part of a body in jurisdiction. The second role is to consider complaints that
members of local authorities have broken the Code of Conduct.

Complaints about public bodies in Wales
The bodies that come within jurisdiction are generally those that provide public services where
responsibility for their provision has been devolved to Wales. More specifically, the organisations the
Ombudsman can look into include:
• local government (both county and community councils);
• the National Health Service (including GPs and dentists);
• registered social landlords (housing associations);
• and the Welsh Government, together with its sponsored bodies.
When considering complaints about public bodies in Wales, the Ombudsman looks to see whether
people have been treated unfairly or inconsiderately, or have received a bad service through some
fault on the part of the public body. Attention will also be given as to whether the public body has
acted in accordance with the law and its own policies. If a complaint is upheld the Ombudsman
will recommend appropriate redress. The main approach taken when recommending redress is,
where possible, to put the complainant (or the person who has suffered the injustice) back to the
position they would have been in if the maladministration had not occurred. Furthermore, if from the
investigation the Ombudsman sees evidence of a systemic weakness, then recommendations will be
made with the aim of reducing the likelihood of others being similarly affected in future.
Investigations are undertaken in private and are confidential. When the Ombudsman publishes a report,
it is anonymised to protect (as far as possible without compromising the effectiveness of the report)
the identity not only of the complainant but also of other individuals involved.
The Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005 provides two ways for reporting formally on
investigations. Reports under section 16 of the Act are public interest reports and almost all are
published. The body concerned is obliged to give publicity to such a report at its own expense. Where
the Ombudsman does not consider the public interest requires a section 16 report (and provided the
body concerned has agreed to implement any recommendations made) findings can be issued under
section 21 of the Act. Depending on the nature and complexity of the investigation this will sometimes
be in the format of a report, or it can take the form of a letter. There is no requirement on the body
concerned to publicise section 21 reports or letters.

8

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 8

Page 234

21/05/2014 17:18

Occasionally, the Ombudsman needs to direct that a report should not be made public due to its
sensitive nature and the likelihood that those involved could be identified. For technical reasons, such
a report is issued under section16 of the Act, even though it is not a public interest report, and the
Ombudsman makes a direction under section 17 of the Act. There were five such reports issued during
2013/14.
The Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005 also gives the Ombudsman the power to do
anything which is calculated to facilitate the settlement of a complaint, as well as or instead of
investigating it. In the right circumstances, a ‘quick fix’ without an investigation can be of advantage to
both the complainant and the body concerned. We have been keen to see greater use made of this
power over recent years and seek to identify as many cases as possible that may lend themselves to
this kind of resolution (see page 15 for further details).

Complaints that members of local authorities have broken the Code of Conduct
The Ombudsman’s role in considering complaints alleging that members of local authorities have
broken the Code of Conduct is slightly different to that in relation to complaints about public bodies.
This type of complaint is investigated under the provisions of Part III of the Local Government Act
2000 and also relevant Orders made by the National Assembly for Wales under that Act.
Where it is decided that a complaint should be investigated, the Ombudsman can arrive at one of four
findings:
(a) that there is no evidence that there has been a breach of the authority’s code of conduct
(b) that no action needs to be taken in respect of the matters that were subject to investigation
(c) that the matter be referred to the authority’s monitoring officer for consideration by the standards
committee
(d) that the matter be referred to the President of the Adjudication Panel for Wales for adjudication by
a tribunal (this generally happens in more serious cases).
In the circumstances of (c) or (d) above, the Ombudsman is required to submit the investigation report
to the standards committee or a tribunal of the Adjudication Panel for Wales and it is for them to
consider the evidence found, together with any defence put forward by the member concerned.
Further, it is for them to determine whether a breach has occurred and, if so, what penalty, if any,
should be imposed.

Page 235

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 9

9

21/05/2014 17:18

3. Complaints of maladministration and service failure

Headline figures
• We received 3.234 enquiries, up 11% on 2012/13.
• We received 1,932 new complaints, up 8% on 2012/13.
• We achieved 214 quick fixes/voluntary settlements, up 21% on 2012/13.
• We issued 245 investigation reports, up 2% on 2012/13.
• We closed 1,926 cases, up 12% on 2012/13.
• We had 393 cases on hand at 31 March 2014, up 3% on 2012/13.
• We had 1 investigation more than 12 months old open at 31 March 2014.

Caseload – overall position
The number of complaints about public bodies that we receive continues to increase. As the figures
in the table below indicate, the overall level of new complaints has increased by 8% compared to the
position for 2012/13.
Total Number of Complaints
455

Cases carried over from 2011/12
(includes Code of Conduct complaints)
New public body complaint cases 2012/13

1,790

Total complaints 2012/13

2,245

Cases carried over from 2012/13
(includes Code of Conduct complaints)

382

New public body complaint cases 2013/14

1,932

Total complaints 2013/14

2,314
393

Cases to be carried forward to 2014/15
(includes Code of Conduct Complaints)

In addition, the office dealt with 3,234 enquiries during 2013/14, compared with 2,906 the previous year.
The number of complaint cases on hand at the end of 2013/14 stood at 393 (compared with 382 at the
end of 2012/13). As a caseload on hand at any one time, this level is considered to be manageable; that
it has been achieved against a background of a continued growth in both complaints and enquiries to
the office is a testament to the dedication and commitment of the PSOW’s staff.

10

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 10

Page 236

21/05/2014 17:18

Sectoral breakdown of complaints
The chart below shows the trends in complaints received per sector. The county council sector has
always been the one which has generated the most complaints to this office. As has previously been
pointed out, this is not necessarily surprising in view of the wide range of services that these councils
provide. However, whilst high in number, complaints received about county councils had held at a fairly
constant level over recent years and last year it was good to be able to report that there had been a
slight decline. It is disappointing therefore that there has been a notable (9.5%) increase in complaints
about this sector over the past year.
Also clear from the chart below is the increase in NHS complaints, which continues the significant
upward trend of recent years. There was an 11% increase over the past year (759 complaints compared
with 682 in 2012/13). Whilst the continued higher profile of the office, particularly in relation to its
role in considering health complaints, can partly attribute for the increase, it must be deduced that
the main cause is greater dissatisfaction in health service provision by those in receipt of it, with health
boards then failing to deal with the complaints made to them in an effective manner.

Complaints by public body sector
1,000
900
800

2013/14

2012/13

891
814
759
682

700
600
500
400
300
200

165 171
75 73

100
0
County/County
Borough
Councils

NHS
Bodies

1000
800

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 11

Social
Housing

23 24

Welsh
Community
Government &
Councils
its Sponsored
Bodies

Page 237

15

18

National Parks
Authorities

3

4

Fire
Authorities

0

2

Police
Authorities

1

2

Other

11

21/05/2014 17:18

Complaints about public bodies by subject
As can be seen from the chart below, health complaints account for 36% of the caseload, compared
with 37% in 2013/14. This very small decrease in ratio terms is due to an increase in other types of
complaints received rather than a fall in the number of health complaints received (as confirmed by
the details on the previous page). As has been the case in recent years, housing (14%) and planning
(12%) are the service areas which account for the greatest number of complaints received after health
complaints. In terms of the areas of growth however, most notable is that of social services, where
comparing the number of social services complaints received in 2013/14 with 2012/13, there has been
a 19% increase. This clearly is a matter of concern and suggests that service user discontent with social
service provision is now beginning to manifest itself in a similar way to service users of health provision.

Complaints by subject 2013/14

7%

9%

4% 1%

5%
4%
4%

4%

12%

36%
14%

Benefits and Taxation
Community Facilities, Recreation and Leisure
Complaint Handling
Education
Environment and Environmental Health
Health
Housing
Planning and Building Control
Roads and Transport
Social Services
Various other

[Note: Complaints are categorised by the main subject area of a complaint. However, complaints can
also comprise other areas of dissatisfaction - for example, a ‘Health’ complaint may also contain a
grievance about ‘Complaint Handling’.]

12

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 12

Page 238

21/05/2014 17:18

Outcomes of complaints considered
An overall summary of the outcomes of the cases closed during the past year, and a comparison with
the position last year is given in the table below. Complaints included in the category ‘Cases closed
after initial consideration’ include those received which:
• were outside of the Ombudsman’s jurisdiction,
• were premature (that is, the complainant had not first complained to the public service provider,
giving them an opportunity to put matters right),
• did not provide any evidence of maladministration or service failure,
• did not provide any evidence of hardship or injustice suffered by the complainant,
• showed that little further would be achieved by pursuing the matter (for example, a public body may
have already acknowledged providing a poor service and apologised).
(A breakdown by listed authority of the outcome of complaints investigated during 2013/14 is set out
at Annex B.)
Complaint about a Public Body
Closed after initial consideration
Complaint withdrawn
Complaint settled voluntarily (includes “quick fix” of 171 cases)
Investigation discontinued
Investigation: complaint not upheld
Investigation: complaint upheld in whole or in part
Investigation: complaint upheld in whole or in part – public interest report
Total Outcomes – Complaints

2013/14
1,402
47
214
18
63
173
9
1,926

2012/13
1,260
26
177
21
68
163
10
1,725

Decision times
Below are two charts which report on decision times. These show how we have performed against the
two key targets we have set ourselves, which are:
• at least 90% of all complainants to be informed within 4 weeks whether the Ombudsman will take up
their complaint (from the date that sufficient information is received)
• to conclude all cases within 12 months from the point that a decision is made to take up a complaint
(that is, to commence investigation of a complaint).

Page 239

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 13

13

21/05/2014 17:18

Particularly in view of the increase of enquiries and complaints to the office, it is very pleasing that we
surpassed our first target and actually informed 93% of complainants within the 4 week timescale.
Performance with regard to the second target is also very satisfactory. The chart below shows that
we achieved a 100% rate in completing investigations within 12 months. Nevertheless, it should be
acknowledged that there is a ‘rounding issue’ at play here and that in fact one case did take longer
than this. The relevant case was a complex one concerning continuing health care. The investigation
necessitated detailed enquiries of the Welsh Government in relation to the approach taken by health
boards when assessing continuing health care eligibility across Wales.

Decision times for informing complainants if complaint will be taken up
80%
70%
60%

61%

2013/14

2012/13

3% 2%

2% 1%

2% 1%

Within
5 Weeks

Within
6 Weeks

Over
6 Weeks

67%

50%
40%
30%
20%

13% 12%

10%

9% 9%

10% 8%

0%
Within
1 Week

Within
2 Weeks

Within
3 Weeks

Within
4 Weeks

Decision times for concluding investigations of public body complaints
50%

45%
40%

2013/14

2012/13

36%
28%

30%

31%

24%
20%

10%

17%
9%

7%
0% 1%

0%
Less than
3 months

03 to 06
months

14

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 14

06 to 09
months

09 to 12
months

12 to 18
months

Page 240

21/05/2014 17:18

Complaints Advice Team
The Complaints Advice Team (CAT) continues to provide our frontline service and responds to
enquiries to the office. Enquiries are contacts made by potential complainants asking about the service
provided, which do not, in the end, result in a formal complaint being made to the Ombudsman. At this
point of first contact, we will act in various ways, such as:
• advise people how to make a complaint to this office
• where people have not already complained to the relevant public body, we will advise them
appropriately, sending their complaint directly to that body on their behalf if that is their wish
• where the matter is outside the PSOW’s jurisdiction, direct the enquirer to the appropriate
organisation able to help them.
It is also important to note that, where appropriate, the CAT also seeks to resolve a problem at enquiry
stage without taking the matter forward to the stage of a formal complaint.
We are pleased that despite the continued increase in enquiries to this office we have been able to
provide a prompt service at the frontline. We set ourselves the target of answering our main line
reception calls within 30 seconds in 95% of cases. There were 7,943 main line calls to the office during
2013/14, and it is an excellent performance that 99.8% of these were answered within this timescale.
Beyond dealing with enquiries, the CAT is also charged with looking for effective, swift and innovative
ways to resolve concerns when we do receive formal complaints. The team endeavours to identify
ways of addressing complainants’ concerns, without the need to progress matters to detailed
investigation. We clearly cannot control the number of complaints coming to the office suitable for
this type of resolution. However, we are pleased that we were able to achieve 171 ‘quick’ fixes in 2013/14
compared to 150 in 2012/13. Summaries of the complaints that we are able to resolve in this way can be
found in the Ombudsman’s Casebook available on our website: www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk.

Joint investigations
Under the PSOW Act, the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales is able to co-operate with other
Ombudsmen. It is the practice to draw attention in the PSOW’s Annual Reports to any such joint
investigations. However, no complaints received by the PSOW or colleague Ombudsmen in other parts
of the United Kingdom have necessitated such a joint investigation over the past year.

Page 241

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 15

15

21/05/2014 17:18

4. Code of Conduct Complaints
Headline figures
• We received 228 new complaints, down 22% on 2012/13.
• We referred 6 investigation reports to either a standards committee or the Adjudication Panel
for Wales, down 70% on 2012/13.
• We closed 229 cases, down 38% on 2012/13.
• We had no investigations older than 12 months open at 31 March 2014.

Complaints received
The table below gives a breakdown of the code of conduct complaints received by type of authority.
2013/14
2012/13
Community Council
115
140
County/County Borough Council
111
150
Fire Authority
2
0
National Park
0
0
Police Authority
0
1
Total
228
291
It is particularly pleasing to see that the number of code of conduct complaints have continued to
fall. The new local resolution arrangements introduced by local authorities over the past year or so is
clearly having the desired effect with the decrease of 22% of complaints to this office compared with
the previous year. It is now our practice under these new arrangements to refer ‘low level’ complaints
made by one member against another, such as allegations of failures to show respect and consideration
of others under paragraph 4(b) of the code, to authorities’ monitoring officers to be dealt with locally.
We have also continued with the approach adopted last year of writing to the local Monitoring
Officer when the Ombudsman is minded not to investigate a complaint, or, having commenced an
investigation, is minded to close the case. This will arise when it is judged that even if the Standards
Committee did find that there had been a breach of the Code, it would be unlikely to apply a sanction.
It will then be for the Monitoring Officer to consider the matter. If they take a different view on the
likelihood of the Standards Committee applying a sanction should they decide that there has been a
breach of the Code, then the investigation is transferred to them for local consideration. During the
past year, 16 such complaints were referred to monitoring officers, of which 1 was called in for local
investigation.

16

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 16

Page 242

21/05/2014 17:18

Nature of Code of Conduct complaints
As in previous years, the majority of complaints received during 2013/14 related to matters of ‘equality and
respect’. In 2013/14 this was 36% of the code of conduct complaints received compared to 35% in 2012/13.
The next largest areas of complaint related to disclosure and registration of interests (21%), and integrity (20%).
1%

11%
Accountability and openness

36%

Disclosure and registration of interests

21%

Duty to uphold the law
Integrity
Objectivity and propriety

3%

Promotion of equality and respect
Selflessness and stewardship

8%

20%

Summary of Code of Conduct complaint outcomes
Of the Code of Conduct cases considered in 2013/14, the majority were closed under the category
shown below as ‘Closed after initial consideration’. This includes decisions such as:
• there was no ‘prima facie’ evidence of a breach of the Code
• the alleged breach was insufficiently serious to warrant an investigation (and unlikely to attract a
sanction)
• the incident complained about happened before the member was elected (before they were bound
by the Code).

Complaint about a public body
Closed after initial consideration
Complaint withdrawn
Investigation discontinued
Investigation completed: No evidence of breach
Investigation completed: No action necessary
Investigation completed: Refer to Standards Committee
Investigation completed: Refer to Adjudication Panel
Total Outcomes – Code of Conduct complaints

2013/14
176
12
8
10
17
5
1
229

2012/13
283
12
18
23
15
15
5
371

(A detailed breakdown of the outcome of Code of Conduct complaints investigated, by local authority,
during 2013/14 is set out at Annex C.)

Page 243

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 17

17

21/05/2014 17:18

Not only have the number of code of conduct complaints to the office decreased over the past year,
notable is the reduction in the number of cases referred to either an authority’s standards committee
or to the Adjudication Panel for Wales, which fell significantly from 20 in 2012/13 to 6 in 2013/14. This
is partly attributable to the effects of the High Court judgement on the Calver case in 2012. The ruling
on this case, concerning a member’s freedom of expression attracting enhanced protection under
the Human Rights legislation when comments made are political in nature, has had an impact on
the application of paragraph 4b of the Code of Conduct relating to treating others with respect and
consideration. Taking account of the ruling that politicians need to have ‘thicker skins, the bar has now
been raised on what the Ombudsman refers to a Committee or the Panel.

Decision times
Below are the decision times for code of conduct complaints. The time targets set for code of conduct
complaints are similar to those for complaints about public bodies, that is:
• at least 90% of all complainants to be informed within 4 weeks whether Ombudsman will take up
their complaint (from the date that sufficient information is received)
• to conclude all cases within 12 months from the point that a decision is made to take up a complaint
(that is, to commence investigation of a complaint).

Decision times for informing complainants we will take up their complaint
35%
30%

2013/14

33%
30%

2012/13

29%

25%

21%

21%
20%

18%

15%

12%
9%

10%

8%
6%

5%

3%

5%
3%

2%

0%
Within 1
Week

Within 2
Weeks

18

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 18

Within 3
Weeks

Within 4
Weeks

Within 5
Weeks

Within 6
Weeks

Over 6
Weeks

Page 244

21/05/2014 17:18

Decision times for concluding code of conduct investigations
50%

2013/14

2012/13

44%
41%

40%

29%

30%

29%

22%
20%

15%
12%
10%

5%
0%

0%
Less than
3 months

03 to 06
months

06 to 09
months

09 to 12
months

3%

12 to 18
months

In respect of the first target, we actually achieved this 81% of the time, and it is a little disappointing
that we have not been able to achieve the 90% target in respect of code of conduct complaints
and that we were unable to sustain our performance in 2012/13. This will be a matter that we will be
looking to address in the year to come therefore.
With regard to the second target, and on a much more positive note, we are particularly pleased that
we achieved a 100% success rate for completion of code of conduct investigations within 12 months.
When looking back on previous Annual Reports it can be seen that our performance on code of
conduct cases has been improving year on year. It is especially pleasing when comparing the position
to three years ago when only 63% of code investigations were concluded in under 12 months. Against
that position, the fact that over the past year 85% of investigations were completed in less than 9
months is even more gratifying.

Standards Committee and Adjudication Panel for Wales’s Hearings – Indemnity Cap
The PSOW has previously made clear concerns about the levels of indemnity enjoyed by members
who are accused of a breach and the need for this to be addressed. This is particularly of concern
when considering the best use of public money, especially when all publicly funded organisations are
working within a very difficult financial climate. By having unlimited indemnity, it is possible for cases
before tribunals to last for months or even longer, with counsel being engaged at very considerable
cost. Following discussions with the WLGA a proposed ceiling of £20,000 was agreed. Good progress

Page 245

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 19

19

21/05/2014 17:18

has been made by local authorities in introducing such a cap over the past year or so. However, it is
disappointing that a couple of councils who have an insurance arrangement in place for indemnity have
stated that they are unable to fall in line due to insurance companies resisting such a ceiling.
Welsh Government Ministers had previously indicated that they may consider addressing this matter
through legislation if wholesale voluntary agreement could not be secured. This is a matter which may
therefore need to be re-raised in the forthcoming year.

20

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 20

Page 246

21/05/2014 17:18

5. Improving Public Service Delivery

As the third strategic aim of our Three Year Strategic Plan sets out (see Annex D), we place great
importance on using the knowledge and learning gained from our work to improve public service
delivery in Wales and to inform public policy. We have continued over the past year to do this through
a number of key vehicles, some of which are provided for in the PSOW Act.

Public interest reports
During 2013/14 we issued nine public interest reports (summaries of these are at Annex A and their full
text is available on the website at www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk). Being able to publish investigation
reports (under section 16 of the PSOW Act) means that we are able to draw attention to lessons that
can be learnt from our investigations; lessons that may apply to other similar public bodies. When
appropriate, we also draw the attention of the Welsh Government to such reports so that it can also
give consideration to any implications from a wider public policy perspective.

The Ombudsman’s Casebook
We continue to publish the Ombudsman’s Casebook, which many of the organisations in jurisdiction
now see as a valuable learning tool. The Casebook gathers together summaries of all of our
investigation reports regardless of whether they are issued under section 16 or section 21 of the PSOW
Act – the latter being reports which are not formally published because the cases are not considered
to be of public interest in themselves. Nevertheless, as a body of work, there are often lessons that can
be learnt. The Casebook also includes summaries of the quick fixes achieved so that the learning from
the cases that we resolve informally can also be shared.
Topics addressed in the four digests published during 2013/14 are set out below. The key issues
identified where lessons could be learnt were as follows:
• the need for public service providers to properly take account of a specific need when providing a
service (for example if someone has a disability or health condition)
• delays in providing a service, which can in and of themselves be examples of maladministration, and
can sometimes compound a particular problem or be the cause of a complaint itself
• poor complaint handling, including shortcomings in the investigations where these had not been
sufficiently robust and responses to complainants were found to be not sufficiently accurate,
thorough or transparent.

The Code of Conduct Casebook
Due to the success of the Ombudsman’s Casebook, we received requests from local authority
monitoring officers for a similar publication in relation to the code of conduct investigations that
we undertake. In response to this demand, therefore, we issued the first edition of the Code of
Conduct Casebook in November 2013. The new Casebook includes summaries for all code of conduct

Page 247

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 21

21

21/05/2014 17:18

cases which have been taken into investigation. However, to ensure that information is put into the
public domain at appropriate time, we will be not be publishing the summaries of any cases awaiting
Standards Committee or Panel hearings until the outcomes of the relevant hearings are known;
when these are available the Casebook will provide links to the appropriate decisions. Whereas The
Ombudsman’s Casebook is produced on a quarterly basis, the new Code of Conduct Casebook will be
published twice per year.

Annual letters
We have continued with the practice of issuing Annual Letters to county/county borough councils
and health boards, which are also published on our website. We do not receive the necessary volume
of complaints in respect of other bodies to enable meaningful comparisons on an all Wales basis and
to identify any trends. The Annual Letters are also used as the basis of discussions with the Chairs and
Chief Executives of individual local health boards. Local authorities are also invited to seek a meeting
to discuss their particular Annual Letter if they so wish.

Complaint handling by public service providers
There has also been a continued interest on progress on the adoption of the Model complaints policy
and guidance issued to public service providers by Welsh Government. The fact that all but one of the
county/county borough councils have now adopted, or are imminently about to adopt, the Model
is very welcome. It is believed that the remaining council is also working towards its adoption. With
regard to housing associations, although a good number have adopted the Model Policy, take up has
been somewhat slower amongst this sector; the issue of how this might be progressed will be a matter
for consideration in the forthcoming year.

Informing Public Policy
Another means of achieving our aim of contributing to public policy discussions is through engaging
with Welsh Government consultations and Welsh Assembly Committee scrutiny activities. For
example, using the evidence from our investigations we responded to consultations on the Continuing
NHS Healthcare National Framework and the Government’s proposals to reform the planning system in
Wales. In addition, we appreciated the opportunity to contribute our views to the review of concerns
and complaints handling within NHS Wales being undertaken by Mr Keith Evans at the request of
the Welsh Government. We also gave evidence to a number of Assembly Committee meetings on
issues such scrutiny of the Social Care and Wellbeing Bill and the inquiry into the work of Healthcare
Inspectorate Wales. The opportunity to discuss the PSOW’s Annual Report with the Communities,
Equality and Local Government Committee and share the learning for public service providers
emerging from our work was welcomed once again.

22

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 22

Page 248

21/05/2014 17:18

6. Governance and Accountability

The Ombudsman
The Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act establishes the office of the Ombudsman as a
‘corporation sole’. The Ombudsman is accountable to the National Assembly for Wales, both through
the mechanism of the annual report, and as Accounting Officer for the public funds with which the
National Assembly entrusts the Ombudsman to undertake their functions.

Governance arrangements
Advisory Panel
The Advisory Panel, established during 2011/12, continued to meet on a regular basis over the past
year. The Panel was set up with the aim of enhancing openness and transparency of the office, whilst
bearing in mind the constitutional position of a corporation sole and the fact that responsibility and
accountability for the activities carried out by the office must remain with the Ombudsman.
At the end of 2013/14 a review of the effectiveness of the Panel was undertaken, which took into
account the views of Members themselves. This proved to be a positive exercise with all involved
satisfied that the Panel added the additional scrutiny and support sought by the Ombudsman.
The Membership during the year was as follows:
• Ceri Stradling (also Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee) – a former Senior Partner with the Wales
Audit Office (until beginning March 2014)
• Bill Richardson – former Deputy Chief Executive at the office of the Parliamentary and Health Service
Ombudsman
• Jan Williams – former Chief Executive of Cardiff & Vale University Health Board, and currently IPCC
Commissioner for Wales
• John Williams – former Director of Social Services for Conwy County Borough Council.
My role on the Panel changed from the beginning of December upon being appointed Acting
Ombudsman and, for the time being, I am no longer ‘an Independent Member’. However, in view of the
fact that my appointment as Acting Ombudsman is an interim measure, it was decided not to fill the
temporary vacancy that has arisen.
Due to his appointment to bodies within the Ombudsman’s jurisdiction, Ceri Stradling resigned from
the Panel towards the end of the year. Consideration will now be given to filling the vacancy that has
arisen. However, I wish to take this opportunity to record our thanks Mr Stradling for his considerable
contribution as a member of the Advisory Panel, but particularly for his valuable and highly appreciated
work as Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee.

Page 249

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 23

23

21/05/2014 17:18

Audit & Risk Committee
The use that the Ombudsman makes of the resources available to the office is subject to the scrutiny
of the Wales Audit Office, which is responsible for auditing the Ombudsman’s accounts. This work was
outsourced to Grant Thornton UK LLP by the Wales Audit Office in 2008/09. The Auditor General,
however, remains ultimately responsible for the external audit function.
Although a ‘corporation sole’, the Audit & Risk Committee is charged with advising the Ombudsman in
the discharge of the Accounting Officer duties. Again, with the impact of the interim arrangements with
the change of Ombudsman, I stood down on a permanent basis as an independent member, but remain
on the Committee as the Accounting Officer. John Williams, an existing Advisory Panel Member, kindly
agreed to take my place as one of the independent Committee members. Furthermore, following
Ceri Stradling’s resignation, I was grateful to Bill Richardson, an existing member of the Committee, for
agreeing to henceforth take the position of Chair of the Committee.
The Audit & Risk Committee considers matters including budget estimates, annual accounts, external
and internal audit reports, and risk management issues. The Committee met four times during 2012/13
and it is pleasing that no substantive matters of concern were raised during the year. Deloitte continue
to be the internal auditors and their programme of work is guided and overseen by the Audit & Risk
Committee, where the good and constructive relationship developed in previous years continues.
Management Team
Whilst the Ombudsman is solely accountable for the decisions and operation of the office, the
Management Team is a formal group that provides advice and support. It takes specific responsibility
for advising on the development of the three year Strategic Plan and the annual Business Plan; annual
budgetary requirements; ensuring the best use of the public money received; and an appropriate
performance monitoring framework.
It is also responsible for the delivery and monitoring of strategic aims; monthly performance monitoring
against objectives; ensuring that risks are actively identified and addressed; agreeing corporate policies
(e.g. complaint handling procedures, human resources policies) and monitoring their effectiveness; and
developing the office’s outreach strategy and monitoring its implementation.

Three Year Strategic Plan and Business Plan
The past year was the second in relation to implementation of the Strategic Plan developed for 2012/13
to 2014/15 and many of the activities and achievements have been reflected in this Annual Report. The
existing vision, values, purposes and strategic aims for the PSOW service can be found at Appendix D.
A ‘Year 3 Update’ has been produced to take the office forward into the final year of the Strategic Plan
as has an annual Business Plan for 2014/15, which flows from the Strategic Plan and sets specific targets
and performance indicators for the year ahead.

24

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 24

Page 250

21/05/2014 17:18

Strategic Equality Plan
In accordance with the Equality Act 2010 and the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales)
Regulations 2011 laid down by the National Assembly for Wales, the PSOW published a Strategic
Equality Plan at the end of March 2012 (compliant with the requirement to issue the Plan before 2 April
2012). Under the specific duties, the PSOW is required to report annually on relevant equality issues.
This is done via Section 8 of this Annual Report.

Page 251

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 25

25

21/05/2014 17:18

7. Other Activities
Complaints Wales signposting service
The Complaints Wales service is provided by the Complaints Advice Team. They advise people on which
public service provider they should complain to and also capture the crux of the complaint and (with the
complainant’s consent) send the details on to the relevant public body on their behalf. The service signposts
complaints not only in respect of public services devolved to Wales but also in relation to non devolved
public services – for example, benefits and pensions. It also assists in relation to organisations such as
the utility companies, which many people still consider to be ‘public services’, despite the fact that utility
services have now been provided by private entities for many years. Furthermore, if people have already
complained directly to the service provider, then the service will signpost them to the relevant ombudsman
or other complaint handling body.
The service is now well developed, but we proceed to build on the information and data we hold on
advice and advocacy organisations, including giving summary details on our website of the type of service
provided by these bodies.
During the past year, we continued with our promotional activity for the service. The quarterly radio
campaign, which began in 2012/13, continued and this was supplemented by an advertisement campaign
on buses throughout Wales during December 2013.

Complainant satisfaction research
Research via complainant satisfaction surveys has been an important means of understanding
complainants’ views of the service we provide. At the beginning of 2013/14 we began undertaking our
complainant satisfaction survey and our equality monitoring work as one exercise. We will in 2014/15
begin analyses to see whether there are variations to satisfaction levels between various groups of people.
If differences in satisfaction do emerge we will then work to understand why this might be and what we
may be able to do to address the position.
However, for the time being, below is the feedback received in relation to customer satisfaction for our
first contact service. The overall outcome of responses during 2013/14, where service users were asked
whether they agreed or disagreed with the statements below is as follows:
% of respondents answering
either ‘strongly agree’ or ‘agree’
It was easy to find out how to contact the Public Services Ombudsman
for Wales

83%

The service I have received has been helpful and sensitive

73%

Staff were able to understand my complaint / The person that dealt with
my query knew enough to be able to answer my questions

75%

I was given a clear explanation of what would happen to my query/
complaint

82%

The service has provided what I expected of it

64%

26

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 26

Page 252

21/05/2014 17:18

As can be seen, overall there is a very good level of satisfaction. It is notable that with regard to the
final question, the way in which service users respond to this question is often affected by a decision
by the Ombudsman not to investigate their complaint, for example, because the person concerned
has not yet complained to the relevant organisation or that the matter is outside of the Ombudsman’s
jurisdiction. Sometimes, people decline to answer this question, saying that they are going to wait for
the Ombudsman’s decision on their complaint.

Information and Communication Technology (ICT)
Ensuring that we have appropriate up to date hardware and software has been key in enabling us to
deal with the ever increasing complaints caseload being received. Focus over the past year has been to
replace desk top PCs, introduce Wifi installation and to increase bandwidth, all of which are aimed at
enabling staff to more work more efficiently.

Communication
Websites: Our work in 2013/14 focussed on developing mobile versions of both the Ombudsman’s
website and the Complaints Wales websites. This work was consistent with our aim to make our service
accessible to everyone. Already aware that online was increasingly becoming the chosen method for
people to make their complaint to the Ombudsman, our analysis of website users indicated that more
and more were accessing the service via mobile and tablet devices. Apart from wanting a visually
pleasing solution, it was important for us that the user experience in making a complaint about a public
service via a mobile device should be equally as easy as doing so on a desk top computer. The new
mobile versions were launched in January 2014 and to date feedback received has been very positive.
Traditional Media: Good television and radio coverage (both English and Welsh language) continues,
with focus again being on the public interest reports issued. A good level of coverage in the press has
also continued with 179 articles mentioning the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales during 2013/14,
which is a similar level to the previous year.
Outreach: We have also continued with our practice of meeting with and addressing various voluntary
organisations. For example, during the past year we spoke at a Swansea Bay BME Forum, Citizens Advice
Bureau meetings and an Age Cymru safeguarding conference. We also spoke at a number of events held
by the professional and representative bodies of those delivering public services (for example, medical
professionals; housing associations). In addition to this we held a seminar for the complaints officers
of local health boards and trusts. This enabled us to discuss with those at the coal face of complaint
handling the issues they faced in dealing with complaints in their organisations. It was an opportunity
to air the problems they encountered and what might be done to improve the way complaints are
dealt with and investigated. We also explored how health boards and trusts might themselves be able
to learn from the lessons for the complaints they handle internally themselves.

Page 253

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 27

27

21/05/2014 17:18

Human resources
The position regarding the change in Ombudsman has already been discussed in this report. However,
another key change took place during the year in relation to the senior management of the office.
The Director of Investigations and Legal Adviser had at the end of 2012/13 announced her intention
to retire in December 2013. As a result, a review of the management structure of the office was
undertaken and some minor changes were introduced. A post of Chief Operating Officer & Director
of Investigations was introduced, a recruitment exercise was undertaken, and the successful applicant
commenced in post in March 2014. The Legal Adviser role has now been taken on by one of the office’s
existing Investigation Managers. However, in order to facilitate a smooth transition over the period of
the Acting Ombudsman’s tenure of office, the Director of Investigations and Legal Adviser agreed to
continue to work at the office on a part time basis until such time as a permanent new Ombudsman
took up post.
We also towards the end of the year recruited to the additional investigator post created as a result of
the social services changes to be introduced during 2014/15 and the expected increase in complaints
to this office. This has allowed for a suitable period of training prior to the relevant legislative changes
being introduced. We also recruited to a number of posts which had been held vacant from 2012/13.
The organisational structure as at 31 March 2014 can be found on page 31.

The PSOW and the Ombudsman World
In many ways the role of the Ombudsman is unique. Although no one Ombudsman scheme is exactly
like another, the work of the Ombudsman Association (OA) is considered to be important as a means
of sharing best practice and to learn from each other. This is particularly valuable in view of the fact
that Ombudsman schemes need to be objective and maintain an appropriate distance from the bodies
in jurisdiction. We have continued to participate in OA activities, including participating in a number of
the OA Interest Groups.
It was reported last year that Wales had been asked to host the next European Regional Ombudsmen
conference. We have during the year been working with the European Ombudsman and her staff in
organising the event, which will take place between in June 2014. We are particularly grateful to Mrs
Rosemary Butler, the Presiding Officer, for agreeing to host a welcome reception at the Senedd for our
European colleagues on the evening of their arrival for the conference.
The PSOW was also very pleased to be able to welcome delegations from other parts of the world
to the office. In April 2013, we were delighted to discuss the work of our office with colleagues from
Uganda, Gambia and Nigeria. Then, in July we hosted a 26 strong delegation from China. We again had
an opportunity to discuss the work of our office, including how we take human rights considerations
into account whilst undertaking our investigation work.

28

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 28

Page 254

21/05/2014 17:18

Complaints about the PSOW service
The ‘Complaints about us’ procedure can be used if someone is unhappy about our service. For
example, a complainant may wish to complain about undue delay in responding to correspondence;
or feel that a member of staff has been rude or unhelpful; or that we have not done what we said we
would. There is a separate procedure for complainants wishing to appeal against a decision on their
complaint. Further details about both these procedures are available on our website:
www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk.
The table below reports on the number of complaints received during 2013/14 and their outcomes,
together with a comparison of the position in 2012/13.

Details of the ‘complaints about us’ received
Complaints brought forward from previous year
Not upheld
Upheld in whole or in part
Referred back to Investigation Manager or
Review Manager (investigation decision related)
Complaint withdrawn or insufficient information
Still open at 31 March
Total received
Total closed during year

2013/14
2
13
7
17

2012/13
2
32
12
10

7
3
45
44

3
2
59
59

The nature of the complaints that were upheld/partly upheld were:
Incorrect information provided
Failure to return call within reasonable timeframe
Undue delay in response
Failure to act upon request for e-mail contact only
Correspondence sent to incorrect address

1
1
2
1
2

Total

7

Page 255

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 29

29

21/05/2014 17:18

As a consequence of the above, the following action was undertaken:
• an apology was issued to the complainant in all 7 cases
• the relevant managers were made aware of the upheld complaints relevant to their team for future
training considerations and monitoring
• where appropriate, action in accordance with PSOW HR policies was undertaken
• staff training for all staff was undertaken with regard to postal and electronic correspondence
information security
• the case management database was enhanced to reduce the risk of missing requests for email contact
only from complainants.

30

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 30

Page 256

21/05/2014 17:18

Page 257

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 31

31

21/05/2014 17:18

COMPLAINTS ADVICE
TEAM
Investigations Manager

Senior Investigator x 1

Investigator x 6

Casework Officer x 6

CORPORATE SERVICES
& ADMINISTRATION

Corporate Services
Manager

Senior Casework
Support Officer x 1

Senior Corporate
Services Officer x 4

Casework Support
Officer x 4

Financial
Adviser

Investigator x 5

Senior Investigator x 6

Investigations Manager
& Legal Adviser

INVESTIGATION
TEAM

Chief Operating Officer &
Director of Investigations

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales

Organisational Chart (position as at 31 March 2014)

Investigator x 5

Senior Investigator x 6

Investigations Manager

INVESTIGATION
TEAM

Review
Manager

PA to the
Ombudsman

Management
Information Officer

Policy & Communications
Manager

EXECUTIVE
TEAM

8. Equality Issues

A commitment to treating people fairly is central to the role of an ombudsman. The Public Services
Ombudsman for Wales is committed to providing equal opportunities for staff and in the service
provided to complainants. No job applicant, staff member or person receiving a service from the
PSOW will be discriminated against, harassed or victimised due to personal characteristics such as
age, disability, ethnicity, sex, gender reassignment, pregnancy or maternity, sexual orientation, religion
or belief, whether they are married or in a civil partnership, or on the basis of any other irrelevant
consideration. Staff are expected to share the Ombudsman’s total opposition to unlawful and unfair
discrimination and the commitment to conducting business in a way that is fair to all members of
society.
Under the Equality Act 2010 and the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 laid
down by the National Assembly for Wales, the Ombudsman has a duty to publish a Strategic Equality
Plan and equality objectives. The first such Plan, which contains the Ombudsman’s equality objectives,
was published at the end of March 2012 and complied with the statutory requirement to publish before
2 April 2012. (The Plan is available on the website: see www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk). Also under the
specific duties, the Ombudsman is required to produce an annual report in respect of equality matters.
As articulated in the Strategic Equality Plan, many of our practices have been part and parcel of our
approach since the inception of the office in 2006. Where relevant therefore, these will remain a part
of the annual report on equality matters, which is set out below.

Accessibility
As part of our process, we do our very best to identify as early as possible any individual requirements
that may need to be met so that a service user can fully access our services and, in particular, we ask
people to tell us their preferred method of communication with us. We always try to make reasonable
adjustments where these will help people make and present their complaint to us. Examples are:
providing correspondence in Easy Read; using Language Line for interpretation, where a complainant
is not comfortable with making their complaint in English or Welsh; obtaining expertise to assist us to
understand the particular requirements of complainants with certain conditions, such as Asperger’s
syndrome; and visiting complainants at their homes.
We produce key documents in alternative formats, such as CD/tape and Braille, translate these into
the eight key ethnic minority languages used in Wales; and we have upgraded the accessibility of our
website from A to AA compliant and introduced BrowseAloud which allows the website to ‘talk’ to the
user.
At the end of 2013/14 mobile websites were introduced and it is the intention to introduce a version
of BrowseAloud (or similar application) specifically designed for tablets and smartphones in the
forthcoming year.

32

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 32

Page 258

21/05/2014 17:18

We also recognise that some service users may need assistance in making their complaint to us and
we have also invested a great deal of our energy in gathering information about advocacy and advice
organisations to help them in this regard. This is also key source of information in relation to the
Complaints Wales signposting service we provide, when members of the public may also want help
during the process of complaining to a public body or another complaint handler.

Equality Data Gathering/Monitoring – Service Users
We have always undertaken equality monitoring in respect of service users, which has informed our
annual outreach strategy. Results of equality monitoring undertaken since 2005/06 in respect of
service users was published in the Strategic Equality Plan.
However, as described in previous sections of this Annual Report, we have during 2013/14 revised our
equality monitoring process and methods. The outcome of the monitoring in respect of the protected
characteristic groups (as defined in the Equality Act) is set out below.
In view of the nature of the work of this office, we would expect the composition of people who
complain to this office to, at the very least, mirror the national demographic position; in fact, we would
expect the proportion of complainants from groups who could be considered to be at disadvantage
or vulnerable to exceed the national picture. In respect of each of the questions we asked, those who
completed the form were given the opportunity to responsd ‘Prefer not to say’. Nevertheless, from the
results below, the PSOW is relatively satisfied that in making comparisons with official data available
(e.g. the Census 2011) the composition of our service users meets or exceeds national demographics in
the way we would expect. The slight exception relates to people from minority ethnic backgrounds,
who comprise 3% of those who responded to our monitoring survey, whilst, according to the Census
2011, 4% of people in Wales identify themselves as having a minority ethnic background.
We take the results from our equality monitoring into account when developing our outreach
programmes. We began work in raising awareness of the PSOW service among people from minority
ethnic groups during 2013/14; this will be continued into 2014/15.
Protected characteristic group

Percentage Outcome

Age:
Under 25
25-34
35-44
45-54
55-64
65-74
75 or over
Prefer not to say/No response

4%
14%
14%
21%
19%
15%
6%
7%

Page 259

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 33

33

21/05/2014 17:18

Protected characteristic group

Percentage Outcome

Disability
Yes
No
Prefer not to say/No response
Health problem or disability limiting day-to-day activities?
Yes, limited a lot
Yes, limited a little
No
Prefer not to say/No response
Gender reassignment
Yes
No
Prefer not to say/No response
Religion or belief
No religion
Christian (all denominations)
Other religions
Prefer not to say/No response
Married or same-sex civil partnership
Yes
No
Prefer not to say/No response
Race/Ethnicity
White
Other ethnic background
Prefer not to say/No response
Sex
Male
Female
Prefer not to say/ No response
Sexual orientation
Heterosexual or straight
Gay or Lesbian
Bisexual
Other
Prefer not to say/No response

34

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 34

26%
60%
14%
26%
17%
43%
14%
0.5%
46.0%
53.5%
34%
50%
6%
10%
46%
41%
13%
89%
3%
8%
46%
46%
8%
83%
2%
1%
0%
14%

Page 260

21/05/2014 17:18

Our Casework
Our commitment and contribution to equality matters also manifests itself in our complaint handling
work. Indeed, the edition of the Ombudsman’s Casebook published in October 2013 gave particular
attention to the issue of failures by public bodies to take account of the specific needs of service users
when providing a service and gave specific examples of these. It was emphasised that public service
providers should be mindful of their obligations under Equality legislation. As pointed out in the
Casebook, whilst it is not for the Ombudsman to decide whether a public service provider is in breach
of such legislation, it is possible that the failure to take account of any such legal obligations, or to
follow policies and procedures designed to implement these obligations, will be maladministration.

Training
PSOW staff have over the years received equality and diversity training. We continue to provide
relevant training in this regard. This is important to us for two reasons. Firstly, so that in the service
we provide we can be responsive to the changing needs and requirements of people with whom we
communicate and interact. For example, in the past year, two members of staff commenced training
on how to communicate via British Sign Language. Secondly, so that we have the knowledge to be able
to identify during our investigations any failings by public service providers in respect of their equality
duties.

Outreach
We meet regularly with third sector organisations, holding formal seminars at least biennially, giving
talks and addresses at their conferences and we also have an ongoing proactive programme of meeting
with individual organisations. This year’s activity has been reported on at Section 7 of this Annual
Report. This enables two way discussions about the work of the office, so that we can obtain views
on the service we provide from their perspective and it enables us to explain how they can help those
individuals who require assistance in making a complaint to us to do so.
We have also developed a Memorandum of Understanding with the Older People’s, Children’s,
and Welsh Language Commissioners in relation to co-operation, joint working and the exchange of
information.

Equality Impact Assessments
As part of the work in developing the Strategic Equality Plan, we developed an equality impact
assessment toolkit. Equality Impact Assessments are now embedded in our practices when reviewing
existing, or developing new, policies and procedures.

Page 261

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 35

35

21/05/2014 17:18

Staff Equality Data Gathering/Monitoring
Our staff have been asked to complete and return a monitoring form seeking information in respect
of each of the protected characteristics. We also now gather such information during our recruitment
exercises. That disclosure is, of course, on a voluntary basis. The data held at 31 March 2014 is set out
below.
Age

Disability

Nationality
Ethnic group

Language
Religion or Belief

Marriage/
Civil Partnership
Sexual
Orientation

The composition of staff ages is as follows:
21 to 30: 17%
31 to 40: 29%
41 to 50: 31%
51 to 65: 23%
84% of staff said there were not disabled, no member of staff said that they were
a disabled person (16% preferred not to say)
However, when asked if their day-to-day activities were limited because of a
health problem or disability which had lasted, or was expected to last, at least 12
months, 2% said that they were limited a lot, 2% said they were limited a little,
81% said their day to day activities were not limited (16% preferred not to say)
In describing their nationality, 50% said they were Welsh; 26% said British, 10% said
they were English, 2% said ‘Other’ (12% preferred not to say)
The ethnicity of staff is:
79% White (Welsh, English, Scottish, Northern Irish, British);
2% White/Irish
3% Black (African, Caribbean, or Black British/Caribbean
2% Asian or Arian British/Bangladeshi
(14% preferred not to say)
When asked about the main language of their household, 76% of staff said this
was English; 10% said Welsh, and 2% said ‘Other’
Responses to the question asking staff about their religion were as follows:
No religion: 38%;
Christian 38%;
Muslim 2%;
Other:1%
(21% preferred not to say)
When asked if they were married or in a same sex civil partnership, 49% of staff
replied ‘Yes’; whilst 33% said ‘No’ (18% preferred not to say)
Responding on this, 77% said that they were Heterosexual or Straight, 2% said Gay
or Lesbian (21% preferred not to say)

36

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 36

Page 262

21/05/2014 17:18

Under the specific duties we are required to set an equality objective for gender and pay; if we do
not do so, we must explain why. The Strategic Equality Plan does not currently contain any specific
objective in this regard because at the time of its development females were very well represented
at the higher pay scales within my office. The position is kept under continual review and the equality
objectives will be revised if necessary. However, as can be seen from the table below, the position
currently remains satisfactory.

Pay and Gender – data as of 31/03/2014
Pay (FTE)
Up to £20,000
£20,001 to £30,000
£30,001 to £40,000
£40,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £60,000
£60,001 +
Subtotal
Total

Male
3
1
5
6
1
1
17

Female
14
2
11
10
2
2
41
58

In relation to the working patterns of the above, all staff work on a full time basis with permanent
contracts, with the exception of the following;
• eight members of staff work part time (seven female, one male).
• four members of staff are employed on a fixed term contract (two female, two male).

Recruitment
During the year we have had one member of staff leave. Six new employees were recruited, five of
these were to fill vacant posts, the other to appoint to the newly created investigation officer post
(previously discussed in this Annual Report). Due to the low numbers involved, the equality data
for the individuals concerned has been reported as part of the all staff information above; it is not
considered appropriate to report separate equality information relating to these individuals due to the
risk of identification.
Equality data gathered from the three recruitment exercises relating to the above new six employees
results in the following:

Page 263

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 37

37

21/05/2014 17:18

Number of applications
Age
Did not say
under 25
25-34
35-44
45-54
55-64
Gender
Did not say
Male
Female
Nationality
Did not say
Welsh
English
Scottish
Northern Irish
British
Irish
Welsh/German
Ethnic Group
Did not Say
White (Welsh/Scottish/
English/NI/British)
White (Irish)
White (Gypsy/Irish traveller)
White (Other)
Asian/Asian British
Black, African, Caribbean or
Black British
Mixed or multiple ethnic group
Other ethnic Group
Language
Did not say
English
Welsh
Bilingual (Welsh/English)
Other

38

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 38

COO/
DOI
74
4%
0%
3%
18%
59%
16%
3%
47%
50%
3%
50%
8%
3%
3%
31%
1%
1%
3%
91%

IO

Total

19
11%
0%
26%
32%
32%
11%
5%
42%
53%
5%
95%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
5%
95%

CAT CO/
CWSO
34
9%
32%
35%
15%
10%
0%
3%
47%
50%
3%
65%
12%
3%
0%
15%
3%
0%
9%
79%

5%
0%
1%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

3%
0%
0%
6%
3%

4%
0%
1%
2%
1%

0%
0%
5%
85%
5%
4%
0%

0%
0%
16%
16%
63%
5%
0%

0%
0%
3%
97%
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
6%
78%
13%
3%
0%

127
6%
9%
15%
19%
42%
11%
3%
46%
50%
3%
61%
8%
2%
2%
22%
2%
1%
5%
88%

Page 264

21/05/2014 17:18

Number of applications
Disability
Did not say
Yes
No
Limited
Did not say
Activities
Yes, limited a little
Yes, limited a lot
No
Religion
Did not say
None
Christian
Buddjist
Hindu
Jewish
Muslim
Sikh
Other
Married or civil Did not say
partnership
Yes
No
Sexuality
Did not say
Heterosexual
Gay or Lesbian
Bisexual
Other

COO/
DOI
74
4%
0%
96%
8%
0%
0%
92%
7%
28%
65%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
5%
70%
24%
7%
88%
5%
0%
0%

IO
19
5%
5%
89%
5%
0%
5%
89%
21%
32%
47%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
5%
26%
68%
16%
84%
0%
0%
0%

CAT CO/
CWSO
34
6%
0%
94%
6%
0%
0%
94%
15%
59%
25%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
9%
15%
76%
21%
74%
6%
0%
0%

Total
127
5%
1%
94%
7%
0%
1%
92%
11%
37%
52%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
6%
49%
45%
12%
83%
5%
0%
0%

Key to abbreviations:
• COO/DOI – Chief Operating Officer/Director of Investigation
• IO – Investigation Officer (it should be noted that fluency in the Welsh language was an essential
criterion for this post; this therefore has an impact on the language category data for this post)
• CAT CO/CWSO – Complaints Advice Team Casework Officer or Casework Support Officer.

Page 265

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 39

39

21/05/2014 17:18

Staff Training
The majority of staff training is based upon job roles or applicable for all staff to attend. All individual
staff requests for training over the past year were approved, and as such there are no equality data
differences between approved and non-approved training requests.

Disciplinary/Grievance
Due to the small numbers of staff working in the office, and the small number of instances of
disciplinary/grievance matters, it is not considered appropriate to report on equality data for this
category due to the risk of identification of staff involved. However, we are able to state that we are
satisfied that there are no identifiable issues of concern in this area.

Procurement
Our procurement policy now refers to the relevant equality requirements that we expect our suppliers
to have in place.

40

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 40

Page 266

21/05/2014 17:18

Annex A
Public Body Complaints
Public Interest Reports: Case Summaries

Page 267

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 41

41

21/05/2014 17:18

HEALTH
Cardiff and Vale UHB – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case reference 201204130 – Report issued February 2014
Mrs T complained about the treatment her husband, Mr T, received in hospital. She complained that
he received excess intravenous fluids and that this fluid overload caused subsequent health problems,
including multiple strokes, from which he sadly died in May 2011. Mrs T also complained that errors
were made in her husband’s medication when admitted to hospital, that the diagnosis of his stroke was
delayed and that had he received appropriate and timelier treatment, he may have survived.
The Ombudsman found that the instance of fluid overload was not clinically significant in terms of
the sad outcome. However, the Ombudsman upheld Mrs T’s complaint, finding that the Health Board
had failed to act in accordance with national guidelines for the treatment of stroke. The Ombudsman
concluded that errors were made with Mr T’s regular medication and that opportunities to diagnose Mr
T’s stroke and to implement treatment which may have increased his chances of survival were missed.
The Ombudsman recommended that the Health Board should:
1.

issue to Mrs T and her family a comprehensive apology for the failings identified in this report;

2. review its arrangements in respect of post-admission medication reconciliation and ensure that a
systematic medicine reconciliation programme is in place;
3.

ensure that staff training in respect of recognising acute stroke is up to date, with particular
reference to the 2012 Stroke Guidelines issued by the Royal College of Physicians;

4. ensure that use of the Rosier score system (or a similarly recognised tool), in order to identify
patients who are likely to have had an acute stroke, is implemented;
5.

with particular reference to the current Stroke Guidelines and NICE guidance, review its
arrangements for the identification and treatment of acute stroke and consider including the
following measures:
(a)	all patients who may have had an acute stroke (i.e. have been assessed as having a positive
Rosier score) should be immediately assessed by a physician trained in stroke medicine to
determine whether thrombolysis is suitable
(b) 	suitable patients should have immediate CT scanning and, in all cases, within one hour
(c) 	all patients who may have had an acute stroke should be admitted immediately to a specialist
acute stroke unit
(d) 	all patients who may have had an acute stroke should have a swallowing screening test, using a
validated tool, by a trained professional within four hours;

42

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 42

Page 268

21/05/2014 17:18

6. review the findings set out in its various complaint responses to Mrs T and to this office and take
action to ensure that its own complaints investigations are in accordance with the Putting Things
Right scheme, are sufficiently robust, demonstrably independent and, where appropriate, critical
of identifiably poor care, which should include the introduction of a quality assurance audit of a
sample of its completed complaint investigations;
7.

issue to Mrs T a cheque in the sum of £5000 in respect of the time and trouble to which she has
been put in pursuing this complaint and in recognition of the additional distress caused to her and
her family as a result of the uncertainty with which they now live over whether Mr T might have
survived the initial stroke.

Aneurin Bevan Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case reference 201204681 – Report issued December 2013
Mrs W complained about the care provided by Aneurin Bevan Health Board to her late husband (Mr W)
when he was a patient at Nevill Hall Hospital in September and October 2011. Mr W was 80 years old
when he died in hospital on 7 October 2011. Mrs W said that Mr W was deaf, but despite advising staff
of this, it was not noted on his records. Mrs W said she believed that her husband was not treated in
his best interests and that his care was compromised because staff did not consider his deafness. Mrs
W said that she and her husband were not told about a cancer diagnosis by the Hospital. She also said
that she was dissatisfied with the way that the Health Board communicated with her and her family
both during the time Mr W was a patient and when the Health Board was considering the complaint
she made about his care.
The investigation found that, as required by the Equality Act 2010, the Health Board failed to make
reasonable adjustments to accommodate Mr W’s deafness. The investigation also found that the
Health Board failed to:
• record a significant clinical discussion with Mr W about scan results
• complete and record appropriate assessments relating to the risk of falling and the use of bed rails
• consult Mr W and record his consent for the insertion of a catheter
• follow national and local guidance on effective discharge planning
• keep appropriate records related to the discharge process
• follow relevant guidance on record-keeping.
The Ombudsman upheld the complaint and the Health Board agreed to:
a) give Mrs W an unequivocal written apology for failures identified by this report and make a
payment of £500 to reflect the time and trouble taken in pursuing her complaint with the Health
Board and this office;

Page 269

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 43

43

21/05/2014 17:18

b) formally instruct the nursing and clinical staff involved in Mr W’s case that they must assess
patients properly on admission and ensure that all relevant records of such assessments (for
example, the Patient Care Record) are completed fully;
c) formally instruct the nursing and clinical staff involved in Mr W’s case to follow the relevant record
keeping guidance;
d) formally instruct the clinical staff involved in Mr W’s case to ensure that significant clinical
discussions with patients (such as the results of a scan) are recorded properly;
e) formally instruct the nursing staff involved in Mr W’s case to ensure that all appropriate risk
assessments are completed and properly recorded;
f)

formally instruct the nursing and clinical staff involved in Mr W’s case to follow the relevant
discharge planning guidance;

g) share this report with all staff involved in Mr W’s care so that the lessons that should be learned
from the report can be understood;
h) ensure that this report is discussed at a meeting of each Directorate that cared for Mr W so that
the lessons of the report are disseminated;
i)

ensure that this report is discussed at a meeting of the working group responsible for the Health
Board’s “Dignified Care?” action plan.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case reference 201202432 – Report issued October 2013
Ms D complained that midwives at the University Hospital of Wales (UHW) wrongly informed her that
her pregnancy dating scan revealed that she had suffered a ‘silent’ miscarriage. This error was detected
only because Ms D elected to undergo uterine evacuation at a different hospital. There, a more
thorough type of scan (a trans-vaginal [tv] scan) was performed which detected a healthy, viable foetus.
The Ombudsman upheld Ms D’s complaint and found that the Health Board had failed to implement
guidelines issued by the Royal College of Obstetricians & Gynaecologists (RCOG) that were designed
to prevent the misdiagnosis of early pregnancy loss. These guidelines require midwives to conduct a TV
scan in all such cases. The Ombudsman also found that the initial dating scan had been incompetently
conducted and that midwives failed to take account of Ms D’s relevant medical history. The
Ombudsman recommended that:
a) the Health Board provides Ms D with a written apology and, in recognition of the inconvenience
and expense incurred in obtaining alternative antenatal care, makes a payment to Ms D in the sum
of £1,500;

44

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 44

Page 270

21/05/2014 17:18

b) further to the Health Board agreeing to take immediate steps to implement RCOG guidance in
respect of the diagnosis of early pregnancy loss and to promptly notify all relevant clinicians within
the Directorate that it has done so, it provides documentary evidence of how this process was
accomplished;
c) the Health Board provides evidence that it has reviewed / assessed the competence of its midwife
sonographers in respect of the diagnosis of silent miscarriage;
d) the Health Board shares with the Ombudsman the outcome of its complaint investigation review
of this case (its Root Cause Analysis).

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case reference 201201954 – Report issued October 2013
This complaint is about the shortcomings in the care and treatment provided to Mr X at Glan Clwyd
Hospital. In November 2000 Mr X had his first episode of bleeding from enlarged blood vessels in the
gullet. This is a life-threatening complication of cirrhosis, a condition in which healthy liver tissue is
gradually replaced with non-functioning scar tissue. The vessels were tied to prevent further bleeding.
Several tests were carried out over the next few months. They showed clearly that Mr X had cirrhosis.
Despite this, he was not informed of the diagnosis. Nor was he given necessary lifestyle advice. In
September 2001 the hospital apparently made him an outpatient follow-up appointment, but Mr X
was not told about this. This meant that Mr X was without any medical supervision for several years,
with no information about his condition. As it happens, that probably made little difference to how his
condition developed.
Mr X had further bleeding in August 2008. Again this was treated successfully, although for a while he
was very unwell. This time Mr X received medication and some, but not all, of the necessary lifestyle
advice. The Health Board also began investigating the cause of Mr X’s cirrhosis, but stopped before
finding it. Not until he requested, and received, a second opinion was Mr X told that he had been born
with cirrhosis.
In 2010 Mr X returned to hospital several times in quick succession. He looked very unwell. Blood
tests showed that his liver was failing. Despite this, the hospital sent him away, only finally admitting
him three days after his appearance. By then Mr X was in liver failure and had a serious infection. Mr X
rapidly deteriorated and he sadly died, aged 30, seven weeks later.
Had he been treated three days earlier, Mr X should have recovered from the infection and had a
chance of receiving a liver transplant. This opportunity to survive and flourish was denied to him.
The Ombudsman upheld the complaints that were made. The Health Board subsequently agreed to
the Ombudsman’s recommendations that it write to the family to acknowledge the failings and provide
financial redress to Mr X’s family; £5,000 in respect of the failings identified in Mr X’s care and treatment

Page 271

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 45

45

21/05/2014 17:18

plus a further £500 for the poor complaint handling. The Health Board also agreed to review the care
pathway and its appointments system. The Consultant in charge of Mr X’s care also agreed to consider
the issues raised in the investigation and learn from these.

Hywel Dda Health Board – Clinical treatment outside hospital
Case reference 201202535 – Report issued August 2013
Mr R complained about the treatment of his late wife (Mrs R) by a GP she saw as part of the Out of
Hours GP service (under the governance of the Health Board). After telephoning the service Mrs R was
directed to see the GP at the designated Out of Hours centre (based at a major hospital). She suffered
from lymphoedema to her left arm following cancer treatment and complained about feeling unwell
with a developing blister rash on her left arm. The GP diagnosed shingles, giving her a prescription of
a common antiviral drug. The following morning Mrs R collapsed at home and was admitted to A&E
at the same hospital; she died later that day from complete organ failure as a result of sepsis. Mr R
complained that the GP had failed to examine his wife properly, or to diagnose her correctly. He also
complained about how the Health Board had handled his complaint.
The investigation found that there was no record of the GP performing a number of basic
assessments including temperature, pulse, and blood pressure. The Ombudsman’s clinical advisers also
found that the GP had failed to have proper regard to Mrs R’s pre existing lymphoedema.
Whilst Mrs R’s presentation might have suggested shingles, the GP ought to have also ruled out the
blisters as a symptom of sepsis given it was well known that lymphoedema had a propensity to
develop infection, which could lead to sepsis. An evident failure to consider this was unreasonable.
Had it been considered, Mrs R could have been given antibiotics, or admitted to hospital that day – the
GP ought to have adopted a risk-averse approach. This might have affected the outcome given that
prompt intervention in suspected sepsis is critical to survival prospects.
The Ombudsman also found maladministration in the Health Board’s complaint handling: ranging from
delays, fundamental errors in letters and no acknowledgement or response to a relevant third party. In
recognition of the seriousness of the issues, the following recommendations were made, all of which
the Health Board accepted:
• written apologies to Mr R and to a relevant third party;
• redress of £4,000 to Mr R for the failures identified in the care of Mrs R and £500 for the complaint
handling failures;
• the Lead Clinical Director should undertake a sample review of the GP’s Out of Hours clinical
consultation records (minimum 6 sessions) and that all GPs delivering Out of Hours services should
be reminded of the importance of performing full assessments/ examinations of patients and of
recording those; and that

46

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 46

Page 272

21/05/2014 17:18

• the Health Board should ensure it had robust measures in place to secure timely and good quality
responses to complaints.

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case reference 201200939 – Report issued July 2013
Mrs D complained about the care and treatment her mother, the late Mrs M, received when she was
admitted to the Accident and Emergency Department at the Princess of Wales Hospital on July 2010.
Mrs D said that the triage nurse had not administered the treatment that her mother’s condition
required. There were also concerns about her subsequent treatment and in particular how discussions
about the requirement to resuscitate, should that prove necessary, were managed. Mrs D held the view
that her mother was initially being allowed to die without appropriate medical intervention and that
the lack of intervention had led to her death some days later.
The Ombudsman’s clinical advisers were highly critical of the failure of staff to deal with Mrs M’s
condition on arrival appropriately. They could not find any evidence of appropriate intervention as
required by procedures such as nursing staff calling a doctor. There were also delays in cannulating Mrs
M and in administering medication appropriate to her health needs. They could not however point to
evidence that the failures in early intervention had contributed to Mrs M’s death.
The Ombudsman recommended that the Board should apologise to the family for the failings in
the report, make a payment of £1,000 and review its procedures and the professional competence
and training of the nursing staff involved in the admission of Mrs M. The Board accepted the
recommendations.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case reference 201201275 – Report issued July 2013
Mr and Mrs Q complained about the care and treatment Mr Q had received as a patient at Glan Clwyd
Hospital and Wrexham Maelor Hospital.
Having reviewed the evidence, the Ombudsman found that during Mr Q’s admission to Glan Clwyd
Hospital on 17 and 18 May 2011 the “In-Patient Medication Administration Record” had not been
appropriately completed. As a result, it was unclear whether Mr Q had received any of his Parkinson’s
disease medication.
With respect to Mr Q’s discharge from Wrexham Maelor Hospital on 22 May 2011, the Ombudsman
found that the medical records for this period failed to fully reflect Mr Q’s anxious and difficult
behaviour, the actions taken by staff to reassure him, any medical reviews undertaken by doctors or
need to call a security officer. As a result Mr Q was discharged from hospital without assessment,
placing Mr and Mrs Q in a vulnerable position.

Page 273

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 47

47

21/05/2014 17:18

The Ombudsman recommended that the UHB apologise to Mr and Mrs Q for the failings identified in
the report and pay them £750 in recognition of the service failure and the time and trouble in bringing
their complaint to this office. The Ombudsman also recommended that the UHB:
• review Mr Q’s “In-patients Medication Administration Record” for the period 17-18 May 2011,
and where appropriate instigate the UHB’s “Medicines Management Assessment Workbook and
Competencies” document, in accordance with the UHB’s procedure;
• review Mr Q’s medical records for the period 19-22 May 2011 and where appropriate take action in
accordance with the UHB’s procedures;
• remind the relevant staff that in the event that a security officer is called an “Incident Recording
Form” should be completed;
• bring the updated discharge protocol to the attention of the relevant staff and introduce discharge
drop in sessions at the Second Hospital;
• produce a training plan ensuring that within 12 months all relevant staff at the Hospital receives
training on record keeping.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board – Continuing care
Case reference 201101810 – Report issued April 2013
Solicitors complained on Mrs S’s behalf that the Cardiff and Vale University Health Board had failed to
administer matters in relation to her mother Mrs W’s claim for continuing health care correctly.
Mrs W had been in a nursing home since 2002 and was receiving funding for the nursing element of her
costs. Her home had been sold to pay for the remaining element of her care home fees. The Solicitors
submitted evidence which they said showed that there had been delay and error in dealing with Mrs
W’s assessments for continuing health care and that the Independent Review Panel had also not dealt
with matters properly. They alleged that this situation had led to injustice to Mrs W through delay and
financial loss.
The Ombudsman found that there had been significant maladministration in two assessments carried
out by the Board and that there were failings on the part of the Independent Review Panel, although
the second assessment had in fact found Mrs W to be eligible for continuing health care.
The Ombudsman recommended that his report should be brought to the attention of the
Independent Review Panel, to consider what further training it needed and that a retrospective
assessment of Mrs W’s needs should be carried out under the supervision of an independent person
nominated by the Welsh Government. He also recommended that the Board should revise its
procedures and conduct a retrospective review of all cases that had been handled in the same way as
Mrs W’s in terms of the start date for funding. Mrs S was to receive a payment of £750 and an apology
for the failings.

48

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 48

Page 274

21/05/2014 17:18

The Ombudsman highlighted to the Welsh Government that there was a lack of appropriate guidance
on these matters and it was agreed that such guidance would be introduced. The Ombudsman decided
that the case raised matters of public interest.

HOUSING
Tai Ceredigion Cyf – Applications. allocations. transfer and exchanges
Case reference 201204677 – Report issued December 2013
Mrs C (through her Advocate) complained about the management of her social housing application and
that the Association had overlooked her for properties when she had been top of the list on points.
She was at the time in temporary accommodation having been accepted as unintentionally homeless
and owed a duty by the local Council. The Council had previously transferred all its housing stock to
the Association. Mrs C had held a tenancy with the Association before but there was a dispute as to
the circumstances of its termination and sums owed. Mrs C also complained about how her formal
complaint to the Association had been dealt with.
The Ombudsman’s investigation found that Mrs C had been top of the list for three available lettings
but had been overlooked for each one because of the previous tenancy. Whilst the Association could
have overlooked Mrs C, the written agreement and process as entered into with other social landlords
and the Council, when it took over the housing stock, required that it notify the Council promptly if
it were to overlook a top applicant giving its reasons. It did not do so and effectively treated Mrs C
as if she was suspended from consideration. Neither had Mrs C been informed so she was denied any
opportunity of challenging the decisions and potentially missed out on three allocations. It transpired
that all social landlords who were signatories to the agreement also did not in practice follow this
process. All were currently reviewing the procedural documentation. Mrs C was subsequently offered,
and accepted, a tenancy from another social landlord. The Ombudsman found that the failure to
follow due process was maladministration. There was also a failure to have regard to good practice
guidance issued by the Welsh Government including in relation to complaints handling. Mrs C’s
complaint had not been recognised or considered as a complaint quickly enough. This had resulted in a
lost opportunity to Mrs C and so injustice to her in remaining in temporary accommodation for longer.
The Ombudsman recommended that the Association should:
(a) apologise to Mrs C;
(b) offer her redress of £1,000;
(c) provide a copy of the new allocations process and any agreement when finalised, and confirm that
appropriate staff will be trained in its application;
(d) review its Complaints Policy with a view to adopting the Model Complaints Policy.

Page 275

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 49

49

21/05/2014 17:18

Annex B
Public Body Complaints
Statistical Breakdown of Outcomes
by Public Body Complaints Investigated

50

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 50

Page 276

21/05/2014 17:18

Page 277

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 51

51

21/05/2014 17:18

Blaenau Gwent
Bridgend
Caerphilly
Cardiff
Carmarthenshire
Ceredigion
Conwy
Denbighshire
Flintshire
Gwynedd
Isle of Anglesey
Merthyr Tydfil
Monmouthshire
Neath Port Talbot
Newport
Pembrokeshire
Powys
Rhondda Cynon Taf
The City and County of Swansea
The Vale of Glamorgan Council
Torfaen
Wrexham
TOTAL

County/County Borough
Council

Out of
Premature ‘Other’
Discontinued Quick Fix/
Jurisdiction
cases closed
Voluntary
after initial
Settlement
consideration
4
2
3
3
3
18
13
2
9
14
10
1
20
28
38
11
9
25
19
3
7
11
15
4
8
15
7
2
5
14
15
1
9
12
9
1
4
5
21
5
4
5
4
17
4
7
8
1
1
2
4
3
11
22
10
1
3
6
11
1
2
5
7
19
1
2
8
17
21
2
10
20
17
7
5
24
26
5
3
7
10
2
12
6
9
3
20
13
6
149
302
299
3
66

COUNTY/COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCILS
S16 Report
- Upheld
- in whole
or in part

27

3
3
1
2

1

2

1
3
1
1

1
1
3
3

Other Report
Upheld - in
whole or in
part
1

Other Withdrawn Total Cases
Report
Closed
- Not
Upheld
14
1
37
1
35
100
2
63
2
2
41
1
33
1
37
1
39
1
37
1
30
1
2
21
1
14
1
1
46
2
23
35
51
3
59
1
1
64
1
23
29
44
2
875
10
19

52

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 52

Page 278

21/05/2014 17:18

Brecon Beacons
Pembrokeshire Coast
Snowdonia
Total

National Park Authorities

Fire and Rescue Service
Mid and West Wales Fire Service
Total

Other Local Authority

2
1
3

3

1
1

2
1

1
1

Out of
Premature ‘Other’
Jurisdiction
cases closed
after initial
consideration

OTHER LOCAL AUTHORITY

1
7

6
1
2

1

Discontinued Quick Fix/ S16 Report
Voluntary – Upheld
Settlement – in whole
or in part

1

1

Other Report
Upheld –
in whole or
in part
1
1

1
1

12
2
2
16

4
4

Other Withdrawn Total Cases
Report
Closed
– Not
Upheld

Page 279

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 53

53

21/05/2014 17:18

Schools Admissions/
Exclusion Appeal Panels
Admission Appeals Panel –
Rhiwsyrdafydd Primary School
Admissions Appeal Panel –
Cardiff High School
Admissions Appeal Panel –
Bedwas Infants School
Admissions Appeal Panel –
Castell Alun High School
Admissions Appeal Panel –
Cwrt Rawlin Primary School
Admissions Appeal Panel –
Hendredenny Park Primary School
Admissions Appeals Panel –
Y Pant School
Admissions Appeals Panel –
Marlborough Primary School
Total

Other Local Authority

Out of
Jurisdiction

Premature

OTHER LOCAL AUTHORITY (CONTINUED)
‘Other’
cases closed
after initial
consideration

1

1

1
10

1
7

3

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

3

1

Other Withdrawn Total Cases
Report
Closed
– Not
Upheld
1

Other Report
Upheld –
in whole or
in part

1
2

Discontinued Quick Fix/ S16 Report
Voluntary – Upheld –
Settlement in whole or
in part

54

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 54

Page 280

21/05/2014 17:18

2

Aberystwyth Town
Amlwch Town
Caldicot Town
Gresford Community
Holyhead Town
Kidwelly Town
Llangelynnin Community
Llannon Community
Llantrisant Community
Mumbles Community
Pembrey & Burry Port Town
Pontypridd Town
Prestatyn Town
Quarter Bach Community
Rogiet Community
St Arvans Community
Sully Community
Total
6

1
1

1

1

Out of
Premature
Jurisdiction

Community/Town Council

COMMUNITY/TOWN COUNCILS

1
3

1
1

‘Other’
cases closed
after initial
consideration

1
1
8

1

1

1

1
1

1

3

2

1

Discontinued Quick Fix/ S16 Report
Voluntary – Upheld
Settlement – in whole
or in part

Other Withdrawn Total Cases
Report
Closed
– Not
Upheld
2
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
1
1
1
1
1
3
1
2
2
1
2
3
23

Other Report
Upheld –
in whole or
in part

Page 281

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 55

55

21/05/2014 17:18

Baneswell Housing Association Ltd
Bro Myrddin Housing Association
Ltd
Bron Afon Community Housing Ltd
Cadwyn Housing Association Ltd
Cardiff Community Housing
Association Ltd
Cartrefi Conwy
Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd
Charter Housing Association
Clwyd Alyn Housing Association Ltd
Coastal Housing Group Ltd
Cymdeithas Tai Cantref
Cymdeithas Tai Clwyd Cyf
Cymdeithas Tai Eryri
Cynon Taf Community Housing
Family Housing Association
(Wales) Ltd
Gr ŵp Gwalia Cyf Ltd
Gwalia Rest Bay (Co-ownership
Equity Sharing) Housing
Association Ltd
Hafod Housing Association
Linc-Cymru Housing Association
Melin Homes Ltd

Registered Social Landlord
(Housing Association)

Out of
Jurisdiction

3

1
1

1

5
5
1
2
4
1
1
1
1
2

1
2

4
1

1

1
1

5
2

1
7

2
1
1

4
2

1

‘Other’
cases closed
after initial
consideration

2

1

1

2

1

Premature

REGISTERED SOCIAL LANDLORDS

1

3

2

6
1

1

Discontinued Quick Fix/ S16 Report –
Voluntary Upheld – in
Settlement whole or in
part

1

1

Other
Other
Withdrawn Total Cases
Report
Report –
Closed
Upheld –
Not Upheld
in whole or
in part

3
3
1

11
1

7
20
2
8
8
2
2
2
1
3

6
2
3

1
3

56

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 56

Page 282

21/05/2014 17:18

Merthyr Tydfil Housing
Association Ltd
Merthyr Valleys Homes
Mid Wales Housing Association Ltd
Monmouthshire Housing
Association
Newport City Homes
Newydd Housing Association
North Wales Housing
NPT Homes
Pembrokeshire Care & Repair
Pembrokeshire Housing
Association Ltd
Pennaf Ltd
RCT Homes
Rhondda Housing Association Ltd
Seren Group
Taff Housing Association
Tai Calon
Tai Ceredigion Cyf
United Welsh Housing Association
Valleys To Coast
Wales and West Housing
Association
Total

Registered Social Landlord
(Housing Association)

Out of
Jurisdiction

12

1

1

1

2

1

55

1
2

1
1

1
1
3
1
1
3

3

3
1

1
2
3

1

2

‘Other’
cases closed
after initial
consideration

1
2
2

2
1
4
6

3
2
2

68

Premature

REGISTERED SOCIAL LANDLORDS (CONTINUED)

27

1
4
2
1
1

2

2

Discontinued Quick Fix/ S16 Report –
Voluntary Upheld –
Settlement in whole or
in part

1

1

1

2

1

Other
Other
Withdrawn Total Cases
Report
Report –
Closed
Upheld –
Not Upheld
in whole or
in part

166

1
4
2
1
1
5
8
3
5
4

7
2
4
11
1
2

5
4
6

1

Page 283

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 57

57

21/05/2014 17:18

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg
Aneurin Bevan
Betsi Cadwaladr
Cardiff and Vale
Cwm Taf
Hywel Dda
Powys Teaching
Public Health Wales
Velindre
Welsh Ambulance Services
Total

LHB/Trust

5
4
2
2
3
9
1
1
1
28

Out of
Jurisdiction

22
17
30
27
17
29
4
1
6
153

Premature

25
27
27
21
9
17
13
1
2
6
148

‘Other’
cases closed
after initial
consideration

LOCAL HEALTH BOARDS AND NHS TRUSTS

8

1
1
3

3

2
94

20
7
12
18
9
21
5

Discontinued Quick Fix/ S16 Report –
Voluntary Upheld –
Settlement in whole or
in part

8

1

1
1
2
3

Other
Other
Withdrawn Total Cases
Report
Report –
Closed
Upheld –
Not Upheld
in whole or
in part
105
24
5
3
89
19
6
5
98
19
4
2
98
20
6
1
56
14
1
2
101
17
3
3
28
1
1
2
5
1
1
18
1
2
116
27
18
600

58

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 58

Page 284

21/05/2014 17:18

Board of Community
Health Councils
Dentist
GP
Opticians
Pharmacist
Independent Health Provider –
Spire Cardiff Hospital
Total

Health Body

Out of
Jurisdiction

OTHER HEALTH BODIES

7

2
5

Premature

38

4
34

1

37

1

2
33

‘Other’
cases closed
after initial
consideration

6

1
5

16

3
12
1

Discontinued Quick Fix/ S16 Report –
Voluntary Upheld –
Settlement in whole or
in part

24

1

4
19

22

1

3
16
2

2

2

Other
Other
Withdrawn Total Cases
Report
Report –
Closed
Upheld –
Not Upheld
in whole or
in part

152

19
126
3
2
1

1

Page 285

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 59

59

21/05/2014 17:18

Welsh Government
Sponsored Bodies
Cadw
Care Council for Wales
Environment Agency
Natural Resources Wales
Welsh Language Commissioner
Total
OVERALL TOTAL WELSH
GOVERNMENT AND ITS
SPONSORED BODIES

Welsh Government
CAFCASS Cymru
CSSIW
Healthcare Inspectorate Wales
Independent Complaints
Secretariat
Planning Inspectorate
Valuation Tribunal for Wales
West Wales Region
Visit Wales
Welsh Government
Total

Welsh Government and
Welsh Government
Sponsored Bodies

Out of
Jurisdiction

3
1
5
34

7
16

4
12

1

17
29

3
1

3

3
2

1
6

1
6
9

1

1

‘Other’
cases closed
after initial
consideration

1
1
2

2
8

3
3

Premature

1

1
1

3

1

1

1
2

1

Discontinued Quick Fix/ S16 Report –
Voluntary Upheld –
Settlement in whole or
in part

WELSH GOVERNMENT AND WELSH GOVERNMENT SPONSORED BODIES

2

2

1
1

2

2

2

4

1
4

2
1

Other
Other
Withdrawn Total Cases
Report
Report –
Closed
Upheld –
Not Upheld
in whole or
in part

74

1
1
2
12
1
17

1
28
57

5
1

9
9
1
3

60

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 60

Page 286

21/05/2014 17:18

ESTYN
Body out of jurisdiction
Total

Other

OTHER

Out of
Jurisdiction

3
1
4

Premature

‘Other’
cases closed
after initial
consideration

1

1

Discontinued Quick Fix/ S16 Report –
Voluntary Upheld –
Settlement in whole or
in part

Other
Other
Withdrawn Total Cases
Report
Report –
Closed
Upheld –
Not Upheld
in whole or
in part
5
1
1
1
6

Annex C
Code of Conduct Complaints:
Statistical Breakdown of Outcomes by Local Authority

Page 287

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 61

61

21/05/2014 17:18

62

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 62

Page 288

21/05/2014 17:18

Blaenau Gwent
Bridgend
Caerphilly
Cardiff
Carmarthenshire
Ceredigion
Conwy
Denbighshire
Flintshire
Gwynedd
Isle of Anglesey
Monmouthshire
Newport
Pembrokeshire
Powys
Rhondda Cynon Taf
Swansea
The Vale of Glamorgan
Torfaen
Wrexham
Total
6

2

5
1
83

2

2

Discontinued

2
4
4
5
1
2
1
2
2
4
1
1
8
3
1
14
22

County/County Borough Councils Closed
after initial
consideration

COUNTY/COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCILS

9

5

2

1

1

No evidence of No action
breach
necessary

6

1

1

1

1

2

Refer to
Standards
Committee

1

1

Refer to
Adjudication
Panel

Withdrawn

9

1

1

2

1
1
3

Total Cases
Closed
3
4
7
7
4
2
1
4
4
4
2
3
8
5
3
15
30
1
6
1
114

Page 289

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 63

63

21/05/2014 17:18

Aberffraw Community
Ammanford Town
Bangor City
Bargoed Town
Blaengwrach Community
Blaenrheidol Community
Bridgend Town
Brymbo Community
Caldicot Town
Cefn Community
Coity Higher
Colwinston Community
Connah's Quay Town
Cowbridge with Llanblethian Town
Cwmbran Community
Forden Community
Glynneath Town
Goldcliff Community
Gorseinon Town

Community/ Town Councils

Closed
after initial
consideration

COMMUNITY/ TOWN COUNCILS

1
1

1
3
1

1

1
1
1
1

1
1
1
1

Discontinued

1

1

1

No evidence of No action
breach
necessary

2

1

Refer to
Standards
Committee

1

2

Refer to
Adjudication
Panel

Withdrawn

Total Cases
Closed
1
1
1
1
2
1
1
1
1
3
1
2
1
3
1
1
1
1
1

64

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 64

Page 290

21/05/2014 17:18

Gresford Community
Hay-on Wye Town
Hirwaun & Penderyn Community
Holyhead Town
Kidwelly Town
Killay Community
Knighton Town
Laleston Community
Langstone Community
Llanbadrig Community
Llandrindod Wells Town
Llandudno Town
Llanelli Rural
Llanfaelog Community
Llanfynydd Community
[Carmarthenshire]
Llangennith, Llanmadoc & Cheriton
Community
Llangwm Community
[Pembrokeshire]

Community/ Town Councils

Closed
after initial
consideration

Refer to
Adjudication
Panel

1

Withdrawn

2

Total Cases
Closed
2
1
2
1
1
1
2
1
2
1
4
3
2
5
3

1

5

1

Refer to
Standards
Committee

1

No action
necessary

2

No evidence of
breach

2

3

2
1
2
1
1
1
2
1
2
1
2
3

Discontinued

COMMUNITY/ TOWN COUNCILS (CONTINUED)

Page 291

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 65

65

21/05/2014 17:18

Llantrisant Community
Llanwrtyd Wells Town
Mathry Community
Montgomery Town
Mumbles Community
Nelson Community
Old Radnor Community
Old St. Mellons Community Council
Pembrey & Burry Port Town
Penmaenmawr Town
Pennard Community
Porthcawl Town
Prestatyn Town
Rogiet Community
St Florence Community
Sully Community
Talgarth Town
Trellech United Community
Total

Community/ Town Councils

1
1
1
1
26
2
1
1
1
1
2
1
8
1
2
1
1
93

Closed
after initial
consideration

Discontinued

2

COMMUNITY/ TOWN COUNCILS (CONTINUED)
No evidence of
breach

1

No action
necessary

11

1

1

Refer to
Standards
Committee

4

1

Refer to
Adjudication
Panel

1

Withdrawn

3

1

Total Cases
Closed
1
1
1
1
26
2
1
1
1
2
2
1
9
2
2
1
1
1
115

Annex D
Extract From Strategic Plan 2012/13 to 2014/15
Vision, Values, Purposes and Strategic Aims

66

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 66

Page 292

21/05/2014 17:18

Our Vision
To put things right for users of public services and to drive improvement in those services and in
standards in public life using the learning from the complaints we consider.

Our Values
Accessibility – we will be open to everyone and work to ensure that people who face challenges in
access are not excluded. We will be considerate, courteous, respectful and approachable, and do our
best communicate with complainants in the way they tell us they prefer.
Fairness – we will safeguard our independence and reach decisions objectively having carefully
considered the evidence
Learning – we will improve through learning from our own experiences and encourage all public
service providers to learn from their own experiences and those of others.
Effectiveness – we will make sure that we work in ways that make the best use of the public money
we receive.
Being a good employer – we are committed to providing a positive environment in which to work and
to continue to develop and support our staff, to ensure that we continue to remain professional and
authoritative in all that we do.

Our Purposes
• To consider complaints about public bodies.
• To put things right. When we can, we will try to put people back in the position they would have
been in if they had not suffered an injustice, and work to secure the best possible outcome where
injustice has occurred.
• To recognise and share good practice so that public bodies can learn the lessons from our
investigations and put right any systemic weaknesses identified, leading to continued improvement in
the standards of public services in Wales.
• To help people send their complaint to the right public service provider or complaint handler.
• To consider complaints that members of local authorities have broken the code of conduct.
• To build confidence in local government in Wales by promoting high standards in public life.

Page 293

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 67

67

21/05/2014 17:18

Strategic Aims
Strategic Aim 1: To offer a service where excellent customer care is at the forefront of all we do,
where we work to raise awareness of our service and do our best to make it is accessible to all and
easy to use.
Strategic Aim 2: To deliver a high quality complaints handling service, which considers and determines
complaints thoroughly but proportionately, and conveys decisions clearly.
Strategic Aim 3: To use the knowledge gained from our investigations to contribute to improved public
service delivery and to inform public policy.
Strategic Aim 4: To continue to analyse and improve the efficiency and effectiveness of our
governance, business processes and support functions, to further demonstrate transparency and ensure
the best use of the public money entrusted to us.

68

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 68

Page 294

21/05/2014 17:18

Page 295

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 69

69

21/05/2014 17:18

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae
Pencoed
CF35 5LJ
Tel:
01656 641150
Fax:
01656 641199
E-mail: ask@ombudsman-wales.org.uk
Follow us on Twitter: @OmbudsmanWales
This document is printed on 100% recycled paper. It is available
for downloading from the website: www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk

70

21336 Ombudsman Annual Report 2013-14 ENG - V6.indd 70

Page 296

21/05/2014 17:18

